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Corporate Information
LAFEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zheng Wei (resigned on 1 September 2022)
Mr. Cheng Siu Fai

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zining (chairman) (resigned on 16 February 2023)
Mr. Zhu Yunfan (appointed on 16 February 2023)
Mr. Ruan Yongxi

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement

Dr. Li Zijun

Mr. Wang Shao

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement (chairman)
Dr. Li Zijun

Mr. Wang Shao

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zining (resigned on 16 February 2023)

Mr. Cheng Siu Fai (appointed on 16 February 2023)
Dr. Li Zijun

Mr. Wang Shao

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Guo Zining (chairman) (resigned on 16 February 2023)
Mr. Cheng Siu Fai (chairman) (appointed on 16 February 2023)

Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement
Dr. Li Zijun
Mr. Wang Shao

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chak Wai Ting

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Guo Zining (resigned on 16 February 2023)
Mr. Cheng Siu Fai (appointed on 16 February 2023)
Ms. Chak Wai Ting

AUDITOR

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Audlitor
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COMPANY WEBSITE

http://Awww.aoyuanjksh.com/

STOCK CODE
3662.HK

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Ping An Bank Company Limited

China Construction Bank

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited
China Merchants Bank

China Everbright Bank Company Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman
KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN PRC

Aoyuan Tower

No. 48 Wanhui Yi Road
Panyu District, Guangzhou
Guangdong Province

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Units 1901-02, 19th Floor
One Peking, No. 1 Peking Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong
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Financial Highlights

MBRE

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS XEBE
Revenue WA

Gross profit EH

Net profit/(loss) ERE CFER)
Earnings/(Loss) per share (RMB cents) BRAEF, (BER) (AR¥ES)
~ Basic —ER

~ Diluted -85

Revenue It A Gross Profit £F|

RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT ARETT
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B —F ot St - 3 B —F —E-CHF
04  Aoyuan Hedlthy Life Group Company Limited RERELZEEERAT

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HBLFE

2022 2021
—ZE__ —E—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
1,629,751 1,941,747
397,215 469,575
163,164 (197,286)
22.09 (26.29)
22.09 (26.29)
Net Profit/(Loss)
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Financial Highlights
MBIHE

BREAKDOWN OF TOTAL REVENUE BY BEESBE SR S08H
BUSINESS SEGMENTS

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=1+—BLEFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

Property management services segment ¥ ¥ & R 2 2B

Property management services S ESCRLENE 1,099,208 1,090,086
Major owner value-added services REFIBERS 80,692 182,688
Community value-added services | 12 (B AR 75 186,314 310,029
Other HAth 78,225 77,409

1,444,439 1,660,212

Commercial operational services segment BEEZERKE 5

Commercial operation and management REEENERBIRT
services 172,956 232,421
Market positioning and business tenant 3% ELL & P RE RS
sourcing services 12,356 49,114
Total &&F 185,312 281,535
SUMMARY OF BALANCE SHEET HEARTHE
At 31 December
BR+=-—A=+—H
2022 2021
—E_C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBTIT

Total assets BERRE 2,221,026 2,293,246
Total liabilities BEE5E 1,228,668 1,497,153
Total equity s saEE 992,358 796,093
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Year in Review
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1. On 1 January, Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited

("Aoyuan Healthy” or the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”, “we”, “our” or "us”)
officially participated in the property service project of China
Southern Airlines Hunan Branch. This was the first time
that the Group entered the public infrastructure service
projects of airport and aviation, which cover office buildings,
educational buildings and apartments.

—A—H RERREEEEERAR ([REREIR[X
DR ERAMBRARSAEIAEE K [&RM) EXNE
HEMAESRRMERBEE  btEAEEEXEA
MWSMZEREARERERBIER BREERBEERTE
WM HER NEF

"

O

MAR = H

. On the 59th “Learn from Lei Feng Day” in March, the

Group's property communities jointly launched a “Lei
Feng Month” activity for a term of one month to promote
the spirit of Lei Feng, providing property owners of the
communities with convenient services, free medical services,
and paying visits to elderly singletons on over 100 occasions.
ZRAMRESEIEERLSB] - BT ALEERE
AEBBETNYELREBSHRAMVEANIEERAEE -
RUBEFRBEERERSE =258 KREBEZAS
BERR -

o (1)
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Year in Review
FEAXEMOE

O
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2. On 8 March, shopping malls under the management of the

Group nationwide sent warm greetings to female property
owners, consumers and merchants, and cooperated with
the relevant local government departments, volunteer
associations and other organisations to hold splendid
activities to help realising brand appreciation and growth of
customer traffic and sales.
ZANR AEBEEZEBYFRLORABEALEEE -
HEE BPIEEXERERE  WHEBEMBGAE
A SREMSSFEBEMBL TS N ERmE
BERTRHEEER -

3. From 30 March to 6 April, Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza* (¥k /& B
[E &%), under the management of the Group, jointly held
the “Star Children’s Art Exhibition” with Zhuhai Women's
& Children's Hospital* (/& ™ 17 40 R 27 ) and Zhuhai
Disabled Persons’ Federation, caring for autistic children.
ZA=+THEMAARB AEEEERSREESKE
KETERPRERIKETEBEAR T AENBERE
mE) - [EEREEMERR]
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Year in Review
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o

O

APR M B

1. In April, properties under the management of the Group held the

small but warm activities, “Find More Beauty (1% & = #f)", to
provide “home delivery (BBRZIZK)" special services for a total of
70 communities, helping property owners to purchase goods and
materials, receive and send packages, clean up rubbish, irrigate
flowers and feed pets, etc. 32 projects initiated the “Online Class
Aid Action” to provide property owners with services such as
printing, network debugging and stationery purchase, so as to
provide assistance and support to property owners effectively.

MA  AEEEEMEREIMIREGT]/)MEES  RFET0
ErtEFAREERDIR | BIARY - EHETRBEYE WEERE

O

08

BIELR  EBEEENRERYS  NEARARRIERYE
T8 REFRHBAZERUTH  @HFR AR

DEREIHERYE -

/MAY HA

1. During the May Day holiday, shopping malls under the

management of the Group across the country launched a special
activity, “Planting and Healing (#& &2)" research institute, to
comfort the hearts of every working people. The activity was
favored by workers thereafter and the average daily customer
traffic and average daily sales in general increased by approximately
40.55% and 52.71% respectively as compared to that of the
corresponding period of last year.

- REBEE AEEEE2EBDTOABEE —EITT
ALE  EBHEHMETARMEREY B —CHELEXED
BARLBHENTR BERERAARTRERLLIERL40.55%
BHHERLLIERA52.71% °

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A




Year in Review
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2. In May, Yulin Aoyuan Plaza under the management of the Group Q
actively assisted relevant departments in Yudong New District
to build a comprehensive nighttime economy zone which was
over 600 metres in length. The zone integrates food, leisure
and entertainment activities after one month’s upgrading works
through the linkage between government and enterprises,
achieved growth in both daily average customer traffic and sales e
and facilitated the booming nighttime economy in Yulin.
ERA AEBEEEEMREESBBBEHE  BEHHER
MEARREEPT  BA—EANARBGE TET —KE2REBEA
600 RIAKBMAER KR MRER—BNGELREKLETR -
ERBYEREELER  DHAEMRELEBEED R -

3. On 11 May, the Group and Ming Yuan Cloud and Woxiang* (BH
JREIR =) officially launched the consumer platform construction
project to further promote the Group’s digital strategy and
accelerate the construction of a new era of digital business
operation and management model.
TA+T—B FAEFEAREAZEAZHHEEETFARRIE P2}
B - FTHDEEHTEE IERBERISRE T EE
BEEEER -
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Year in Review
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1. During the Dragon Boat Festival, over 100 Aoyuan

communities under the management of the Group carried
out a wide variety of Dragon Boat Festival activities,
including wrapping rice dumplings, sending out wormwood,
visiting elderlies and playing interactive games, etc. It
attracted a total of nearly 20,000 property owners in the
communities to participate. The Group’s great performance
demonstrated our aspiration for a better life. Meanwhile,
in order to seize back the lost “festival ambiance”, Aoyuan
Plaza, Aoyuan City Plaza across the country have tapped
into the profound connotation of Dragon Boat Festival's
culture, creating traditional folklore activities and interactive
performances of the past and the present to enrich
consumers’ spiritual and cultural life, and enhance national
cohesion and cultural identity.

mFEHEE AEEEERAARELRAR TS
BEWmFEHES  BEERT EXIXIE KaREK
MEBHERE R RSDEMSHEEFLE - KEE
EURIBREESENRITEE AR BB NSE
MBLIEEEETEANEIK] 2B MREES AR
AT R B2 4R i T B AL EVR B RE - RS R AT EE
RERBEUARESEL  SEHEEBS UL
B0 RGO ML BRI

Q 2. 0On 22 June, the Group officially launched the Aoyuejia
Work Order System to enrich the information feedback
channels of property owners. Through the Aoyuejia Work
Order System, property owners can report matters and
repairs any time around the clock.

RANAZTZH FAEBEX ERBEURIERS 25
XTI ERRERBE BBRNURIERLG R/ 24/0

B BB SR SRS -

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A



Year in Review
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9 3. On 24 June, the launching ceremony of the 2022 “Bright
Guangxi ® Consumption GO” for Night Life Carnival (Yulin
Station) was held in Yulin Aoyuan Plaza* (E#MBEE5).
Under the theme of “Be Together, Be Beautiful”, the event
was held to make every efforts to “stabilising consumption,
expanding market and fighting battles”.
NAZTMB ZE - —FHBRERA HEGOIRAEE

© FFEE (M) EBHERDBERNEEMREE SR ART
EENATE—RREXRFIA/ER 2 NITHIREEBRT
S IEREL ] o

4]

4. 0On 27 June, Pubei Aoyuan Plaza* (J# 1t & B & & 15) of
the Group took the initiative to assume social responsibility,
and joined hands with the local merchants and Rongxin
social workers in Pubei and other devoting teams to go into O
the special schools in the Pubei County to carry out charity
donation activities and bring love and blessings to the
exceptional children. 0
NAZTEBE AEEBILSEREESFBRECSET -

EFSABERMBLEROHETIEEOER - EEmIL
BERPRARELO ARBELEEY  AEKRZETKE
E AR o
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Year in Review
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O

UN 75X H

In June, during the 21st national “Production Safety
Month”, the Group conducted a total of 478 emergency
drills where 7,695 people took part in such events, and
carried out 909 safety inspections, 457 safety publicity
sessions which covered more than 60,797 people, 421
safety training sessions which covered 6,988 employees,
merchants and business owners.
NACE2QEAZBIZ24ER] AEERRARESE
RAT8R - BB AHT695 A HEZEZMEIIR : H
RZ2EEA578  BEARG60TITA  HRL 25T
421%  BERABT BF  XFPA#698A -

(5]

(5

O

JUL £ A

1.

In July, the Group formally launched the “EMC Energy
Conservation Re-engineering Project” to carry out energy
saving re-engineering without increasing property owners'
burden and lowering service quality, which also saved
expenses of public area lighting for property owners and
reduced annual carbon emission by approximately 6,540
tons.

+t A AEBEERESEMCERERE T - £
FFEERTHRERBRENARET @ EITERSUE -
hAREFHNTAREHRAEAN L @ RKFRG
Bk 2 #) 6,540 MR Bk HE AR

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A
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2. In July, the Group seized the summer economy and created

a warm summer activity “Le Xue Tang” to cater for the
parent-child clientele, striving to provide quality and
comprehensive educational services to the surrounding
citizens and school-age children, and meeting the
extracurricular and artistic development needs of more
students, while providing a warm and relaxing shopping
and dining venue for parents with children. Several Aoyuan
shopping malls also focused on the current “Chinese
Trend” hotspots, with “Meeting” as the theme of the
summer in July to create the “Dunhuang Research and
Study Center”.

Tt A AEEENZBHEE  TEMS R FEHNRE
EMEHEEE | NRRAETREIBREZERTE
BE2ENHBE RS MR ES2EMNRINKE RBEME
BRHER - RAFETERTORXGRE—ERE RKEOE
WEREIGPT - ZEREBYH OEBGR TEH] &
BoUMBRIATEELAZHITEIBUEMSE] -

. From 1 July onwards, more than 100 communities of the

Group's properties carried out high-temperature caring
actions, providing herbal tea, Chinese desserts, milk tea,
watermelon and other summer drinks to frontline staff and
property owners, thereby servicing the property owners
with care.

tA—HR AEEVEIOHRELERRS RBEET
B RBTE-HSNBEIREFX RS BK - H%-
ANERERG  BORBEREE -

(3]

Year in Review
FEAXEMOE
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Year in Review
FEXEMOE

-

AUG /\ A

. In August, dozens of communities within the Group's

properties carried out a variety of summer activities,
including water parties, fish catching, summer camps, and
starry film festivals, etc., to give children a taste of summer
fun.

NR REEMEHHELERETEEZVNEHES
BEKERE B BESE ETBEHE BT

2. On 4 August, which was also the Double Seventh Festival in e

14

the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), in celebrating
our tenth anniversary, the Group held a series of events in
our shopping centres nationwide under the theme of the
month, the “Companionship”, to repay our consumers. On
the day of the event, “Little Sun Balloon Rain”, handicraft
DIY, stage performance, garden tour, etc., and other
exciting Double Seventh Festival activities brought a pleasant
festive atmosphere and rich consumption experience to the
customers.

NAHBAFEARKME ((HED £y REEEKR
HEE AEE2EBEDPORERTEAFRIER [ 18]
TEA CEBEXR [NABRIKE] -FIDIY #HERE -
HEERBYN LY AT KEAEFPEREHOE B
EMEErHERR -

(2] (242

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A



Year in Review
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1. On 7 and 8 September, ZCC Certification Co. Ltd. was invited

by our property segment to conduct a review of our three
standard systems to ensure the applicability and effectiveness
of our 1ISO9001:2015 quality management system,
ISO14001:2015 environmental management system and
ISO45001:2018 occupational health and safety management
system.

NALENR AEEYERRBHFEERD 2 ERE
BRARHARARE=-"FRAEELFE EERAQA
ISO9001:2015% & & I §8 K + 1S014001:2015 3R 3% & 32 48
E }1S045001:2018 B ¥R FELZ 2 EIRR AN ER LA

\

s e

(2]

2. During the Mid-Autumn Festival, our shopping malls carried

out a series of activities under the theme of “Completeness”,
linking up the venue consumption lines and setting up activity
booths such as sandbag throwing, ring game, lantern riddle
guessing, needle threading and jade rabbit lantern DIY to
interactively enhance consumers’ shopping experience. During
the campaign period, sales of the shopping centers under the
Group's management increased by approximately 30.68%
year-on-year. In addition, the Group’s Aoyue Premium
E-commerce Platform* (B4R E# B F &) launched 1,000
Mid-Autumn Festival gift boxes, including various types of
mooncakes, liquor, grain and oil gift boxes, and promoted
them to property owners nationwide, with online sales
of festive gifts exceeding RMB2 million in a single month,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 52%.
RIKEEIRE  AEEEY D OUER ] AT ERE— RS
EECBABNHERR BREDE BB BEH-
[FEr5IR]  FREDYEEHENL EHRAEBEER
MR - EHHE  AKEEERYT OHER LR
#)30.68% ° WEHN  REBRGERERDF A LA T RPN
giga BEEAAS EKRERRR EREEEE
HE BAMERMRLFEEBBEARK2008 T Rt
BRA52% °

Annual Report 2022 —ZZ=ZfF#

15



Year in Review
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3. On 22 September, Mr. Zhu Wanguo, President of

Guangdong Commercial Real Estate Leasing Association,
Mr. Su Jianyun, Secretary-general, and Mr. Zhang Haile,
Head of the Pan-Pearl River Delta Special Committee and
General Manager of Guangzhou Xinshitiandi Plaza* (/& /!
3 1lT K M), together with parties from many brands such
as Hand-in-hand Water Plant* (# 7K ), Zhizhu Hotpot*
(& & B B A 88), Wusong Grill* (BB #), Lujiamama*
(E X #51%5), FAVO HOMO and others visited Guangzhou
Panyu Aoyuan Plaza* (&N % & B & &%) for studying
and research.
NAZ+ZH BEREBAXRMEESEHESRAERL
£ oMERBKBELARIK-AZEZZEEAREN
AR ABKIERGE LA - BT KK - SR B BN -
RIRGERE - EXRGE - FAVO HOMO SR Z M —111
FREMNESRE RS Z R -

3/

4. On 27 September, Mr. Li Chunkui, Secretary of the

Jiulongpo District Committee of Chongging Municipality,
and Mr. Li Shun, Deputy Secretary of the district
committee and Mayor of the district, together with
the main leaders of the district fire fighting, business
committee and streets, visited Chongging Pan Long
Aoyuan Plaza* (EE B FE R E EH) for research
and careful guidance on fire fighting and pandemic
prevention.
NAZ++H BEETAEEREZEERTEEAER
BEZREXKBEBRFIREEERAEY AEREE
FTERBHGEFRERERS2HAM  WELOE
B RBEIE -

16  Aoyuan Hedlthy Life Group Company Limited REREEZFEBERA T



Year in Review
FEAXEMOE

1. During the National Day, the Group decorated over 300

communities nationwide with red flags, lightings and
seasonal flowers, etc., so that property owners could feel
the festive sentiment without leaving their communities. At
the same time, our shopping malls held a series of activities
with the theme of “Making Dreams” under the concept of
“Helping to Realise The Chinese Dream Through Innovative
Business Models”, and invited consumers from all over the
country to explore the power of “Dreams” and to create a
dream and realise the dream together by creating interactive
activities with in-store merchants. A series of activities and
offers covering food, drinks, recreation and shopping were
launched to spread the warmth of the experience across
the country and created another peak in customer flow and
sales.
BEEE  AEBEE2E00MEAYEHERLMEA
M B RIEERMS  EET TEHRMERXIIRR
WETRRE - B R NREEETEDT OB BEF
BERKXDNERFRE|BL  ERAMES I RFTEN
RIES BEFESAFPLITERNEDBRNEE - &
FERASMHBERRIZINNE  HAESHHER
WHELETRECBREN —RIEHRES FRIG5E
RERTE BRIERHEESE -
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1. Since November, more than 100 property communities of

O

the Group nationwide have successively carried out their
heart-warming activities such as morning seeing off and
evening greeting, delivering warm drinks and breakfast.
Thereby, the owners can feel the warmth from the Group
in this winter. In addition, the Group’s shopping malls took
“Blossoming” as the theme of this month and a number
of commercial projects were carried out nationwide for
activities such as training, safety drills, and entertainment,
etc., whereby consumers can enjoy a relaxed and pleasant
shopping experience.

T—AR AEEZE10REAYELR  FERERX
MRl - RBRER - RBBE-RIBELTE  EREZKREX
FRXAEEARE o b5 - REEE TEY DO LATER]
REEA 2EZERFEANES RR2ER RES
ZESEFREE BENHEEZXERNNBYRER -

(1) (1)

2. On 9 November, being the 31st National “Fire Publicity

Day”, the properties under the Group's management carried
out over 300 fire drills and more than 500 fire linkage tests
with over 7,000 participants, and organised more than 750
safety trainings and safety publicity, covering more than
90,000 people.

+T—AAB  EBNEZENDENEER]  AEEEED
EHFRBEIER30088K - B BB RIS 50088K - 2
HLABUETO008RA @ ARSHAL2EIZ2EE 7508
R BEARZEIBRRA -

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A
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3. On 16 and 17 November, “The 20th Annual Conference  €)
of Mall China International Forum & EXPO on New Species
of Commercial & New Consumption Scenario in China”
was grandly held in Chengdu. The Group’s commercial
management department participated in the conference as a
strategic partner and was awarded as the “Member Unit of
the Standing Council”.
t—AFAE+EA [REBE-TETEEYTLT O
XTEETEBENYEREEENSSERAIEAS I E
PRER ERTT - AEEFHEMPUEREUB S EREL2 A O
ARG UHERTIEBEEESEEM] -

O
4 DEC+—H

o 1. In December, not only did the Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan
Plaza* (E/INZE B EBREEH) ushered in its 10th anniversary,
the Group’s commercial management business also went
through its 10th year of operation, the Aoyuan Shopping
Centre nationwide will further interpret the new style of
commercial real estate with the theme of “Future”.
ToABRAERTEMNEBRERESNTEF  bRAEE
HMEELNETF 2ERREBYPLBANIRKIRE
BE-FREBFEHENRLR

(1) (1)

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

* R AEERB
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2022 Honors and Awards

“EFRARRE

“2021 Social Responsibility
Brand Award” and “2021 Listed
Companies Social Responsibility

Award” awarded by the 10th China
Finance Summit

1 JE B B A e 2 R

[2021 FE R EmhR 8] &

2021 TR EIM & E L]

“Most Valuable Real Estate and
Property Company” awarded by
the 7th Annual Golden Hong Kong
Stocks Awards
FErEBRBELN
[XEEEMERMELNT]

“ Anti-pandemic Pioneer
Enterprises” awarded by
Guangdong Property Management
Industry Institute
BEREMEEBTEBSEEN
(TR FEBEEE]

“Vice-President Unit” awarded by
Guangdong Property Management
Industry Institute
ERAMEERTEHGRED
[BlgRENM]

- J

“Special Contribution Award”
awarded by Guangdong Property
Management Industry Institute
BEREVMEERBITERSEEN
[ R B 8K 2%

“Qutstanding Contribution Award
for Actively Undertaking Social
Responsibility to Facilitate Whole
Society Employment” awarded by
Guangdong Property Management
Industry Institute
BEREMEEETRBSRED
[ERARHEEEH IS
ERHE R
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“2022 Enterprise List for
Property Service Enterprises
with Comprehensive Strength in
Guangdong Province” awarded by
Guangdong Property Management
Industry Institute
BREMEEBITERSRE
B[2022 BREMERBG L

HEENEERE]

- J

" Anti-pandemic Pioneer Commando
of Property Management Industry
in Guangdong” awarded by
Guangdong Property Management
Industry Institute
BREMEERITEBGR
EMEREMREERTE
et 3 104

“2022 List for Branded Property
Service Enterprises in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area” awarded by
Guangdong Property Management
Industry Institute
BREVEEERTRBSRED
2022 FF BB R A ERYERS

mEtERE ]
S BERBE )

“2022 Anti-pandemic Pioneer
Enterprises of Guangzhou Property
Management Industry Association”

awarded by Guangzhou Property
Management Industry Association
BNTHRERITERGRE
WIENTYRERITEHS
2022 FEMARFTHREE]

- /

2022 Honors and Awards

"B FRARRE

“2022 Anti-pandemic Pioneer
Enterprises of Property Management
Industry in Guangdong” awarded by
Guangdong Property Management

Industry Institute
BREAMEERITEHSRE
B2022 FEERYEERITE

MEEBELE]

“Special Contribution Award of
Guangzhou Property Management
Industry Association” awarded by
Guangzhou Property Management

Industry Association

BMNTHRERITERGRE

WIEMNTYRERITEHS

Rk B BA 2R
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2022 Honors and Awards
TEC_FPURRIE

Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan Plaza* Pubei Aoyuan Plaza*

(BMEBRERES) CRitREES)

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza*

(KN REES)

“2021 Sales Star List in New Media 2021 Star List of Newly Opened “2021 Star List of Shopping Mall
Marketing Industry “ awarded by Shopping Mall * awarded Undergoing Brand Adjustments and
Mall China by Mall China Upgrading” a!w’elgded byEMaII China
(B & B RE ) (B REES) Bt
o T AR B 0 [ 2021 4F BT AR 8E FREBEE AR B 0 [ 2021 F R HTRR % Y e
EIHE R BYHROESE] i
N\ AN J J

Chongqing Panlong Aoyuan Plaza* Aoyuan City Plaza*
(EEREREES) YN S )
“2021 Advanced Organisation”

“Golden Light Awards — Excellent
awarded by Jiulong Subdistrict

Operation Award” awarded by

Office of Chongqing Jiulongpo MCWzg.com
District People’s Government (BN B2 (&I 35k T oK 4 )
(EERERBES) ERBRE
BEEMNAEREARRA [ 2 B8]
NETENFEEED
2021 FE TESEESRE]
N J U J

* The English name is for identification purpose only
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| am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (“2022", the "Year” or the
“Reporting Period”). During the Year, the Group achieved revenue
of approximately RMB1,629.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 16.1% over last year. The net profit attributable to the
parent company was approximately RMB160.4 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 184.0%.

In 2022, the international and domestic environments were
complicated and volatile. The national economy experienced
tremendous pressure due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") pandemic impact. The Group actively responded to
the macroeconomic situation and changes in the industry, adhered
to the strategic development policy of “embracing healthy and
sound development, focusing on principal businesses, reshaping
intrinsic production capacity”, focused on the three core indicators
of “cash flow, profit and revenue”, consolidated property services,
and vigorously promoted the innovative operational pattern for
commercial management. We are committed to developing into a
new type of enterprise with sound operation, regulated activities, high
quality service and healthy growth through prioritising services and
promoting business improvement.

In terms of property services, the Group continued to expand its
operational scale during the Year through cooperating with the
Hunan branch of China Southern Airlines and expanded its property
service models. Currently, the comprehensive service models involve
boutique residential communities, commercial complexes, apartments,
office buildings, villas and tourist towns. As of 31 December 2022,
the Group’s property service areas covered 78 cities in 22 provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions in the PRC, providing property
management services for a total of 376 properties, covering a
chargeable gross floor area (“GFA") of approximately 47.1 million
square metres (“sq.m.”) under the Group’s management.

Chairman’s Statement
FRHE
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Chairman’s Statement
FRHE

On the basis of continuous and stable operation, the Group has
persisted in enhancing quality and efficiency to solidify its foundation.
During the Year, the Group managed more than 300 communities
across the country and continued to carry out quality service
improvements, so as to deliver high-quality services to thousands of
households with meticulous and stringent standards, thus enhancing
the comfortable living of property owners. Meanwhile, ” Aoyuejia” (&
1% %K), the Wechat mini programme of the Group, facilitates
property owners’ lives, promotes their consumption and enhances
community business turnover. In addition, the Group also invited
ZCC Certification Co., Ltd. to conduct a review of the three standard
systems to ensure the applicability and effectiveness of 1ISO9001:2015
quality management system, ISO14001:2015 environmental
management system and ISO45001:2018 occupational health and
safety management system of the Company.

The Group strives to improve its capacity to control project
satisfaction. The property projects launched a number of convenient
activities, festive events and public welfare events during the Year
to improve the continuous satisfaction of property owners. Through
data analysis and continuous iteration of the underlying system,
decision-making and operation were instrumentalised, standardised
and became process-oriented so as to ensure that project property
owners’ are satisfied beyond their investment budgets, which injected
effective momentum for sustainable development and revenue
growth in the long run.

In terms of commercial operation, the Group accelerated the
innovation of its operation and service models to channel its energy
into the commercial sector and enhance returns. “Aoyuan Plaza” and
“Aoyuan City Plaza”, the two major brands of the Group, launched
special events such as “Night Market Street” and “Plant Healing”
research institutes in several cities. These innovative marketing efforts
had attracted numerous young customers who are emerging as major
consumers, and thus effectively created a customer clustering engine
for community-based commercial entities to achieve effective growth
in both customer flow and sales. In the second half of the Year, the
Group made efforts in marketing strategies and intellectual property
("IP") innovation. On the occasion of the 10th anniversary of the
brand operation of “Aoyuan Plaza”, all Aoyuan commercial projects
across the country launched monthly “New Life”, “Meeting”, “Mate”,
“Success”, “Dreaming”, “Blossoming”, “Future” and other thematic
events to bring unique consumption experiences to consumers and
greatly promoted business improvement since June.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A
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Among them, Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan Plaza* (&N & B REES)
became the first Aoyuan commercial project to launch the IP “Giant
MARK Rabbit” during November last year, implanted a wide variety of
elements such as metaverse, art and fantasy, as well as the application
of advanced technology, making the IP “Giant MARK Rabbit"not
only stunning and fun, but also providing consumers with immersive
experiences. The IP “Giant MARK Rabbit” received warm welcome
upon its first debut. During the period, Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan
Plaza* (BN & & B E E %) boosted its sales by approximately
11.89% year-on-year and approximately 19.98% month-on-month.

The Group also actively develops value-added businesses to expand its
diversified business scenarios and creates new profit growth points.
In addition to the fundamental property services, the Group fully
empowers its frontline value-added service teams to launch different
types of services and products according to the needs of different
property owners, so as to create a pleasant, convenient and healthy
community living circle. Abundant value-added service resources, such
as housekeeping, garden maintenance, health monitoring, housing
rental and sales, courier collection, home maintenance, etc., have
enabled property owners to meet a variety of necessity needs with a
one-stop service in the community.

The Group abides by its corporate social responsibilities and is
committed to building a harmonious ecology with its property
owners, customers, employees, environment, industry and society.
Last year, when COVID-19 broke out in many places across country,
the Group actively coordinated resources to help fighting against
pandemic in many cities nationwide, winning wide appreciation
from local governments, media, property owners and tenants. The
Group also attaches great importance to the construction of low-
carbon communities and actively improves the living environment
in the communities. Since the launch of garbage sorting works in
2019, more than 100 projects have responded positively and insisted
on the supervision by designated personnel at fixed times and in
specific locations to stand guard to guide property owners to dispose
of garbage in an accurate manner during peak hours, which has
received enthusiastic response and support from community property
owners. In order to promote the Lei Feng spirit on the 59th “Learn
from Lei Feng Day”, the Group launched a “Lei Feng Month” activity,
for a term of one-month provided more than 100 free medical
activities and visits to the elderly singletons for the community
property owners. In addition, Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza* (¥ /5 B & &
#%) project under the Group’s management worked together with
Zhuhai Women’s & Children’s Hospital* (Ek/& 1 & 40 (R f2 F2) and
Zhuhai Disabled Persons’ Federation to carry out an activity of caring
for autistic children — “Star Children’s Art Exhibition”, which attracted
a number of media focusing on providing special reports and many
citizens stopped by and paid visits, allowing the public to have a
deeper understanding of autistic children delivering warmth and
expediting love.

Chairman’s Statement
FRHE
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Chairman’s Statement
FRHE

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to explore the connotation
and value of services while devoting greater efforts to cultivate
property management and commercial operations, extend smart
community services and urban living services, etc., integrate stronger
fundamental service capabilities, comprehensive management
capabilities for large-scale projects as well as value-added service
resources utilisation capabilities, integrate multiple resources through
technology empowerment, accelerate the exploration of urban
communities revitalisation and space resources in order to lay a
foundation for service expansion, build a full-fledged intelligent and
healthy living ecosystem in order to empower a better life.

The year of 2022 was deemed as an extraordinary year. At present,
the COVID-19 pandemic is stabilising day by day, and society and
all sectors continue to recover. Walking out from the complicated
situation, we are facing brand new opportunities and wide spectrum.
All the management and staff of the Group worked industriously
and made remarkable contributions in the past year. With the deep
trust and support bestowed by our customers and business partners, |
hereby would like to express my sincere gratitude and thanks.

In 2023, the Group will actively meet new challenges, seize new
opportunities, stimulate organisational vitality, practise cost reduction
and efficiency improvement, and strive to march forward towards
the targets that we have set. We look forward to continue joining
hands with all parties in one heart with all our might, so as to lead the
Group to a better future and create sustainable, stable and growing
returns for our shareholders with strong performance and excellent
results.

Guo Zining
Chairman
Hong Kong, 17 May 2023

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Overview

The Group is a renowned property management services
and commercial operational services provider in the PRC, and
implements business strategy of diversifying service offerings
to meet the evolving demands of customers. The Group offers
diversified property management services for residential and
non-residential properties, as well as a full range of commercial
operational services for mid to high-end properties and mixed-
use property development projects in shopping malls, so as to
create a quality, healthy and livable environment, as well as an
environment suitable for commercial and social activities while
providing comprehensive, quality and healthy life management
services.

Property Management

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided property
management services to 376 properties (including sales
offices) in 78 cities across 22 provinces, municipalities, and
autonomous regions in the PRC with chargeable GFA under
management of approximately 47.1 million sq.m., representing
a decrease of approximately 1.7 million sq.m. as compared to
approximately 48.8 million sq.m. as at 31 December 2021. As
at 31 December 2022, the contracted area of the Group was
approximately 80.4 million sg.m.. On the basis of maintaining
high-quality property management services for properties
under the brand of China Aoyuan Group Limited (“China
Aoyuan”, the controlling shareholder of the Company. the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(stock code: 3883) together with its subsidiaries (excluding
the Group) (“China Aoyuan Group”)), the Group continued
to expand projects under the brands other than those of
China Aoyuan Group. In 2022, the Group signed a total of 69
property management service contracts, including 9 contracts
for newly acquired projects and 60 contracts for project
renewal, representing an increase of approximately 29.86%
year-on-year in terms of contract amounts. The Group
controlled various costs and expenditures stringently by carrying
out reforms and downsizing its structure and administration.
Through energy-saving transformation in communities with
special funds, energy consumption expenditure and labor
expenditure were significantly reduced, achieving continuous
cost reduction and efficiency improvement and increasing cash
flow income.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BTEBHMRASK

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Property Management (Continued)

We were committed to creating a digital community life
circle for our property owners, and continuously improved
and increased the functions of “Aoyuejia” (B 1% %) Wechat
Mini Program. In addition to the functions such as issue
and repair reporting, it added functions such as online
payment, community group purchase and placement of
advertisements by partners, so as to further facilitate the lives
and consumption of the property owners, and increase the
business turnover of communities. In future, other community
functions such as property owner forums and flea markets will
be developed to increase customer stickiness and attract more
potential customers for various business operations.

The Group treasured customer living experience and
maintenance of customer relationship. In 2022, more than
2,000 community cultural activities and convenient activities
were conducted during major festivals according to our
property owners’ needs, serving over 220,000 people.
The Group actively cooperated with the government in
implementing various measures for pandemic prevention and
control, and safeguarded over 200 communities. During the
period of pandemic lockdown, the Group carried out heart-
warming actions, providing heart-warming services on a
total of 200,000 occasions, such as assistance in nucleic acid
testing, garbage cleaning of households under quarantine,
love errands services, and assistance in online classes, and was
praised by property owners and government departments.
In 2022, the Group was awarded “The Pioneer Enterprise of
Anti-Epidemic”, “The Special Contribution Award” and “The
Outstanding Contribution Award for Actively Undertaking
Social Responsibility and Facilitating Employment for the Whole
Society” by the Guangdong Property Management Industry
Institute (R & ¥ EE LT E W &), with continuously
improving customers’ satisfaction and brand reputation.

In 2022, the Group won five new hospital projects and one
government public construction project. The depth and
breadth of urban services were further expanded, and the
standards of management services for both residential and
non-residential properties were recognised by our customers.
Continuous improvement of brand reputation in the industry
had significantly contributed to the business growth of the
Group and brought long-term and sound returns to investors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Commercial Operation

As at 31 December 2022, the Group contracted to provide
commercial operational services to 22 shopping malls with
contracted total GFA of approximately 775,000 sg.m.,
among which the Group contracted to provide post-opening
commercial operation and management services to 21
shopping malls with contracted total GFA of approximately
748,000 sq.m.. As of 31 December 2022, the Group provided
commercial operational services to 18 shopping malls in
operation in 14 cities in the PRC, with contracted total GFA of
approximately 643,000 sg.m..

In addition to maintaining high-quality commercial operation,
we continue to deliver warmth living services to our
consumers. Our existing service segments cover preliminary
planning, commercial design, technical consultation, business
tenant sourcing agency, preparation for business grand
opening and asset operation, and other commercial property
chains. In addition to basic operation, the Group constantly
develops and deepens diversified services of commercial
operation, enriches sources of income and consolidates
intrinsic production capacity. Moreover, the Group focuses
on industrial synergy to revitalise shopping mall members and
offline traffic by leveraging the advantages of the Group in
sharing industrial synergy resources. The business operation of
the Group continues to deepen the exchange, communication
and cooperation with property management services. By
leveraging the advantages of self-held property industry
clusters around commercial projects nationwide, property
owners can be transformed into loyal customers of shopping
malls to generate higher profits with lower costs. By leveraging
its internal new retail platform “Aoyue Youxuan” (E2 1% &
3% ), the Group uses low-cost marketing methods such as live
streaming e-commerce and group purchase to realise precise
traffic diversion through “property to business” and “online to
offline”, so as to accurately operate the private traffic, the “last
kilometre” of complex projects, which facilitates the Group to
resist risks in the volatile market environment and ensures the
achievement of performance targets at the lowest cost.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Commercial Operation (Continued)

In addition to leveraging its internal industrial synergy
advantages, the Group also relies on the assistance of various
parties to build the innovative “internet + business” model.
The Group cooperated with professional institutions in respect
of its commercial operation to build a consumer platform
construction project during the Year, further promoted the
digital strategy, accelerated the construction of an operation
management model for digital business in the new era, and
shifted from large-scale operation to refined and efficient
operation, which effectively reduced the Group’s operation
and marketing costs, improved the operation and marketing
precision, and achieved cost reduction and efficiency
improvement. The Group achieved its cash flow target
despite the market downturn caused by the resurgence of the
pandemic.

Apart from continuously improving and optimising basic
commercial operational services, the Group adapted to
different projects and consumer needs to create different
types of consumption experience and immersive, gentle and
joyful shopping experience according to local conditions.
During the Year, the Group integrated the community
park into commercial segment. In the first half of 2022, by
leveraging the strong traffic attraction of parent-child groups,
Yulin Aoyuan Plaza* (& #K B [E &%) integrated the parent-
child recreational elements and endeavoured to build an
indoor venue for parent-child gathering — “Small Sun World”
(/NKFzRHb). This move has not only increased the customer
flow in Yulin Aoyuan Plaza, but also extended the stay time
of parents, increased the chance of random consumption,
empowered brand merchants, and helped the Group achieve
revenue increase. During the Year, Pubei Aoyuan Plaza* (J&
1t B E &%) gradually upgraded “Baby Paradise” (1t & %%
[&) for the need of our parent-child customers. With the
personalised experience brought by “Baby Paradise” (it &
%4 [5)), the average daily passenger traffic of Pubei Aoyuan
Plaza* (B4t BE &%) increased rapidly by nearly 200%
on a month-on-month basis, despite the resurgence of the
pandemic locally. Located in Guangzhou Wanbo Central
Business District, Aoyuan International Center has keenly
captured the trend of “Camping” and gradually completed
the transformation and upgrade of the theme of “Camp Park”
(&2 [E) during the Year, forming a marketing closed loop
of “experience scene drainage — sales conversion”. The sales
volume of participating merchants increased by 54% and sales
volume of experience business increased by 244% month-on-
month.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Commercial Operation (Continued)

In addition to revitalizing assets, reducing costs and increasing
efficiency to realise asset appreciation, the Group also took
the initiative to assume various social responsibilities. Of
which, in March 2022, with the requirements and support of
local government for pandemic prevention and control, the
commercial operation team of Ruichang Aoyuan Plaza* (I
8 B & E15) under the Group gathered all its forces, strictly
complied with the pandemic prevention instructions to prepare
entry and exit permits for personnel assuring the supply and
prompt delivery of daily necessities to the residents, and took
practical actions to protect the “vegetable baskets” and “rice
bags” of the residents in the business area, contributing the
Group’s strength to Ruichang’s fight against the pandemic. In
April 2022, the dine-in services in Panyu District, Guangzhou
were suspended. Three shopping malls operated by the Group
in Panyu launched preferential measures to help merchants
overcoming their difficulties. In May 2022, the Group’s Yulin
Aoyuan Plaza* (E M B E E 1) actively assisted relevant
departments in Yudong New District to build a comprehensive
night economy block through the cooperation between the
government and enterprises, achieving growth both in daily
passenger traffic and sales, and contributing to the robust
development of Yulin's night economy. In June 2022, Pubei
Aoyuan Plaza* (JA it B & E35) took the initiative to assume
social responsibility, and joined hands with merchants and
caring teams such as Pubei Rongxin Social Workers (i it
B0+ T) to carry out charity and donation activities in
Special School of Pubei County (3 1t 8% 45 %k £2 4% ), bringing
care and blessings to special needs children. In August 2022,
Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan Plaza assisted the Anti-Fraud
Center of Public Security Bureau of Panyu District, Guangzhou
(ENMHEBEEALD BREFFF L) in organising a talk
preaching the prevention of telecommunication and network
fraud, so as to improve the ability of citizens living nearby
in preventing fraud. In November 2022, Panlong Aoyuan
Plaza* (8% 32 B8 & £ 35 ) actively cooperated with relevant
government departments to carry out activities to celebrate
the 20th National Congress of the Chinese Communist Party
("CCP") in communities of the district, implement the spirit of
the 20th National Congress of CCP and promote harmonious
neighborhood relationship. In the same month, Pubei Aoyuan
Plaza* (CE1LEEE E35) held voluntary activities in relation to
the publicity of environmental protection knowledge, publicity
of safe use of gas, and caring activities for sanitation workers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BTEBHMRASK

OUTLOOK

In 2023, the macro-situation and industry environment
continue to improve. Under the new starting point, the
Group will strive to forge ahead, always adhere to the original
aspiration of quality, establish a normal, professional and
informational management system, and endeavour to build
an all-round intelligent and healthy life ecosystem, empower
people to live a better life and continue to create value.

Property Management

The year of 2023 will enter the post-pandemic era with
investment and consumption recovering gradually. With
the State Council implementing various real estate financial
support policies, it is expected that real estate investment will
record new growth in 2023, which will in turn benefit the
future operating results of the Group. The Group will increase
its investment in digitization, improve management efficiency,
accelerate its response to customers’ demand, improve
residential quality in the communities, strengthen customer
stickiness, build industry reputation with high-quality services,
and help expand business in the market. The Group treasures
the diversification of commercial operation models in the
communities, focuses on the sale of exquisite merchandise,
and further improves the conversion rate of customer sales by
leveraging live broadcasting platforms and offline promotion.
Meanwhile, to cater for customer needs, the Group enriches
the options of home service offerings, so as to improve service
repurchase rate. The Group will fully revitalise space resources,
develop site self-operated services, and achieve win-win results
with tenants in the vicinity. The Group will strengthen market
expansion, explore internal business potential, and strive to
achieve a new level of operating results in 2023 by enriching
the sources of revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK (Continued)

Property Management (Continued)

In 2023, it is expected that the diversified and multi-level
demand for life services for our residents will resume quickly.
The Group will adhere to the “light-asset + platform” model
to build the “life service” ecosystem for property owners. The
community value-added services will meet customers’ needs
by providing space resource services focusing on customer
needs, community commercial services of high stickiness and
high quality, safe and convenient parking services, convenient
and carefree home refurbishment services, high-quality home
services, professional and intimate asset rental and sales
services. The Group will adhere to its stable management style
to create service value with high quality and high stickiness
service products, so as to achieve results growth.

Commercial Operation

Due to the recent fluctuations in the commercial property
market, the Group will continue to strengthen its own internal
skills, steadily improve its commercial operation and tenant
sourcing capabilities, in order to build up a solid base with
strong network to withstand the challenges from the market
and become more stable in the long run. In addition, the
Group will continue to generate significant profits with lower
costs. Relying on its industrial synergy advantages, the Group
will carry out precise and in-depth operation, build a virtuous
circle of business ecosystem, and achieve sound operation. At
the same time, the Group will always change with the times,
fully explore the demand potential of core consumers, seize
opportunities, identify “blue ocean”, leverage first-mover
advantage, stimulate potential demand that consumers are
not aware of, and constantly explore market potential to
create new business models of commercial operation, helping
the Group to seek new growth points and enrich the sources
of operating income.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BTEBHMRASK

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of Operations

The Group’s revenue was mainly derived from property management
services and commercial operational services. For the Year, the Group’s
total revenue was approximately RMB1,629.8 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB311.9 million or approximately 16.1%
as compared to that of approximately RMB1,941.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Previous Year” or “2021").
Revenue generated from property management services segment
and commercial operational services segment contributed 88.6% and
11.4% to the total revenue, respectively.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of total revenue for the
years indicated by business segment:

Pt %5 [l bR

BEER

REBWAFERENEETERBLEEELR
% RAEE  AEBEHBRABHARE1,629.8
BET BWEE-_E-_—F+-A=+—H1I=E
EUEFIXZB=Z—F]) 2HARE1,9417
BETRLHOAREINMNIBEE TRH TR’
16.1% - MEBEERB D BEHEELERBE D
YA 2 R A2 88.6% F111.4% ©

TREIRIRFEREE D HE D B BU AR
4 -

2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F Growth Growth
Revenue Revenue amount rate
contribution contribution BRE BRE
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARETR  WAGE%  ARBTT WAGR%  ARETR %
Property management services  IEEERHE D
segment 1,444,439 88.6 1,660,212 85.5 (215,773) (13.0)
Commercial operational services ~ FiEE4 RED I
segment 185,312 114 281,535 14.5 (96,223) (34.2)
Total @it 1,629,751 100.0 1,941,747 100.0 (311,996) (16.1)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Property Management Services Segment

The revenue generated from property management services segment
decreased by approximately RMB215.8 million or approximately
13.0%, of which the revenue generated from property management
services increased by approximately RMB9.1 million or approximately
0.8%, the revenue generated from major owner value-added services
decreased by approximately RMB102.0 million or approximately
55.8%, and revenue generated from community value-added services
decreased by approximately RMB122.9 million or approximately
31.7%. The decrease of revenue generated from major owner
value-added services was mainly due to the decrease in pre-delivery
consultation services, sales assistance services, and other services
provided by the Group to major owners due to the overall impact
of the real estate industry environment. The decrease of revenue
generated from community value-added services was mainly due
to the decrease in revenue from intelligent engineering installation
services and heating services provided by the Group.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue from the
property management services segment by service category for the
years indicated:
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2022 2021

—E-CE oK Growth Growth
Revenue Revenue amount rate
contribution contribution BERE ERXE
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARBTR W%  ARBTR W% ARETR %

Property management services M¥EEREH

segment
Property management services W EEE R 1,099,208 76.1 1,090,086 65.7 9,122 08
Major owner value-added services K% T2 {EMRHK 80,692 5.6 182,688 11.0 (101,99) (55.8)
Community value-added services 4 EZER# 264,539 183 387,438 233 (122,899) (317)
Total Eoh 1,444,439 100.0 1,660,212 100.0 (215,773) (13.0)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BTEBHMRASK

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Property Management Services Segment (Continued)

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the chargeable
GFA under management for the years indicated and total revenue
generated from provision of property management services under
the property management services segment for the years indicated by
type of property developer:

MIEEE 2
MEEERBSB(E)
TREIIZYMEFEHBELE D ORARFEER

EEWEREMBEMAAREREMEEERSED
BT REYEEERBEEWAWARAD

2022 2021
—E-CF —E--F

Chargeable Revenue Chargeable Revenue
GFA Revenue  contribution GFA Revenue contribution

g W&
EEEN A WAL BEATE WA WG
(1000 sg.m.) (RMB'000) %  (000sqm.) (RMB'000) %
(FEAK) (AR¥TR) %  (FTAK)  (ARETFT) %

China Aoyuan Group and its THEREERAEYA

related parties (Vote) (W) 25,625 569,649 51.8 23,253 636,583 584
Third-party property developers &= H ¥ EHEH 21,519 529,559 482 25,535 453,503 416
Total B3t 47,144 1,099,208 100.0 48,788 1,090,086 1000

Note:  Related parties of the China Aoyuan Group include the China Aoyuan
Group’s joint ventures and associates.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Property Management Services Segment (Continued)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the changes in

Management Discussion and Analysis
THBERED R

MO 2

VREERRBSE(Z)

the chargeable GFA under management for the Year by property B U EEAEBEZHAAM

developer type:

TREIZEMEREBBLE D ORAFENE

Chargeable Chargeable
GFA under GFA under
management management
as at as at
1 January Increase for  Decrease for 31 December
2022 the period the period 2022
i
iy —EB-—f
bt g -3 t+=A
—-R-B2 =t-H2
EEWE EEWE
BEEER HA R 42 b HER D> BEEE
('000 sq.m.) ('000 sq.m.) (000 sg.m.) ("000 sg.m.)
(FFEARXK) (FFARXK) (FFARXK) (FFARXK)
China Aoyuan Group and its Hh B R [ R B % ELR T
related parties 23,253 2,774 402 25,625
Third party property developers FE=EMERY 25,535 248 4,264 21,519
Total st 48,788 3,022 4,666 47,144

Annual Report 2022 —ZB=—%3%% 37



Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEMREAS R

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) MEBLOE &)
Property Management Services Segment (Continued) MEBERBSE (&)
Geographic Presence 1 B G [

The following map illustrates the location of the properties under the A TNERBMR T - —F+ - =+—HA%E
Group’s management and properties it contracted to manage asat31 BEEEVENAEBCIINEENYEMNE ¢
December 2022:
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EEET
, »’f\ ﬁ
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%\ Jiangsu JL#k
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Management Discussion and Analysis

Property Management Services Segment (Continued)

Geographic Presence (Continued)

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the chargeable GFA
under management as at the dates indicated and total revenue from

THEMWESH
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the property management services segment for the years indicated by #4281 A BB 48 :
geographic regions:
2022 2021
—E-CF —EC--F
Chargeable Revenue Chargeable Revenue
GFA Revenue  contribution GFA Revenue contribution
K& &
BEER WA N 14 BEERE KA WAL
(000 sg.m.) (RMB'000) % ('000 sq.m.) (RMB'000) %
(FEBXK)  (AR%TR) % (FTAK)  (ARETFT) %
South China EfHE 13,778 562,781 39.0 13,105 713,021 49
Southwest China [l 4191 148,013 10.2 5752 162,512 9.8
East China ZRiE 8,708 194,456 135 8,226 211,105 127
Central and North China ERRELHE 18,058 474,960 329 19,426 506,128 305
Northeast China BititE 2,409 64,229 44 2,279 67,446 4.1
Total @it 47,144 1,444,439 100.0 48,788 1,660,212 100.0
Notes: B
(1) South China comprises Guangdong Province and Guangxi Zhuang (1) EpReEERE REALEE AR
Autonomous Region.
(2) Southwest China comprises Chongqging Municipality, Sichuan, Yunnan,  (2) FmEeEEEM M) Er - EMNRRES -
Guizhou and Shaanxi Provinces.
(3) East China comprises Anhui, Fujian, Jiangsu, Jiangxi, Shandong and  (3) EEMEPELR - RE TEH T - LEREREN
Zhejiang Provinces. L& o
(4) Central and North China comprises Hunan, Hubei, Hebei and Henan  (4) Eh REMESERRE - B T RAEE -
Provinces, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, Beijing Municipality and ANEGBRE - dERmRKREM -
Tianjin Municipality.
(5) Northeast China comprises Liaoning Province. (5) Bt Em e IEEESE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BTEBHMRASK

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Commercial Operational Services Segment

The revenue generated from commercial operational services segment
decreased by approximately RMB96.2 million or approximately 34.2%,
which was mainly due to the decrease in revenue generated from
commercial operation and management services of approximately
RMB59.5 million or approximately 25.6% and the decrease in revenue
generated from market positioning and business tenant sourcing
services of approximately RMB36.8 million or approximately 74.8%.
The decrease in revenue generated from commercial operation and
management services was mainly attributable to the decrease in the
total GFA under management of commercial operational services
provided by the Group to shopping malls in operation. The decrease
in revenue generated from market positioning and business tenant
sourcing services was mainly due to the decrease in preliminary
research and business tenant sourcing services provided during the
Year.

MO 2
BEEERBZESE
EEBSREDBUWARPDOAREIC2EHE T

HH4342% TERHREEEL &aﬁ%%w
AR ANRME S5 B E T #H25.6% &
@&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%kmdﬁAE%%sﬁéﬁ
HKTA8% - I BEREERBBAR D E
FEAREEETES mﬁ%k{mﬁig W%E
BHEERMBRDE - mH TN MEFBER
BEW AR AT E ERRAEE MR AT
TR B2 48 78 AR 75 R A P B o

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue from TREFIRFIRNEELRRGHEREDHNEEES
commercial operational services segment by service category for the  FRTG ZBFTE £ AU A BRAR
years indicated:
2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F Growth Growth
Revenue Revenue amount rate
contribution contribution BRE BRXE
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARBTR  WAER%  ARETT WG ARETR %
Commercial operational services H£E= R4
segment
Commercial operation and BEELRERRE
management services 172,956 93.3 232,421 826 (59,465) (25.6)
Market positioning and mEENREPEE
business tenant sourcing services  fR7% 12,356 6.7 49,114 174 (36,758) (74.8)
Total @t 185,312 100.0 281,535 100.0 (96,223) (34.2)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
THBERED R

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) MBEE 2
Commercial Operational Services Segment (Continued) HREERBEIB(E)
Geographic Presence 1 2 4 [

The following map illustrates the location of the shopping malls under A TbEBNR T - —F+ -/ =+—HA%E
the Group’s management and shopping malls it contracted to manage BB SE L AEB O NEENESEMNE
as at 31 December 2022:
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEMREAS R

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued) MBEE 2
Commercial Operational Services Segment (Continued) BEEERBS (&)
Geographic Presence (Continued) 1 FEE B (&)

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue from the  TFEREZIRMIBE B DN N FEFEELR
commercial operational services segment for the years indicated by  #2 ZBE £ AU ARS4E :
geographic regions:

2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
Revenue Revenue
contribution contribution
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

ARBTRT WABE% ARBTT HBAKE%

South China ErgipE 127,173 68.6 196,656 69.8
Southwest China PHED D& 38,898 21.0 47,569 16.9
East China ERME 13,148 7.1 30,357 10.8
Central and Northeast China Ep N EAL R 6,093 3.3 6,953 2.5
Total st 185,312 100 281,535 100
Notes: ez

(1) South China comprises Guangdong Province and Guangxi Zhuang (1) EEEREERE REAMKERRE -
Autonomous Region.

(2) Southwest China comprises Chongging Municipality, Sichuan and Guizhou  (2) FEtEeEEETN  WIIREME -

Provinces.
(3) East China comprises Jiangxi, Jiangsu and Anhui Provinces. (3) ERMERELIR IHRRLHS -
(4) Central and Northeast China comprises Hunan and Liaoning Provinces. (4) FEh R ERH R B IENARE REEE o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Services

The Group's cost of services primarily consists of (i) labour costs
mainly incurred from the security services, house-keeping services,
labour outsourcing, maintenance services and cleaning and gardening
services expenses; (ii) maintenance costs; (iii) utility expenses;
(iv) marketing and promotion expenses; and (v) materials and
consumables.

Our cost of services decreased by approximately RMB239.7 million
from approximately RMB1,472.2 million for the Previous Year to
approximately RMB1,232.5 million for the Year. Such decrease was
primarily attributable to:

W)

decrease in labour costs from approximately RMB1,025.9
million in 2021 to approximately RMB889.3 million in 2022,
which was mainly due to the decrease of engineering pre-
delivery consultation services, sales assistance services for
sales offices, household inspection services and intelligent
engineering services provided by the Group to major owners
because of the changes in the environment of real estate
market, resulting in fewer employees, security staff and house-
keeping services staff required and less labour outsourcing
cost and cleaning and gardening services expenses incurred;

decrease in construction costs related to intelligent engineering
of approximately RMB48.6 million due to the Group’s focus
on its principal business and adjustment of the Company’s
business structure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BTEBHMRASK

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the Year, the gross profit of the Group was approximately
RMB397.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB72.4
million or approximately 15.4% as compared to approximately
RMB469.6 million for the Previous Year. For the Year, the gross
profit margin was approximately 24.4%, representing an increase
of approximately 0.2 percentage point as compared to the gross
profit margin of 24.2% for the Previous Year. Gross profit margin
was basically unchanged from the Previous Year. The Group will
continue to promote refined management in the coming years,
endeavouring to improve the economic efficiency. For the Year, the
gross profit of property management services segment of the Group
was approximately RMB339.1 million and the gross profit margin
was approximately 23.5%; the gross profit of commercial operational
services segment of the Group was approximately RMB58.1 million
and the gross profit margin was approximately 31.4%.

Selling and Distribution Expenses and Administrative
Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of
(i) advertising expenses; (ii) salaries and allowances for our sales
personnel; and (iii) office expenses, travelling expenses and business
development expenses. The total selling and distribution expenses of
the Group for the Year were approximately RMB1.3 million.

The Group's administrative expenses and other expenses primarily
consist of (i) salaries and allowances for our administrative and
management personnel in the headquarters; (i) travelling expenses; (iii)
professional fees; (iv) rental expenses; and (v) office expenses.

For the Year, the administrative expenses of the Group were
approximately RMB173.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB15.1 million or approximately 8.0% as compared
to approximately RMB188.8 million for the Previous Year. Such
decrease was mainly due to the optimization of the organizational
structure, improvement of management efficiency, and cost reduction
and efficiency increase of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other Income, Gains and Losses

For the Year, other income, gains and losses of the Group amounted
to a net gain of approximately RMB81.9 million, representing an
increase of approximately RMB51.3 million or approximately 167.6%
as compared to net revenue of approximately RMB30.6 million for
the Previous Year, which was primarily attributable to (i) net exchange
gain increased by approximately RMB41.9 million; and (ii) government
subsidy increased by approximately RMB5.9 million.

Income Tax Expense

For the Year, the income tax of the Group was approximately
RMB36.4 million, representing an increase of approximately RMB13.4
million as compared to approximately RMB23.0 million for the
Previous Year, which was mainly due to the Group’s reversal from loss
to profit.

Profit for the Year

For the Year, the net profit of the Group was approximately
RMB163.2 million, representing an increase in net profit of
approximately RMB360.5 million as compared to net loss of
approximately RMB197.3 million for the Previous Year. For the
Year, profit attributable to equity Shareholders of the Company was
approximately RMB160.4 million, as compared to loss attributable
to equity Shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB190.9
million for the Previous Year. The net loss recorded by the Group in
2021 was mainly due to changes in the environment of the real estate
market, impairment losses on goodwill and significant expected credit
impairment losses on trade and other receivables, amounts due from
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and
related parties.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BTEBHMRASK

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022, the total assets of the Group was
approximately RMB2,221.0 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately RMB2,293.2 million), and the total liabilities was
approximately RMB1,228.7 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately RMB1,497.1 million). As at 31 December 2022, the
current ratio was 1.40 (as at 31 December 2021: 1.20).

As at 31 December 2022, the net assets of the Group was
approximately RMB992.4 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately RMB796.1 million).

Property, Plant and Equipment

The Group's property, plant and equipment consist of buildings,
office equipment, motor vehicles and leasehold improvements.
The value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment decreased
by approximately 20.8% to approximately RMB29.4 million as at
31 December 2022, primarily attributable to decrease in normal
depreciation.

Right-of-use Assets

The right-of-use assets of the Group mainly included lease right-of-use
assets. The Group's right-of-use assets decreased from approximately
RMB23.6 million as at 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB16.6
million as at 31 December 2022, primarily due to decrease in normal
depreciation.

Intangible Assets

The Group’s intangible assets represent the property management
contracts obtained upon the acquisition of other property
management companies. Our intangible assets decreased from
approximately RMB91.9 million as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB78.9 million as at 31 December 2022, primarily
due to decrease in normal amortisation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

Goodwill

The Group’s goodwill represents the difference between the total
consideration for the acquisitions of Anhui Hanlin Property Services
Company Limited, Shenzhen Huazhong Property Management
Company Limited, Ningbo Hongjian Management Services Co., Ltd.,
Easy Life Smart Community Services Group Co., Ltd. and Beijing Boan
Property Management Co., Ltd. and their respective total identifiable
net assets as at the respective acquisition dates, net of relevant
impairment amount. As at 31 December 2022, the goodwill of the
Group recorded no change as compared to that as at 31 December
2021.

Trade and Other Receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the total trade and other receivables of the
Group was approximately RMB694.7 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB200.8 million as compared to approximately
RMB493.9 million as at 31 December 2021, which is mainly due to (i)
longer collection cycle of trade receivables because of the impact of
the overall economic environment; and (ii) increase in tax prepaid.

Amounts Due from Non-controlling Shareholders of
Subsidiaries, Fellow Subsidiaries and Related Parties

The Group’s amounts due from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and related parties increased
from approximately RMB26.2 million as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB60.5 million as at 31 December 2022, mainly due
to longer settlement period with fellow subsidiaries.

Trade and Other Payables

As at 31 December 2022, the trade and other payables was
approximately RMB772.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB42.9 million or approximately 5.9% as compared
to that of approximately RMB729.9 million as at 31 December 2021,
mainly due to longer settlement period with our suppliers.
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FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

Bank Borrowing

As at 31 December 2022, we had (i) outstanding bank loans of
approximately RMB139.0 million; and (ii) no unutilised banking
facilities for short term financing. Our bank borrowing carried at
fixed rate ranging from 4.75% to 5.50% (2021: ranging from 4.35%
to 6.15%) per annum and was guaranteed by certain subsidiary of
the Group or certain fellow subsidiaries, and was pledged by equity
interests in certain subsidiaries.

Lease Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, lease liabilities of the Group due within
one year were approximately RMB3.3 million and the balance of lease
liabilities due above one year was approximately RMB16.0 million as
at 31 December 2022.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total liabilities divided by the
total assets. Gearing ratio was 0.65 for the year ended 31 December
2021 and 0.55 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Asset Pledge

As at 31 December 2022, no asset of the Group was pledged,

except for the pledge of equity in certain subsidiaries to obtain bank
borrowings of RMB137.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

Proceeds from the Listing

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 18 March 2019 (the “Listing”) and issued
175,000,000 new shares. On 2 April 2019, the over-allotment option
was fully exercised to allot 26,250,000 new shares. After deducting
the underwriting fees and relevant expenses, net proceeds from the
Listing and the over-allotment option amounted to approximately
HK$577.0 million and HK$93.7 million (approximately RMB493.1
million and RMB80.1 million). As at the date of this report, the Group
has utilised approximately RMB436.8 million of the capital raised, of
which approximately RMB333.2 million was used to acquire or invest
in other commercial operational services and property management
services providers; approximately RMB33.5 million was used to acquire
or invest in service providers (providing services complementary to the
Group’s commercial operational services and property management
services); approximately RMB10.2 million was used to develop and
upgrade our 020 platforms; approximately RMB2.6 million was used
to develop intelligent service systems and upgrade our internal IT
system; and approximately RMB57.3 million was used for working
capital and general corporate purposes. All unutilised net proceeds
as at the date of this report, which amounted to approximately
RMB136.4 million, will be used to pursue strategic acquisition and
investment opportunities to acquire or invest in other commercial
operational service and property management service providers
to achieve our business strategies of scaling up our commercial
operational service business and expanding our property management
service portfolio.
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BTEBHMRASK

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 3,093 employees. The
staff cost was approximately RMB373.0 million in 2022. The Group
regularly reviews remuneration and benefits of its employees
according to the relevant market practice and individual performance
of the employees. Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, the Group provides contributions to social insurance in China
(including pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, maternity insurance and occupational injury insurance) and
housing provident funds for our employees in the PRC. The Group
also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualified
employees in Hong Kong.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION, DISPOSAL AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

There was no material acquisition and disposal conducted by the
Group during the Year, nor was there any significant investment or
plan authorised by the Board for material investment or addition of
capital assets as of 31 December 2022.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Zheng Wei, aged 44, was an executive director of the Company
and the president of the Group until he resigned on 1 September
2022. He has obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering Mechanics
and a Master’s Degree in Solid Mechanics from Tsinghua University
(BEZE KX E) in July 1999 and July 2001, respectively. Mr. Zheng
also obtained a Ph.D. Degree in Informatics from Peking University
(6 K E) in July 2014. He has more than 15 years of experience
in the fields of technology research and development, operations
management and internet communications and has been focusing
on advanced technological innovations and operations. Mr. Zheng
joined China Aoyuan in June 2020, where he served as a senior
management in some of the subsidiaries of China Aoyuan, namely,
Guangdong Aoyuan Aomaijia E-commerce Co., Ltd.* (EREERE
R E T A R A A and Guangdong Aoyuan Technology Group
Co., Ltd.* (BEREBERKEBERAAF).

Prior to joining China Aoyuan, Mr. Zheng served as an executive
director in Wanka Online Inc. (BEW =BG R A 7)) (“Wanka”), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1762), from November 2018 to August 2020 and was re-
designated as a non-executive director of Wanka since August 2020.
He served as the general manager of the innovation development
department and the business cooperation department as well as a
deputy general manager in the mobile service group of Baidu Online
Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B EAE&B4E T (b R) &
R A |)), a subsidiary of Baidu, Inc. (& € 2 7)) which is a company
listed on the Nasdaqg Global Select Market (stock symbol: BIDU),
from July 2007 to July 2015. Mr. Zheng served as a deputy general
manager at the Shenzhen Wireless Data Research and Development
Centre of China Mobile Limited* (7 B % &) 7 JI| & 4R SR B 35 P
L) from August 2001 to December 2006. He was honoured the
“Breakthrough Award for Leading Individuals in China Property
Service Industry of 2021" in May 2021 and the “CEO of the Best
Listed Companies at the 40th Anniversary of the Development of the
Property Management Industry in Guangdong Province” in October
2021.

Biographical Details of Directors
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continued)

Mr. Cheng Siu Fai, aged 49, is an executive director of the Company.
He possesses extensive working experience in several aspects, such as
financial management, corporate finance, capital market and investor
relations. From April 2020 to November 2020, Mr. Cheng had served
as the vice president and the Chief Financial Officer of the Group and
was in charge of the relevant sectors of the Group, such as financial,
capital management, corporate finance, capital market operations and
investor relations. He graduated from Curtin University in Australia
with a bachelor’s degree in accounting and economics. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Cheng successively served as the finance manager,
general finance manager, financial controller of China Aoyuan and
vice president of international investment group of China Aoyuan
from July 2007 to April 2020. He has been re-appointed as vice
president of international investment group of China Aoyuan from
August 2021 to November 2021.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Guo Zining, aged 61, was the chairman of the board of directors
(the “Board”) and a non-executive director of the Company until he
resigned on 16 February 2023. He is also the chairman of nomination
committee (“Nomination Committee”) of the Company and a
member of remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”)
of the Company. Mr. Guo participated in the establishment of the
Company and has been serving China Aoyuan for over 20 years. He
is currently an executive director, vice chairman of the board and
chief executive officer of China Aoyuan as well as a director in certain
subsidiaries of China Aoyuan, and he is primarily responsible for the
administration, urban redevelopment business, and leads the party
committee, trade union and corporate culture of China Aoyuan.
Mr. Guo holds a postdoctoral certificate from the California State
University Monterey Bay in the United States and is a domestic visiting
scholar at Peking University in the PRC and a distinguished professor
of the School of Economics, Peking University. Mr. Guo is the elder
brother of Mr. Guo Ziwen, a controlling shareholder of the Company.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (Continued)

Mr. Ruan Yongxi, aged 43, is a non-executive director of the
Company. He graduated from Guangdong University of Foreign
Studies (B R INEINE KX E) in June 2002, majoring in accounting.
Mr. Ruan has over 20 years of experience in professional audit and
finance. He joined China Aoyuan in March 2018 and had served
as the director of the investment banking department (retired in
December 2018), assistant to the president of China Aoyuan (retired
in February 2021) and the vice president and the general manager
of strategic investment center of China Aoyuan (both retired on 1
August 2022). Mr. Ruan does not hold any position in China Aoyuan
Group currently. From April 2019 to June 2022, Mr. Ruan served as
the non-executive director of Gudou Holdings Limited (& S242 I A IR
‘A A]), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8308). From July 2014 to April 2015, he served as the
general manager of the finance department of Fantasia Group (China)
Co., Ltd.* ({e % F £ B (R E) R K 7F), which is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of Fantasia Holdings Group Co., Limited
(TEEF LR EE AR A A, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1777). Mr. Ruan was
the assistant chief financial officer of China Evergrande Group (9
18 K& E), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3333), from August 2008 to June 2014
and the manager of the audit and assurance department of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu CPA Limited (Guangzhou Branch) from October
2002 to August 2008.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement, aged 67, is an independent non-executive
director of the Company. He is also the chairman of each of the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) of the Company and the
Remuneration Committee as well as a member of the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Hung obtained a Bachelor of Arts Degree from
the University of Huddersfield (now University of Lincoin), United
Kingdom in 1980. He had served Deloitte China for 31 years where
he had assumed various leadership roles before he took up the
chairman position of Deloitte China from 2014 to 2016. Mr. Hung
retired from Deloitte China with effect from June 2016. When he
was working with Deloitte China, he had assumed various leadership
roles, including the managing partner of Deloitte Shenzhen office
and Guangzhou office. Mr. Hung was also a member of the China
management team of Deloitte China. He had also assumed the role
of the southern region audit leader and the deputy managing partner
of the southern region of China (including Hong Kong, Macau,
Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Xiamen and Changsha). Mr. Hung was also a
board member of Deloitte Global.

Mr. Hung served as the Guangzhou Institute of Certified Public
Accountants consultant from 2004 to 2014. During the period
between 2006 to 2011, he also served as a member of the Political
Consultative Committee of Luohu District, Shenzhen. After his
retirement as the chairman of Deloitte China, he was appointed as
an expert consultant of The Ministry of Finance in the PRC. Mr. Hung
is appointed as an independent supervisor of the 10th session of the
supervisory committee of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of
China, Ltd. with effect from 18 July 2022. He is a life member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. Hung has, in the past three years, served or is serving as a director
of each of the following listed companies whose shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange:

o an independent non-executive director of Gome Finance
Technology Company Limited (formerly known as Sino Credit
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 628) since 31 October 2016;

o an independent non-executive director of Sheng Ye Capital
Limited (stock code: 8469, the listing of the shares of which
has been transferred to the Main Board (stock code: 6069)
from the GEM of the Stock Exchange from 24 October 2019)
from 19 June 2017 to 15 July 2022;

o a non-executive director of High Fashion International Limited
(stock code: 608) since 1 December 2017;

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A

BWIAFRTESF

HEEEE 67 REARABILIENTE
Z2-WNRARABEZEZES ([BRERS])
RFEMEZEESETREUARREEZEGHE -tk
ER—NNTFEREFERERERE (R A
University of Lincoin) BXf5 3L 2 B+ B ] o {§
KRBEYHENF R —UFE-ZT
—NEEAEHTEEF —BASEETRZE
BERAT - HEER T —NFNAREHHEE
F o BREHFREMETTR 2 BEBT  2iE
EHRIPRERENPRAEZZHRAZTEIEAE
A o TR REE B 2 B R E K
B - BASHAEMRESTERERREEE
ERAGERRE - BF R ORI BN =
PFIRRY) e ENMBEEYBIR 2 EETEGKE ©

HEER _ZTTNFE T —FREEREMEM
gt eEE R-TEERFE_T——FH
B RAEHERNTEARBAHREZESR
B -REREEHTEZTFREER  BPEY
BMEEREAER - AELBRZERTETL
R (RE)RNAERAAETEEFE 2B
EE BT _FEATN\HBER -WAR
REMERSFFEAMAG2RIER -

HEEBR/ BE=ZFEHEEETH LEHAA
(BB RB P ) 2 &S

. B-Z-—R"FtA=+t—HBEFEEXS
R ER AR (FIEERIZERBR AT
PRAD 5% ¢ 628) 2 B IFMITES

. AT —+tHFNATLHRBREZT-—
A+ HAAMEETREERGRAR (K
MR 8469 F ZAFIRMNZZE—IF
TA-THBERBRAIER EmEAE
T PR ER - 6069) 2 B IEETT
ooy

. B-Z—tF+ A RBEEEMNER
SEBRQF (MR 608) 2 IFHIT
5%



INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(Continued)

o an independent non-executive director of China East Education
Holdings Limited (stock code: 667) since 25 November 2018;

o an independent non-executive director of Huarong
International Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 993) since
13 December 2019;

o an independent non-executive director of Skyworth Group
Limited (stock code: 751) since 18 March 2020;

o an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong
Aerospace Technology Group Limited (stock code: 1725) since
16 July 2021;

o an independent non-executive director of Zhongchang

International Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as
Henry Group Holdings Limited) (stock code: 859) from 12
January 2018 to 15 June 2020: and

o an independent non-executive director of Tibet Water
Resources Limited (stock code: 1115) from 31 December 2019
to 30 June 2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(Continued)

Dr. Li Zijun, aged 58, is an independent non-executive director of the
Company. He is also the member of each of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Dr. Li is currently the deputy director of the East Medical District,
the deputy director of the Union Center (1% %1 % /») and the head
physician of Gastroenterology in Guangdong General Hospital (& 5
H AR BBT). He was a post-doctoral researcher at the University of
Pennsylvania in the United States of America, a doctoral supervisor
at Southern Medical University, a vice chairman of the Enteropathy
Alliance of the Chinese Association of Integrative Medicine, and
a member of the Standing Committees of the Chinese Geriatrics
Society and Chinese Society of Gastroenterology. Dr. Li possesses
more than 30 years of extensive clinical and teaching experience in
the field of gastroenterology and is an expert in medical treatment
and endoscopic treatment of chronic stomach, intestinal, liver and
pancreatic diseases. He had been qualified to practice as a chief
physician of Internal Medicine (A= 74 E Bl) since March 1995 and
a deputy chief physician of Gastroenterology (;&1t REI&IE{E) since
December 1999, and has been a chief physician of Gastroenterology
(JB{b A%} = ) since February 2006. Dr. Li obtained a Master's
Degree in Internal Medicine (A%} £) from Tongji Medical College
([R5 B FL K E) in the PRC in June 1992 and a Doctor’s Degree in
Internal Medicine (I %}&) from Sun Yat-Sen Medical University (7
I E& 7K E) in the PRC in July 2011, and has published a number of
dissertations so far. He received a Guangdong Science and Technology
Award (Second Class) (&5 & BHE# 7 #2 (— % #2)) for his research
on experimental study on the mechanism and prevention of intestinal
mucosal inflammatory injury (B5ZHIEA 1B S S8 B B 5 5T)
by People’s Government of Guangdong Province in the PRC (F° B &
A ARBUF) in July 2009. Dr. Li was successively awarded the titles
of "Good Doctor in Guangzhou” and “Lingnan Renowned Doctor”.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(Continued)

Mr. Wang Shao, aged 51, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. He is also the member of each of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Wang has been serving Guangdong Real Estate Association (& &
BEMEITERE) since October 1994 and is currently the president
where he is responsible for its overall management, including
strategic planning, public relations and presiding the council meeting.
Since August 2017, He has been serving as an external supervisor of
A-Living Smart City Services Co., Ltd.* (H 4 /& %25 2 35 1 AR 75 A% {5
B BR A 7], formerly known as A-Living Services Co., Ltd.* (F /& %
M4 VE R B 1D A BR A &), whose shares have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3319), where he is
responsible for supervising the board and the senior management
of the company. Mr. Wang is a special supervisor of Guangdong
Provincial Local Taxation Bureau (B A A B HIFEEEE), a
director of China Real Estate Association (T EIEHE %1 €18 %),
the president of Guangdong Southern Real Estate Magazine (& &
(A BEMEYM 74 &) and an adjunct professor of Guangdong
Construction Vocational and Technical College (&5 i :% B 2 B fir 22
Bt 22 EE 2437 ). He obtained a diploma from Sun Yat-Sen University (&
LK 2 in the PRC in June 1995, majoring in Real Estate Brokerage
and Management, and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Administration
Management from the same university in July 1999. Mr. Wang was
also honored as the Outstanding Member in the National Real Estate
Industry (2B EHETEESHE TIEE) in May 2014.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report
LEETLIRE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the”Director(s)”) of the
Company is pleased to report to the shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company in the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards and a
culture of openness are essential in providing a framework for the
Group to safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate its business strategies and policies, facilitate effective
contribution, and enhance its transparency and accountability, thereby
enabling shareholders’ evaluation of the Company’s application of
the principles and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code") contained in Part 2 — Principles of Good Corporate
Governance, Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has adopted the CG Code as the basis of the
Company’s corporate governance practices.

The Company has also in place a corporate governance framework
and has established a set of policies and procedures based on the
CG Code. Such policies and procedures provide the infrastructure for
enhancing the Board’s ability to implement governance and exercise
proper oversight on business conduct and affairs of the Company.
In addition, the Board meets regularly to consider major matters
affecting the operations of the Group and all Directors are properly
and promptly briefed on such matters with adequate, complete and
reliable information. Therefore, the Board is of the view that the
balance of power and safeguards in place are adequate.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31 December
2022, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code, except for code provisions C.1.6, F.2.2 and
D.3.3(e)(i).

Code provision C.1.6 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Code provision F.2.2 stipulates that the chairman of
the board should attend the annual general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES (Continued)

Mr. Guo Zining (the then chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)),
Mr. Ruan Yongxi, Dr. Li Zijun and Mr. Wang Shao were not able
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24
August 2022. However, the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors who were absent had shared their views
before the general meetings and there were other executive
Director(s) and non-executive Director(s) participating the general
meetings for gaining and developing a balanced understanding of
views of shareholders.

Code provision D.3.3(e)(i) provides that the audit committee
should liaise with the board and senior management and the audit
committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s
auditor. However, due to the delay in publication of the annual results
for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 and the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2022, the Audit Committee did not
meet with external auditors twice during the Year in compliance with
code provision D.3.3(e)(i).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the Year.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the “Employees
Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the Required Standard
of Dealings for securities transactions by employees who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised 6 Directors, consisting
of 1 executive Director, namely Mr. Cheng Siu Fai, 2 non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Guo Zining (chairman) and Mr. Ruan Yongxi,
and 3 independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hung Ka Hai
Clement, Dr. Li Zijun and Mr. Wang Shao.

The biographical information of the current Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” on pages 51 to
57 of this annual report.

Apart from the details disclosed in “Biographical Details of Directors”,
none of the members of the Board is related to one another.

Board Meetings

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors. The chairman of
the Board is primarily responsible for approving the agenda for each
Board meetings, taking into account, where appropriate, matters
proposed by other Directors for inclusion in the agenda. With the
support of the company secretary of the Company and other senior
management, all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings and receive adequate, reliable, and relevant
information in a timely manner. All Directors are in possession of
Board meeting materials at least 3 days prior to each Board meetings,
thus allowing the Board to make informed and effective decisions.
The chairman of the Board also actively encourages Directors to fully
engaged in the Board affairs and make contribution the Board'’s
functions.

During the Year, a total of 6 Board meetings were held. The Board
meetings were held to determine overall strategic direction and
objectives, approve interim and annual results, and discuss other
significant matters on the businesses and operations of the Group.
Details of the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings are set out
under “Attendance Records of Directors” on page 70 of this annual
report.

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for providing effective
leadership, and ensuring transparency and accountability of the
Group's operations. It sets the Company’s values and aims at
enhancing shareholders’ value. It formulates the Group’s overall
strategy and policies and sets corporate and management targets, key
operational initiatives as well as policies on risk management pursuant
to the Group’s strategic objectives.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Year, the position of Chairman was held by Mr. Guo Zining
and he provided leadership and was responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The Company does not at
present have any officer with the title “chief executive officer”. During
the Year, the functions of chief executive officer were performed by
Mr. Zheng Wei, an ex-executive Director, who was also the president
of the Group before his resignation on 1 September 2022. After the
resignation of Mr. Zheng Wei, the functions of chief executive officer
were performed by the executive Director(s). The Board considered
that this structure would not impair the balance of the power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
and had been effective in discharging its responsibilities satisfactorily
and facilitating the Company’s operation and business development.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors representing more than one-third of the board
with one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to
renewal after the expiry of their current term.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meetings. Under the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the directors for the time being, or if
their number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. The Articles of Association also
provides that all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. The retiring directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations. The independent non-executive Directors will also be able
to provide an impartial, external opinion to protect the interests of
our public shareholders. Where material conflict of interest arises, a
physical Board meeting with the attendance of the independent non-
executive Directors will be held.

All Directors and the board committees of the Company have full
and timely access to all the information of the Company and may,
upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their duties
to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management. Such delegation
arrangement is regularly reviewed in order to ensure its effectiveness.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management (Continued)

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the
Company’s key plant sites and meetings with senior management of
the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate.

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the Year, the Company organised trainings for the Directors.
In addition, relevant materials including the directors’ duties and role
and function of board committees, risk management and internal
control, ESG reporting (as defined below) and the directors’ roles on
corporate governance have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
(Continued)

The training records of the Directors for the Year are summarised as

follows:

Directors B=
Executive Director HITEE
Cheng Siu Fai g0y
Non-Executive Directors FHITESE
Guo Zining CilyRaes
Ruan Yongxi B oK

Independent Non-Executive Directors BV HEHTEE

Hung Ka Hai Clement HEE

Li Zijun e

Wang Shao T8

Note:

Types of Training

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,

seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading/studying relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In order to achieve good corporate governance practices and
procedures, the Board has established three committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs
and reporting back to the Board on their decisions, recommendations
and findings. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties and are given sufficient resources to duly
perform their respective duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website for review by the shareholders of the Company
and public investors.

Audit Committee

During the Year, the Audit Committee consisted of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement (as
chairman), Dr. Li Zijun and Mr. Wang Shao. Mr. Hung Ka Hai
Clement, the chairman of the Audit Committee, has the appropriate
professional qualifications, accounting and related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
review and supervise the financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems, and the internal audit department (the
“Internal Audit Department”) of the Group, oversee our audit
process and perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by
our Board.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Year to review
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and internal audit function,
appointment of external auditors, engagement of non-audit services,
relevant scope of works, connected transactions and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

Due to delay in the publication of the annual results for the financial
year ended 31 December 2021 and the interim results for the
financial year ended 30 June 2022, the Audit Committee did not
meet with external auditors twice during the Year in compliance with
code provision D.3.3(e)(i), and review the interim and annual financial
results and reports during the Year at the meetings.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee consisted of four
members, being three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement (as chairman), Dr. Li Zijun, Mr. Wang Shao
and a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Guo Zining.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are to consult the chairman of
the Board about their remuneration proposals for other executive
Directors, make recommendation to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management, assessing performance of the executive Directors,
make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Directors’ and senior management and reviewing and/or
approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the Year
to consider the relevant matters regarding/to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band are
set out in note 9 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the Year.

Nomination Committee

During the Year, the Nomination Committee consisted of four
members, being a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Guo Zining (as
the then chairman) and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement, Dr. Li Zijun and Mr. Wang Shao.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in
compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are to make

recommendations to our Board on the appointment and removal of
our Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving and maintaining diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant
criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary
to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the Year to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and to review
and access the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, and to consider the qualifications of the retiring directors
standing for election at the annual general meeting of the Company.
The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained and has not set any
measurable objective implementing the Board Diversity Policy.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity of
the Board. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversify at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, in relation to reviewing and
assessing the Board composition on an annual basis, the Nomination
Committee is committed to diversify at all levels and will consider a
number of aspects, including but not limited to skills, knowledge,
gender, age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, length of services and any other factors that
the Board might consider relevant and applicable from time to time.
All Board appointments will be made on meritocracy and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of the diversity on the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, skills, age,
professional experience, knowledge, cultural, educational background,
ethnicity and length of service. The Nomination Committee will discuss
and agree annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
overall management and strategic development, human resources,
information technology, accounting and financial management, risk
management, corporate governance and evaluation of properties
and assets. They obtained degrees in various majors including
business administration, project management, commerce in finance
and business analytics, medicine and heating ventilation and air
conditioning engineering. We have three independent non-executive
Directors with different industry backgrounds, representing more
than one third of the members of our Board. Furthermore, our Board
has a wide range of age, ranging from 43 years old to 67 years old.
Taking into account our existing business model and specific needs
as well as the different backgrounds of our Directors, at present, the
composition of our Board satisfies our Board Diversity Policy. During
the Year, the Board did not have female director, but the Board will
try to achieve the target of appointing at least 1 female director in the
coming future.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revision that may be required and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

For the gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management),
please refer to ESG in this annual report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which
sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board succession
planning considerations in relation to nomination and appointment
of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Director Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

o Skills, experience and professional expertise — the candidate
should possess the skills, knowledge, experience, qualification
and professional expertise which are relevant to the operation
of the Group.

o Diversity — the candidate should be considered with due regard
to the diversity perspectives set out in the board diversity policy
of the Company.

o Commitment — the candidate should be able to devote
sufficient time to attend the board meetings and participate in
induction, training and other relevant activities.

o Standing — the candidate must satisfy the Board and the
Stock Exchange that he/she has the character, experience and
integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of competence
commensurate with the relevant position as a director of the
Company.

o Independence — the candidate to be nominated as an
independent non-executive Director must satisfy the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for
the selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of
Directors at general meetings. During the Year, there was one change
in the composition of the Board as below:

1. Mr. Zheng Wei resigned as an executive Director and the
president of the Group, with effect from 1 September 2022.

Save as disclosed, there was no other change in the composition of
the Board during the Year.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

Notice of at least 14 days have been given for regular board meetings,
and reasonable notice have been given for other board meetings.
The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held
during the Year is set out in the table below:

EEELEMAE
EEeRBETEXRBATMNTAIREA2.1
fiR P BT BB BE

FRN - EFGCEHMARACEERHERER -
EENESRERENHIIRSEERERE AR
AR R B R B TARLERENR - BTREST

A EEEMESIARRARETHNALEE
AHERNCEERTREENER -

EFEHEEHCH

PITEEESRCRLEL4RNBAN  ME
MWEFSSACHLAERM FEFNFAL
FEFEREFZBRERLARABRRAEH
FCEREN T

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEGERY/ERETNEY
Independent Annual
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Investigation General
Board  Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting
BuRE
Name of Director EEpg Ezg EnZEE HMzEE REZEe ZE® RRBEEAE
Mr. Zheng Wei (resigned on ot — 3 NAMER  NAMER O NATNER NATER 01
1 September 2022) NLR—REH)
Mr. Cheng Siu Fai BrBRE 66 NAMER  NANER  NATER  NATER 101
Mr. Guo Zining (resigned on PEBEE(R_T_=F 66 NATER 22 W NATERE 01
16 February 2023) ZRATAAER)
Mr. Ruan Yongxi k&L E 66 NATER  NATER  NATERE 414 01
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement REEEE 6/6 33 Wy i 44 1/1
Dr. Li Zjun XSt 6/6 33 1 2 414 01
Mr. Wang Shao THEE 6/6 33 2 22 4/4 o1
Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also discussed with X - R THEE@ S HI >  THEMEHMBES
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other ~ N7EIHZAIIE N T LIS 3F$71ﬁ% FEiwm-BEFY

RN EEERTE L RCHEZ AR (H
BREHB )HTEEEH?E?%»B’\?‘&AIE Pkt

Directors during the Year. The minutes of each of the board meetings
and committee meetings are duly recorded in sufficient detail and are
available for inspection by any Director on reasonable notice.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness
annually. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including ESG-related risks) it
is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
and establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems (including those for ESG-
related risks).

The Audit Committee, assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines in relation to, among others, corporate
governance, risk evaluation and management, anti-corruption,
disclosure of information, confidentiality and financial reporting in
order to achieve effective and efficient operations, reliable financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and
various aspects including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security. Self-evaluation and
review have been conducted annually to confirm that control policies
are properly complied with by each department.

The management, in coordination with department heads, assessed
the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and
monitor the risk management progress, and reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the
systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control systems for the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(Continued)

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the Year, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate. The risk management
and internal control systems review is performed annually. It also
covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examined key issues in relation to the accounting
practices and all material controls and provided its findings and
recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year. The senior
management of the Company provides adequate explanation
and information to the Board, including monthly updates of the
Company’s performance and position, enabling the Board to make
informed assessments.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 150 to 155 of this annual
report.

Where appropriate, a statement from the Audit Committee explaining
its recommendation regarding the selection, appointment, resignation
or dismissal of external auditors and the reasons why the Board has
taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the Year amounted
to RMB4,100,000 and 0 respectively. An analysis of the remuneration
paid to the external auditors of the Company, Zhonghui Anda CPA
Limited, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
Year is set out below:

PR % %8 5

Service Categories

EAZ RS
FREZIRF

Audit Services
Non-audit Services
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4,100,000

4,100,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chak Wai Ting (“Ms. Chak”) is the company secretary of the
Company. She is an employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affair. Ms. Chak reports to the Board
and assists the Board in functioning effectively and efficiently. All
Directors have access to the advice and services of Ms. Chak who
is responsible for ensuring the Board policies and procedures are
followed and communications among Directors on the Company’s
corporate governance and secretarial and administrative matters.

For the Year, Ms. Chak has undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels.

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting/Right to
call an Extraordinary General Meeting

Shareholders may request the Company to convene a general meeting
according to the provision as set out in the Articles of Association and
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. A copy of the Articles of
Association can be found on the Company’s website. The procedures
for shareholders to nominate a person for election as a director of the
Company is available on the Company’s website with title “Procedures
for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director of the
Company”.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director of the Company

The Company also adopted a set of procedures for putting forward
proposals by the shareholders at general meetings.

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a director
of the Company for election as a director at a general meeting, he/
she can deposit a written notice at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Board and
Company Secretary. The period for lodgment of such written notice
shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the notice of general
meeting and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director of the Company (Continued)

In order for the Company to inform shareholders of that proposal,
the written notice must state the full name of the person proposed
for election as a Director, including the person’s biographical details
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the
shareholder concerned and that person indicating his/her willingness
to be elected.

In order to allow the shareholders have sufficient time to receive and
consider the proposal of election of the proposed person as a director
of the Company, shareholders are encouraged to submit and lodge
the written notice as early as practicable.

Putting Forward Enquiries and Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries and proposals at shareholders’
meetings to the Board, shareholders may send written enquiries and
proposals, along with the shareholders’ full name to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Units 1901-02, 19th Floor, One Peking, No. 1 Peking
Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong (For the
attention of the Board/Company Secretary)

Fax: +852 3907 0333

Email: general@aoyuanhealthy.com
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s website (www.aoyuanjksh.com) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of the Company
to the shareholders, other stakeholders and investors. The Company
will also update the website from time to time to inform shareholders
and investors of the latest development of the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company is endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the Year, the amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association was adopted by the shareholders of the
Company on 24 August 2022 for reflecting the amendments made
to the relevant Listing Rules, including Appendix 3 to the Listing
Rules with effect from 1 January 2022. An up-to-date version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is also available
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy, which can be downloaded from the Company’s
website, is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of
dividends. The payment and amounts of dividends, if any, depend on
the Company'’s results of operations, cash flows, financial position,
statutory and regulatory restrictions on the dividends paid by us,
future prospects and other factors which the Company considers
relevant.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A

HERRREERE HEERRE

AN B 4 uf (www.aoyuanjksh.com) & % 5~ H
BOERREERBEEBALATNEEANNE
FFTE R ER o KD E IR ARk LB A
ERIEEERNDRRINEE -

ARARE  BRREBEBE R REEBR
FEEETHRARENEBRALRBERER -
ARRFBIRTFERR 2 HNFEHE  LHEZ
BEBERBFRGRAMERAS - RERESF
AL EF(FHBERARERBERME)) LR
SEI EEREEFOHR

BEXH

RERN ARaREARZE__FNA=Z+WEA
RNEEFI B EBERRNARER] - AR
HBEBLEMHRAEL 288 BEE =T ==

—A—HRERZ ETRBME= - KRR &
bR N B 48 42 25 2 K4 K 4 A1) IR TS A AN A ) 48 uh
Ko B 22 P A8 o

B R WA I 3R

ARREHERRBBEE  UWHERRRNER
LREDERGRZERE - ARAEEHEMZK
R (ATRA R B R T 8) UREREA R -

ARBIERMABERIK BB BB BR - BEH
RN R e/ (A BURR A AR MEERES -]
TRE - MBARR - HRARN B EEE RS
ERS  REAREARBRBH/BEOEMERE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS ESG REPORT

Report Overview

This Report is the fifth environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
report (the “Report”) published by Aoyuan Healthy Life Group
Company Limited (“Aoyuan Healthy” or the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group” or
“We") for the disclosure of the Group’s commitments, practices, and
performance in ESG from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the
"Reporting Period”, “FY2022", or “2022"). This Report is available
on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

Reporting Scope

This Report discloses the ESG performance of the Group’s three
business segments in PRC, including commercial operations, property
management, and general health and wellness business. The data
sources disclosed in the Report are the Group’s total 363 projects,
representing an increase of 59 projects compared with the previous
year.

Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in compliance with all the applicable
provisions outlined in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange.
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Reporting Principles wERA

In the process of preparation of this Report, the Group has adhered to  RFEEARRENBREF  AEES BT CGRE -
the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as the L& & EJATRE RSV ERMA THRERE -
following:

e The Group has commenced materiality assessment to identify material issues
during the Reporting Period, thereby adopting the confirmed material issues as
the focus for preparing the Report. The Board and the Departmental Management
reviewed and approved the materiality of issues. Please refer to the sections

AF headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” for further

Materiality N 929 y

EEE o FEEORBENMETERNTEURNEARE  AMKCRIANEAZEESR
AHRENRREN ESERPMEEECFHRNERENEEY - BRE-—SF
& B2HEHESRIREEMTEIWE -

e Each departments of the Group coordinates to collect and record the key
performance data regarding the environment and society, thereby presenting the
Group's performance in the environmental and social key performance indicators

L ("KPIs") through quantified data disclosed in the Report to explain any standards,

Quantltatwe methodologies, and sources of conversion factors used in calculating emissions

d energy consumption.
21t "

o AEEEZBMBARERCEFARIRCENHRBAREE KMEBRREHMK
ENELCEEZIAEEARRERAEARANER(ARARER) A ANKR
DEE HENREREEREANRE FERBRRBRE-

¢ The Group describes each issue in an accurate, unbiased, and fair manner and
discloses both positive and negative information about the Group during the
Reporting Period to ensure the content balance and help readers reasonably
Balance assess the overall performance of the Group.

ZE o REESM AEELNER - ACRATHAIEASERE LREARAEEY
ITEREEEH LERARTERNDEEAEFAAEENERES -

e The preparation approach of this Report is substantially consistent with the
previous year, and explanations are provided regarding data with changes in the
scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies to ensure a year-to-year data

Consistency comparison.

—ﬂﬁ o ABEZHERGUHREFAE-B URRBEERAESIZTALRLZB2HER
HEE - URREBRELE -
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Vision and Mission

The Group is committed to developing a leading technology-oriented
healthy life service group in China. Upholding the corporate core
values of “Efficiency, Integrity, Responsibility, Win-win”, the Group
aims to achieve the brand philosophy of “Living a Healthy and
Beautiful Life” sustainably. New thinking, new ideas and “Internet
+ Big Data” are applied in the services under the general health and
wellness business. The Group endeavours to build a comprehensive
healthy life platform for the public and work with different
stakeholders to create a harmonious and sustainable future.

Contact and Feedback

Your feedback is valuable to our continuous improvement, and
we welcome any comments and suggestions you may have on this
Report. You are welcome to provide valuable feedback on this Report
or our sustainability performance at www.aoyuanjksh.com.

Forward-looking Statements

This Report contains forward-looking statements based on the
current expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs, and assumptions
of the Group about the businesses and the markets in which it
and its subsidiaries operate. The forward-looking statement is
not a guarantee of future performance and is subject to market
risk, uncertainties, and factors beyond the control of the Group.
Therefore, actual outcomes and returns may differ materially from the
assumptions and statements in this Report.
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BOARD STATEMENTS AND ESG GOVERNANCE =SB RESGE A4

STRUCTURE

The Board
BExg

ERAREBMABEGER

strategies
RELESGE B 77 E KR I

] ESGAHRE B 15 R IR

e Oversee all the Group’s ESG issues

e Provide ESG management approaches and

e Review ESG-related goals and targets

Departmental Management

EBPEE B
Formulate ESG policies and ESG Working Group
procedures ESG T{E4
Il 7E ESG UK R iR P o Collect and analyse ESG data
Evaluate the effectiveness of Wik R DT ESG E &
ESG policies and supervise the e Support the preparation of ESG
implementation of the plan to reach reports annually
ESG goals M AREFEESGHE
FHEESGER BB Mt - W BE BT
SN EE - ESIESG B R
J J
EFEgEEESGER

Board's Oversight of ESG Issues

The Group has established a top-down ESG governance structure

consisting of a tripartite combination of the Board, the departmental
management and the ESG Working Group. As the chief decision
maker, the Board sets the direction for sustainable development and
takes full responsibility for the Group’s ESG matters. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s ESG strategies and results presented in this
Report, supervises the annual assessment of the impact of potential
ESG issues on the Group and related risks, and urges the Group to
implement relevant ESG policies accurately. The current management
system will be reviewed and improved to ensure that the evaluation
mechanism will be carried out effectively.
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The senior management formulates relevant ESG policies and
procedures in line with the development direction, objectives and
priorities the Board sets and implements controlling measures. An
ESG affairs management meeting is organised once every half year.
Significant participants include the Board members, the President
of the Group, the ESG Working Group leader, relevant functional
department heads, and supervisors.

The ESG Working Group

Under the leadership of the Board, the ESG Working Group,
comprised of core personnel from various central operational
departments who are familiar with the day-to-day business
operations, is responsible for handling ESG issues during the Reporting
Period, including briefing ESG targets, strategies, and initiatives to
the Board, assisting in the preparation of this Report, monitoring and
recording environmental and social data, responding to stakeholders’
expectations, etc. The relevant ESG results and material issues have
regularly been reported to the Board for target review and effective
supervision.

The Board confirms that it has reviewed and approved this Report. To
the best of its knowledge, this Report fairly addresses the identified
material issues and presents the ESG management approach and
performance of the Group.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding
its business and ESG aspects. The Group regularly communicates
with its stakeholders to understand their concerns and opinions.
Based on the industry background and sustainable development,
our key stakeholders are included but not limited to shareholders
and investors, customers, employees, suppliers, communities and
NGOs, media, and the public, as well as government and regulatory
authorities. We aim to identify potential risks and opportunities for
the Group, thus improving our business operations and quality service
for better ESG performance.

The Group has put in place a variety of communication channels,
timely disclosing information on its operations and ESG performance
and other aspects to stakeholders. In this way, we enhance
stakeholders’ understanding and recognition of the Group and
integrate the collected stakeholders’ expectations into our operations
to protect their right to information and participation. The following
table provides an overview of the Group’s main stakeholders and
various communication channels to reach and respond.
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BR HERELEE

Major Stakeholders Engagement Channels

TEFHOE BHERRE

Shareholders and Investors °

BREZEE

Customers °

zP

Employees o
8T

Suppliers o
e

Communities and NGOs .

A B & IR U 4B A

Media and the Public .
HE R AR

Government and Regulatory Authorities o

2Y PN 1

Annual general meeting

BRERBFRE

Annual and interim reports
FRME LT ERE

Press releases, announcements and circulars
BT 2E REK

Company website

NGRS

Customer service hotline

B RIS

Customer complaint mechanism
BRI

Social media

HE e

Questionnaires

HEMS

Training, seminars, and briefing sessions
Bl BERENE

Performance reviews

BEZ

Employee complaint mechanism

B T At

Supplier evaluation meetings
R AR

Supplier audit

HEREZ

Community activities
@R E

Employees volunteer activities
EEEIES

Sponsor and donation

By NBERE

ESG report

ESG ¥R

Company website

NGIFED

Press releases, announcements and circulars
TER - AERBK

Written or electronic correspondence
EEXEFRIE
Phone meetings

AT &y i
EE,FIEEEEF‘
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Due to the wide range of ESG topics, the Group made a preliminary
analysis of ESG issues with reference to different levels in the
environmental and social aspects specified in the ESG Reporting
Guide, global sustainability agenda and international best practices.
The Board identified the 17 most closely related ESG issues for the
Year after continuously considering the overall market trends and
stakeholders’ views. A materiality assessment survey was compiled
with the identified material issues to solicit stakeholder views and
feedback to prioritise the ESG issues. The ESG Working Group
analysed the questionnaire responses to assess each ESG issues’
impact on the Group’s sustainable operation and stakeholders. The
senior management eventually reviewed the materiality assessment
results to ensure all essential aspects were covered. Through internal
discussion, the validated ESG issues are approved for adoption.

In this Report, the material issues refer to what may significantly
impact the Group’s commercial operations, property management,
and general health and wellness business or have a practical impact
on stakeholders. The results are summarised in the matrix below:

High
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A

E/
&
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- Y- o

14/

Impact on the Group's Stakeholders

©

Social and Governance Report
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Aoyuan Healthy’s Materiality Matrix
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Material Issues Material Issues
EERE EERE

1. Brand Building 10.  Labour Standards
R BR 4 T AR

2. Customer Experience 11. Employment Practices
EEER BREER

3. Product Responsibility 12.  Supply Chain Management
EmEE HrEgEEIe

4. Anti-Corruption 13. Community Investment
RES FEIRE

5. Training and Development 14.  Climate Change
Al & B R RiEE (b

6. Advertising 15.  Waste Management
BEEE BB E R

7. Innovation Development 16.  Emissions
BlFh R R

8. Occupational Health and Safety 17.  COVID-19 Response
BERERLE 2019 F BB =R IE L H5 b

9. Use of Resources
BIRE A

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS IN FY2022 BAR-SZ-MERHRRR

e | ower water consumption by 40%
AKE[EE40%

e Conduct over 50,000 training hours
F R AR 850,000/ 5555l

 Energy consumption reduced by
more than 2 times

BeREFEm D215 L E
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

A.

Environmental

The Group values the importance of sound environmental
management and is committed to fulfilling the commitment
to the well-being of society. The Group understands that its
business activities and operations may pose different levels of
impact on the environment; thus, it manages each business’s
emission and use of resources, reduces operational impacts
on the surrounding environment, and adheres to the green
development philosophy. The Group has formulated related
environmental management systems and procedures for daily
operations, which regulate the emissions and waste generated
during the process and the use of resources to reduce carbon
footprint and engage in the conservation of natural resources
and environment to protect the environment and to fulfil its
long-term sustainable development goals.

A1. Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with environmentally
related laws and regulations in relation to exhaust
gas and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, water
and land discharge, and the generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such relevant laws
and regulations include but are not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC ({(FRZEE AR
HFEIRIERE L)), the Water Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the PRC ({FFZE A R B K5 2
558 3%)), and the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of
Hong Kong ({Z2 /)5 2 & $l1&51)).
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Air Emissions

The Group’s air emissions included nitrogen oxides,
sulphur oxides and respirable suspended particulates
generated from the use of vehicles.

Air Emissions

BER BE R

Types of Air Emissions

BERBF A

Nitrogen Oxides (NO)
fﬁﬁﬂi%(NO)

Sulphur Oxides (SO,)
&1L (S0o)

Respirable Suspended Particulates (PM)
A IR A& IZ KL T (PM)

To reduce air emissions from vehicles, the Group has
established internal guidelines, including requiring all
internal transport or patrol vehicles to comply with
EU-6 standards to ensure compliance with the latest
emission standards; using eco-friendly unleaded petrol;
limiting the use and speed of vehicles; shutting down
the engine after parking; regular maintenance on
vehicles, generators, and other fuel equipment. The
Group is also strengthening greening to filter and
absorb harmful pollutants.

GHG Emissions

Greenhouse gas is considered one of the major
contributors to climate change and global warming.
The primary source of greenhouse gas emissions of the
Group comprises direct emissions (Scope 1) that come
from vehicle fuel, refrigerants, as well as stationary
energy fuel, such as diesel for emergency generators.
The indirect emissions (Scope 2) are from purchased
electricity.
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During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emissions ﬁiﬁﬁﬁq REEFREREHNR
of the Group equalled 34,530 tonnes of carbon dioxide M2 FE R 34,5308 — A1t )fE?%
equivalent (“tCO,e"), representing a dramatic decrease ((W-EtHmEE])  BK_T—
compared to 2021. To reduce GHG emissions, the FERBRD  BRARERIEHEN
Group has an initial target: introduce electric vehicles REECHEIFEE  ZBBE
and renewable energy, such as solar energy, into ARSI BEE))TE KA A AR
businesses as much as possible. TR (ARG 8E) o

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

o= R (GHG) HER
Different Scope of GHG Emissions Unit' FY2022 FY2021
BMERBHERNTREE By —ECHME —ZE-_UF
Scope 1 tCO,e 405 9,887
#E 1 Wbk E 2
Scope 2 tCO,e 34,125 49,357
wE2 = S &
Total GHG Emissions tCO,e 34,530 59,244
BERBHEREE WA biRE 2
GHG Emissions Intensity? tCO ,e/employee 11.16 15.79
BMEREHENEE? —EiREE

EE

Notes: Miat -
1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon 1. B E BEEREB AR E

dioxide equivalent and are based on, but not limited to,
“The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the HKEX, the latest released emission factors
of China’s regional power grid basis.

The intensity data is calculated based on the number of
the Group’s employees (total of 3,093 employees), and
this data is also used for calculating other intensities data.

5‘]1%5@(1@TB&73’3)1&?§§
ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘?\ﬂﬁgﬁﬁlﬁ
BEFUMNWDRERBATE
CERERBMSEN] FEX
SITEME[IARERE &
RERRE-—ME_  RIFEHER
MR RIE RIS 5| R &M
H AP B [ 1 A A AR B R 2
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Sewage Discharge

The Group’s wastewater is mainly generated from
cleaning and maintaining work. Uncontrolled sewage
discharge can pose significant risks to the surrounding
environment. Therefore, the Group has established
procedures to regulate sewage collection, treatment,
and discharge. During the Reporting Period, the Group
generated 858,400 tonnes of wastewater.

Sewage Discharge

TR

REFRSKEIBEREBZBERMEE
TE o RZEVENS/KBERR AT B ¥
FERFEREARR - Bt - &
EECHIERESKRE BER
HEHRE - REHAN > AEEE
A 858,400 ME fE5 7K o

75 KB

Unit

B
Total Sewage Discharge tonnes
FREERBEE I
Sewage Discharge Intensity tonnes/employee
TR EE W, 1E &

The Group also strives to reduce wastewater discharge
and avoid pollution of pure natural water sources. To
prevent sewage spill-over, the Group controls water
usage by cleaning and using sewage interception
facilities, such as waterproof barriers or catchment
ditches. The Group also conducts regular inspections
and maintenance of drainage pipes and gutters
to eliminate sewage leakage. The Group has also
endeavoured to improve the production process and
implement clean production to minimise sewage
generation from the source.

Waste Management

The Group is committed to promoting the best use
of resources in all working locations to reduce waste
production from sources. The Group’s non-hazardous
wastes are mainly generated from office administrative
activities, and hazardous wastes are attributable to
office decoration and routine maintenance.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A

FY2022 FY2021
—E-CBE T -BF

858,400 1,539,595

277.53 410.23
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During the Period, the Group generated a total of
194.14 tonnes of non-hazardous waste and 458 tonnes
(includes weight of indivisible construction waste
during demolition) of hazardous waste. The increase
in hazardous waste was due to the refurbishment of
offices, producing a significant amount of waste oil,
paint and lamp tubes containing mercury.

Waste Management

B HERELEE

B AEEHREL 19414 8EE
FE Y I 458 TE (B I H B2
TANEMELEEEYES)NE
EREEY) c BEEEYIEMI AR
WARTHELE T RESRNER
HRREE o

BRYER
Types of Waste Disposal Unit
BEYEEESR B
Hazardous and Construction Waste tonnes
BEEREEREEY Mg
Hazardous Waste Intensity tonnes/employee
EEEENTE WA/ &
Non-hazardous Waste tonnes
BEBERY 7]
Non-hazardous Waste Intensity tonnes/employee
BEERVETE W, B8

We plan to reduce non-hazardous waste generation by
increasing the recycling rate, especially for glasses and
printing papers. The Group strives to use recyclable
office consumables and minimise the use of plastic
bags. The electronic method is adopted instead of
writing to reduce the reliance on paper. To ensure the
non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group are
properly handled, we also promote waste reduction,
such as publicising waste sorting to owners of our
projects and parks, recycling discarded materials
through waste sorting, helping projects to control
waste from the source, sending workers to collect the
recyclable waste regularly, improving the utilisation of
recyclable resources. To prevent leakage, hazardous
waste must be placed in a sealed container during
removal and transportation. Other containers should be
covered with sealing measures, and signs and warning
signs should be affixed. The hazardous waste will be
handled by a licensed third party finally.

FY2022 FY2021
—EBEBE —T-—HF

458 9.42
0.15 0.0025
194.14 79.42
0.063 0.021
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A2.

Use of Resources

The Group treasures all resources, including energy,
water, and raw materials, for a sustainable and
responsible business. We are exploring energy-saving
and green management measures to reduce resource
consumption as much as possible.

The Group has formulated the Office Behaviour Code
(> E1THA%R])) to manage office resources such
as electricity, water, and paper. All the employees
are required to follow the rule of “Three cleanings,
Three offs”, namely, “garbage cleaning, aisle cleaning,
desktop cleaning, power off, air conditioning off, and
turning taps off.” In addition, the Group organises
environmental protection meetings and training on a
regular basis.

Energy
During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed

a total of 57,059.66 MWh of energy with an energy
consumption intensity of 18.45 MWh per employee.

A2.

Energy Consumption

BEFUH

Types of Energy Consumption Unit
BRHEER B
Direct Energy Consumption MWh
BRI KRB
Petrol MWh
b JK L
Diesel MWh
ey KL
Natural Gas MWh
RAR JKFLIF
LPG MWh
RAL AR JK LB
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RiRER
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R MAEETHAESTI=F=H]
WRE - BB RN B RBE
BREREM - BFER  BEM=RL
FARI/KBESR] o AN REEINE
HIE SRR 3 Mgl -

BER

MEBA AEEBXBREER
57,059.66 K FL& + T B T H#E
TRERERE A1845IK R ©

FY2022 FY20212
—E_CBF T —EF
1,126.64 50,046.49
232.33 1,687

145.5 154.37

343.63 48,205.12
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Energy Consumption

B HERELEE

RERHAE
Indirect Energy Consumption MWh
8 5% BEJRUH 72 KRB
Purchased Electricity MWh
HNEE T I FL B
Total Energy Consumption MWh
HFERE JK LB
Energy Consumption Intensity MWh/employee
BERHAERE KEE EE
Notes:
3. The data have been converted into equivalents by the

unit of MWh.

Considering that most energy consumption is from the
use of electricity; thus, we adopt energy-saving devices
that conform to national regulations and standards,
avoid using halogen lamps, mercury lamps, iodine
tungsten lamps and other high-power lamps as far as
possible, and consider the light sources, control circuit
and lighting circuit in decoration and maintenance. We
have also set switching times for electrical machinery
and equipment to ensure proper shutdown during
holidays without affecting business. The engineers
regularly maintain the equipment to keep it at the
optimum status. We keep the indoor temperature at
26 degrees Celsius to reduce the energy consumption
of air conditioning.

Moreover, regarding the heating service provided by
the northern subsidiary, the combustion of boilers
has realised the automation of combustion program
control. During the combustion process, the heat
supply volume will be automatically changed if the load
changes. The air volume will be adjusted to ensure
the heating temperature’s stability and achieve energy
saving and emission reduction. In addition, we publicise
the energy-saving plan monthly and encourage
owners, tenants and employees to do their best in
environmental protection and energy-saving measures.

55,933.02 81,709.43
55,933.02 81,709.43
57,059.66 131,755.92
18.45 35.11

Bat
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Water Resources

During the Reporting Period, the Group used all its
water from municipal sources and had no difficulty
obtaining suitable water sources due to our office’s
geographical location.

Water Consumption

RKE
Unit
B
Total Water Consumption m3
AXk#EE SR
Water Consumption Intensity m>3/employee
RKEE MFHKEE

The group actively implements the water resources
management plan, optimises water-saving measures,
advocates water conservation, strengthens water
resources recovery and utilisation, and refines the
management and utilisation of water resources. Water-
saving faucets and sanitary wares are well-equipped.
We regularly check water tanks and water pipes to
avoid waste caused by leakage. The water supply
system is closed at night and during holidays. Aoyuan
Healthy has also installed automated sprinklers in the
residential areas, which can cover wider at just the
right time than traditional irrigation and significantly
save water. Emphasis is also placed on the supply
chain regarding water conservation for a water-friendly
supply chain. The Group strictly assesses suppliers’
environment and water resources, prioritising suppliers
who have obtained environmental management
system certification. The Group will continue exploring
and implementing more measures to reduce water
consumption.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A
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FY2022 FY2021
—E-CEBE T -—BF

1,418,646 1,988,781

458.66 529.92
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Packaging Materials

The use of packaging material is mainly from the
property management services for protection and
logistics to prevent material damage. The Group's
packaging materials consumption data during the year
was as follows:

Use of Packaging Materials

BEMRHER

Unit
B

Total Package Consumption
BEDEEREE 7

Packaging Materials Consumption Intensity

BEMERTE

To avoid excessive use of packaging materials,
the Group has formulated the principle of simple
packaging and used recyclable packaging materials as
much as possible. The internal recording mechanism
for packaging usage tracking in each region has been
established. We undertake to cut down on packaging
materials as much as possible for a sustainable business
environment.

The Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group has always been concerned about the
impacts on the surrounding environment and
natural resources and is committed to reducing the
negative environmental impacts of daily operations.
Therefore, the Group implements a series of efficient
environmental protection measures, shoulders the
responsibility for greening, strictly complies with laws
and regulations regarding environmental protection
and achieves a shared success between humanity and
nature.

tonnes

tonnes/employee

7=

A3.

B HERELEE

BEYH

BRUNEEANDESTERS -
VERERRBE - AR L RHE
2o AEBEFRNBEMENEFER
B

FY2022 FY2021
—E-BE —T-—HF

29.72 8.28

0.0096 0.0022
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A4.

Tree management and conservation

The Group plants green plants in gardens, pedestrian,
and recreational areas. It has taken several soil and
water conservation measures, including regular
fertilisation and irrigation, to maintain soil moisture
and fertility so that green vegetation and trees can
thrive. If there is a construction need, a net will be
laid on the grass if soil erosion results from dust and
human trampling. In addition, Aoyuan Healthy employs
experienced horticulturists and tree maintainers for
plant cultivation. They check the growth of the trees
and take appropriate protective and maintenance
measures to make the plants thrive.

Climate Change

The public’s awareness regarding climate change
continues to increase, and climate change is also one
of the most frequently discussed topics internationally.
Given the severity and urgency of the climate
crisis, governments recently have accelerated their
action pace in coping with the climate. The Chinese
government has accelerated the implementation of its
“dual carbon” goal, which is to peak carbon dioxide
emissions before 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality
before 2060.

The Group understands the importance of identifying
and mitigating major climate-related issues, pays close
attention to the potential impact of climate change on
the Group’s business and operations, and is committed
to managing potential climate-related risks that may
affect the Group’s business activities. Our ESG Working
Group regularly oversees climate-related issues and
risks, so it ensures our strategies incorporate these
critical factors.

According to the reporting framework developed by
the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
("TCFD"), climate-related risks are divided into physical
and transition risks. The Group has incorporated
climate change-related risks into enterprise risk
management to identify and mitigate potential risks
related to climate change. The Group also formulated
Company Emergency Plan ((R AIEEFEZE)) to
handle the below risks.
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Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events such as typhoons, storms, heavy
rains, and extreme cold or heat will bring acute and
chronic physical risks to the Group's operational and
business facilities. The Group’s productivity will be
reduced under extreme weather events as the safety
of our employees is threatened, and our production
facilities might be damaged, which exposes the Group
to risks associated with non-performance and delayed
performance, leading to a direct reduction in the
Group’s revenue.

The Group has established mitigation plans to minimise
potential hazards, including precautionary measures
during bad or extreme weather conditions. The Group
will explore emergency plans and engage with local
governments and stakeholders on local resilience to
enhance business stability.

Transition Risks

To achieve the global vision of carbon neutrality,
the Group expects the evolution of the regulatory,
technological and market landscape due to climate
change, including the tightening of national policies,
the emergence of environmentally related taxes, and
the shifting of customer preference to an eco-friendly
resort operation.

In response to the policy, legal, and reputation
risks, the Group constantly monitors the updates of
environmental regulations and global trends on climate
change to avoid cost increments, non-compliance fines
or reputational risks due to the violation of laws. In
addition, the Group has been taking comprehensive
environmental protection measures, including GHG
reduction, carbon trading and adoption of clean
energy. The Group has set targets to gradually reduce
the Group’s energy consumption and GHG emissions in
the future.
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Risks Management and Emergency Measures

The Group is committed to managing and controlling
the risks and taking emergency measures against
climate-related potential safety hazards to adapt to or
mitigate the impact of climate change on its business.
The measures include developing a special climate
warning mechanism to reduce climate-related security
risks; paying real-time attention to dynamic changes in
climate and setting up a goal of “early detection, early
prevention, and early resolution” and formulating an
emergency plan mechanism to respond to potential
safety hazards caused by climate change and extreme
weather so that the Group can be timely and effectively
handle the risks in the risk management process.

In response to significant climate change, such as
earthquakes, severe typhoons, hail and rainwater,
Aoyuan Healthy has established an emergency
response system for extreme natural disasters in the
Safety Management System of Aoyuan Healthy Life
Group (Version 3.0) K REREEEEE L2 E RS
€ 3.04)) that has been revised and issued recently by
its Safety Management Committee Office. The safety
management team, led by the commander-in-chief,
is the emergency response agency for earthquake
disasters, consisting of a deputy commander-in-chief,
units for vigilance, rescue, evacuation, equipment
and facility, and communication. The Group conducts
training and drills for all employees monthly before
the rainy season. After each drill, the first responsible
personnel of the project organise each team to assess
the drilling effect, compile a summary report, and
revise the emergency plan implementation.
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OUR PEOPLE

Social Aspect

Aoyuan Healthy’s success relies on each employee’s efforts,
dedication, and contribution. We believe how we treat our
employees and support their growth will affect how they
serve our customers and communities and determine how
sustainably we can develop as a company. The Group has
been committed to building an equal, dignified, and inclusive
work environment with fair compensation and abundant
career opportunities so that our employees can demonstrate
their expertise.

B1.

Employment
Recruitment, Promotion, and Dismissal

Aoyuan Healthy has stipulated key human resources
management practices in the Employee Handbook
(CBE I F1f)). The Group promises to provide
all candidates with fair access to information and
resources and adhere to a robust recruitment process
through multiple recruitment channels such as website,
headhunting, internal recommendation, and campus
recruitment. Human Resources Department and the
recruitment team are responsible for candidate selection
and interviews. During the interviews, candidates are
informed about the working environment, job duties,
remuneration, and welfare factors. Factors such as
capabilities, academic qualification, practical working
requirements, functional knowledge and language
proficiency are considered recruitment standards under
a transparent and friendly atmosphere.

Each employee can opt into the management or
professional technical channels for further career
development, horizontally or vertically. Staff appraisals
that form the basis of promotion and salary adjustment
are conducted regularly to assess employees’ job
performance under the principle of merits, talents, and
competitiveness. The Group prioritises the promotion
of an employee who has demonstrated outstanding
performance as a kind of reward through an open and
fair assessment system.
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The Group respects and protects the rights and
interests of employees following the Employee
Handbook ({& I F1ft)). We have no tolerance for
unfair dismissal and ensure the dismissal procedure
is fair and open. The procedures and conditions
of dismissal and contract termination have been
formulated in the Employee Handbook (& T Ffft)).
The Group updates the white paper on employee
relationship systems related to employee transfer,
resignation, labour contracts, etc.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group has specified the arrangement regarding
employees’ working days and hours in the Employee
Book ({8 L Fft)) and resists all forms of forced
labour. All overtime work is on a voluntary basis and
is subject to appropriate overtime compensation and
allowance covering meal and travelling expenses. Apart
from annual leaves, the Group has provided employees
with all kinds of holidays, including statutory holidays
and other paid leaves such as marriage leave, maternity
leave, paternity leave, compassionate leave, etc.
All information related to attendance, holidays and
benefits has been clearly stated in the Employment
Contract.

The Group advocates work and life balance culture by
organising birthday parties and sports activities to boost
their well-being. During festivals such as Women'’s Day,
Mid-autumn Festival and Spring Festival, the Group
holds entertainment events to leave employees feeling
valued.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity, Anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to creating and maintaining
an inclusive and collaborative workplace culture.
Aoyuan Healthy treats employees of different
nationalities, races, ages, genders, religious beliefs,
and cultural backgrounds fairly and equitably and
protects the legitimate rights and interests of female
employees. The Group shall not tolerate any forms
of discrimination and harassment at work and is
committed to preventing it. We let employees equally
enjoy their legal rights to labour remuneration, rest and
leave, access to labour safety and health protection,
social insurance, welfare, etc.
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The Group is devoted to building a diversified working
team. Anyone who is intimidated, humiliated, bullied,
or harassed, including sexual harassment, may report to
the employee’s representative or file complaints directly
to the management representative or the general
manager, and we will take serious approaches to
resolve the issues upon receiving the said complaints.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group has established a fair, reasonable, and
competitive employee remuneration system. All
qualified employees are entitled to competitive wages,
comprehensive insurance coverage, and medical
benefits. By the Social Insurance Law of the PRC ({FFZE
AR KEFBE 2 REE)), the Group pays “five social
insurance and one housing fund” for all Mainland
employees, namely, endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, employment
injury insurance, maternity insurance, and housing
provident fund. The Group also pays Mandatory
Provident Fund for employees in Hong Kong through
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (3%
B4 A FE & 5T 81£ 1)) of Hong Kong. The Group
reviews the remuneration packages annually to ensure
they meet the market standards to attract and retain
talent.

Employee Communication

To enhance employees’ work experiences, the
Group has established an array of communication
channels, such as work reporting and assessments,
staff satisfaction surveys, and suggestion boxes, to
understand their opinions on corporate development,
employment relationship, work remuneration,
responsibilities, and obligations. All the information
received from employees is kept confidential.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with employment-
related laws and regulations that would have a
significant impact on the Group. Such laws and
regulations include but are not limited to the Labour
Law of the PRC(CH ZE AR £ MEI L &)%) ), the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({FF#E A R X FIE 4
#) 4 [E3%)) and the Employment Ordinance ({&1{& fi&
1)) in Hong Kong.
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As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of BE-T_—_F+-A=+—H"

3093 employees based in PRC, and Hong Kong. The AEERPEREBEHLEF30934

employee breakdown and employee turnover rate are EE - EERMBRESRALE

as follows: T

Employees Size Breakdown
EE A4
FY2022 FY2021
SERCCERE B -FHF

Total Number of Employees EBEHAH 3,093 3,753

By Gender &1 Bl 8l 5

Male B 1,797 2,062

Female egid 1,296 1,691

By Age RERE D

Below 30 30BRA TR 690 951

30-50 303 £ 50 5% 1,739 2,152

Above 50 505 A £ 664 650

By Employment Type REBERE S

Full-time i 3,091 3,477

Part-time SR 2 276

By Geographic Region it & &l 5

PRC T 3,086 3,745

Hong Kong aBE 7 8

During the Reporting Period, the overall employee RBERAN - RRERNERES

turnover rate of Aoyuan Healthy was 54%. Figures R R A54% o FHEHHWT ¢

below present details:
Employment Turnover Rate* (%)
EBEFRALLE (%)
FY2022 FY2021
SRR B -FHF

Overall = 54% 73%

By Gender RERE D

Male B 52% 75%

Female pegis 57% 71%

By Age Group RERARE D

Below 30 305 A T 88% 118%

30-50 303 £ 50 5% 47% 44%

Above 50 505 A £ 38% 44%

By Geographic Region &t & & 5

PRC i 54% 73%

Hong Kong aBE 43% 0%

Notes: KaF -

4. Employee turnover rate is calculated by the number of 4. EERRLEEZBREANIEES
employees left during the Reporting Period/ Total number HAANE / —_T=-=_F+=A
of employees in the specified category on 31 December =+—HRETHEANEE £
2022 X 100%. X100% 51 & ©
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Health and Safety

The Group recognises the importance of providing a
healthy and safe work environment and cares deeply
about our employees’ well-being and comfort.

The Group has conducted risk assessments to reduce
our employees’ potential safety hazards under the
Safety Management System of Aoyuan Healthy Life
Group (Version 3.0) (R ER#EAEAEEE L2 E
| Z3.0h%)). The Group has launched a safety
management team responsible for fire alarms and
disasters, consisting of units for vigilance, rescue,
evacuation, equipment and facility, communication,
and response. Fire drills are conducted annually,
so employees are familiar with proper emergency
response, exits and fire passages. After each drill, the
commander-in-chief organises each team to assess
the drilling effect and revise the emergency plan
implementation. Employees are required to keep the
workplace, storage, parking lots and other areas clean
and ensure that the objects are correctly in place
to avoid fire passage blockage. Devices, pipes, and
machinery with potential hazards are subject to regular
checks and maintenance.

To raise employees’ safety awareness, the Group
provides compulsory pre-job safety and health training
to new hirers and occupational safety education for
existing employees in response to emergencies such
as fire, traffic accidents, and pandemic prevention
and control. During the Year, six training on safety
management has been accomplished targeted at fire
prevention and safe use of electricity from July to
December.

In addition, the Group organises physical examinations
for all qualified employees. We have maintained
labour insurance, work-related injury insurance and
commercial insurance for our employees, including
but not limited to group accident insurance and
employer liability insurance. In work-related accidents,
the insurance department would assist employees
in supporting employees’ recovery and other living
expenses as soon as possible. The Group has also
continued to organise work-life balancing activities
for employees and other activities to promote healthy
living practices.

B2.
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The Group has achieved zero work-related fatalities for
3 consecutive years. During the Reporting Period, there
were 17 work injury cases, and the Group had lost
579 working days due to work injury. The Group was
also not aware of any material noncompliance with
employment-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group. Such laws and
regulations include but are not limited to the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC ((FHZE A R HEFEI B &)%),
the Production Safety Law of the PRC ({7 £ A R F£ AN
Bl % 2 HE %)), and the Occupational Safety and the
Health Ordinance ({B% 2% & R 15%1)) of Hong
Kong.

AEERBE-_FEREREIT
HOEME - RIREHIAN - AEE K
EV7TRIESEH AIHEELT
ER & AS79E TIER - AREE T
THBEMEEERERER L2
MERMEAEBEREAZEN
B e ZEXRERERBIEETR
PP EARLFMBELEE) (R
ZARENBLZE2EEZRLEE
B2 REFRIE) -

Unit

B
Fatalities due to work injury Case
BIT# =
Work injury Cases
% =
Lost days due to work injury Days
AIEELRTHEER H

Fight Against the Pandemic

In response to the normalisation of the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group has complied with the
government’s public health and safety measures.
Aoyuan Healthy promptly implemented new prevention
measures.

To effectively prevent and control stronger variant
strains, all personnel, whether employees or guests,
entering the Group’s premises must have their
temperature recorded to prevent the potential
spread of the virus. Clear guidelines are also in place
to respond to situations where employees or their
family members are found to have contracted the
virus. Convenience services for community residents
have been provided in the pandemic control area,
such as large express door-to-door delivery and daily
necessities purchases. The Group has carried out a daily
rolling report and special training mechanism to guide
pandemic prevention professionally and scientifically.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A
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Development and Training

The Group recognises the importance of people
development by establishing an internal management
training and development system. The Group
endeavours to meet employees’ different needs
through various training programs, including
corporate culture, talent echelon and professional
empowerment. Staff training helps enhance the
employees’ comprehensive competency and identify
the technological and organisational evolutions for the
Group.

The training courses are categorised into corporate
culture, talent echelon, and professional empowerment
training. Corporate culture training includes corporate
culture publicity, integrity education, work style
construction, online training of the “New Feather
Program” for new employees, etc. The talent echelon
training includes the induction training for AO-STAR
management trainees, the property “Starting” training,
etc. The professional empowerment training focuses
on the “Strengthening Base and Improving Quality”
case competition, public opinion management and
brand management, special empowerment of business
management and operation lines, cost bidding, etc.
The Group has established a mentoring scheme and
job rotation opportunity for new staff members to help
them quickly fit into roles.

Human Resource Department and Administrative
Department are responsible for planning and evaluating
training activities, setting training goals and designing
training programs. All related training records have
been kept in Human Resources Department. An
evaluation is performed after completion of the training
by employee questionnaire forms, which will form the
basis for future training plan development. The Group
will constantly improve the quality of training through
employees’ evaluation of trainers, training effectiveness
and structure.

B3.
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B HEREIERE
During the Reporting Period, the Group has conducted RmERE AEBERRERL
approximately 52,561 hours of training, with the 52,561/ )EIEFI - BEEEM T
average training hour being approximately 18 hours BB A B8/ o MBI K&
per employee. The percentage of employees received EBEENESHNEBREEXIES
training by each employee by gender and employment LEZA T

categories are as follows:

Percentage of Employees Trained

ZHREREBS

FY2022 FY2021

SEICEHME T —FUF
Overall B 96% 67%
By Gender R El 5
Male Eelis 93% 66%
Female W 99% 66%
By Employment Categories REEERES
Assistant to the president of SEBHIIERIALERR 67% 89%

the group and above

Deputy manager level and above Bl R A ER A 94% 80%
General Staff —®BT 96% 62%
The breakdown of average training hours completed RURIRERELEDBREE T
by each employee by gender and employment category PR IR AR T

are as follows:

Average Training Hours (Hours)

Z AT R B (M)

FY2022 FY2021
SBOCOEME T FHF
Overall B 18 21
By Gender 3 E- B
Male St 19 20
Female e 16 22
By Employment Categories REERRES
Assistant to the president of EEEIBNIE R IA ERA 7 13
the group and above
Deputy manager level and above Bl #E 32 K LA E 4R R 13 24
General Staff —%&BT 19 20
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Labour Standards

The protection of human rights is of great importance.
Aoyuan Healthy respects human rights and prohibits
using child labour and forced labour in its operations.
During the recruitment process, the Group will
review candidates’ identity documents and conduct
a background screening to prevent child labour. A
person under 16 is not allowed to work in the Group.

All employees are required to sign labour contracts
with the Group voluntarily and legally. The employment
contract specifies the employee’s working hours,
location, and primary work duties to avoid executing
work outside their terms of reference. If overtime is
needed, overworking is consensual and compensated
by extra pay or time off in lieu based on relevant laws
and regulations to prevent forced overtime work.

Any actions involving verbal abuse, oppression and
sexual harassment against employees are prohibited
for any reason. Anyone who violates the regulations
will be subject to dismissal or termination of the
probationary period. The Group has also clearly
stated in the contracts with cooperative suppliers
and subcontractors that illegal labour is prohibited to
prevent any violation of human rights.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material noncompliance with child and
forced labour-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but are not limited to the
Employment Ordinance ({{& f& & 1)) of Hong Kong,
the Labour Law of the PRC ({FFZEARZLFIBIL &)%),
the Labour Contract Law of the PRC ({FRZE A B 70
B &4 &) & [F]5%)), and the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labour ((Z2 IE{F FAZ T 7E)).

B4.
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HERELES

OUR OPERATION

B5.

Supply Chain Management

The Group treats every supplier as a vital business partner.
Aoyuan Healthy specifies its commercial, environmental, and
social requirements on suppliers, which include compliance,
human rights, child labour, environment, health, safety, etc.

The Group selected cooperative suppliers in strict accordance
with the principles of fairness and justice. The Group employs
suppliers through exclusive procurement, direct procurement,
quotation, price comparison, and competitive bidding.
The Group has established a complete supplier database
that regularly updates suppliers’ information. All suppliers
will be reviewed every six months and rated based on the
results. The Group considers environmental performance at
meetings and social responsibilities and prioritises suppliers
with environmental management system certification or who
have advanced environmental protection versions. The Group
tends to sign contracts with a highly rated supplier for two
consecutive years. Whenever a supplier does not meet the
standards or cannot provide appropriate corrective actions, it
will be disqualified from the supplier list.

For construction projects, the Group has optimised the
construction plan for contractors and formulated safety
precautions to ensure safe construction and reduce
environmental pollution. Project inspection will be conducted
in the case of any breach of the terms of the agreement.

Green Procurement

The Group is committed to green procurement to carry out
sustainable development in the Group’s operating model.

In purchasing activities, the Group, under full consideration of
environmental benefits, prioritises purchasing raw materials,
products and services that are environmentally friendly
and energy-saving. The Group continues to improve the
procurement standards and systems to regulate product
design, procurement, production, packaging, logistics,
sales, service, recycling, and reuse in both economic and
environmental manner. The harmful chemicals in parts and
materials of commodities are prohibited. The Group works
with upstream and downstream partners to build a green
supply chain.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A
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The Group aims to reduce environmental and social risks
throughout the supply chain and build a sustainable
relationship with our business partners through the above
practices. During the year, the Group had 313 suppliers
located in PRC. The Group recognises our suppliers to comply
with all environmental and social standards.

Product Responsibility

Responsible corporate practices are the key to business
resilience. The Group believes quality products and customer
services are crucial to building stable and healthy customer
relationships. Hence, it has formulated a series of relevant
policies and guidelines, committed to continuously improving
the quality of the Group’s products and services.

Customer Service Quality

The Group has established a mature quality management
system, and the Guangzhou subsidiary has been certified with
ISO 9001. Facing the property management sector’s reform,
the Group has opened the official social media service account
“Aoyuan Healthy Lifestyle”, upgraded the property service,
and humanised the service window. Our online staff service
are provided on all days with a 3-minute response. The Group
has successfully achieved the mode of “Property Service +
Lifestyle Service” by building Aoyuan Lifestyle Service Stations
offline, where agency delivery service, shopping service, rental
service, healthcare service and other services are accessible
to our community residents. Aoyuan General Health and
Wellness creates a healthy lifestyle for all ages through a one-
stop medical service platform combining online and offline
services and applies it in two modes: Community Life and
Commercial Centres. The Group has integrated high-quality
health resources into the Institute for General Health and
Wellness Development to provide customers with medical
eldercare and smart eldercare service.

To standardise Group’s service, we have formulated nearly
300 terms of quality service standards. It covers precaution
and execution measures from customer service management,
shopping mall management, environmental management,
inspection management, label management, health and
hygiene management, security, and fire prevention, to
complaint handling. Moreover, customer interviews and
satisfaction surveys are conducted regularly to understand
their real needs. The Group has set up a customer complaint

B6.
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R itERELERE

mechanism, where customers may contact the Group through
the customer servicing hotline and social platforms for service
issues. The Group has also conducted project inspections
during the Reporting Period and suggested opinions regarding
projects to be followed up and further improved its service
standards.

Data Protection and Privacy

The Company observes and recognises its responsibilities
in relation to the collection, holding and processing or use
of the personal data of its customers. Personal information
must be collected with customers’ consent, and information
is restricted to designated business purposes and only
accessed by authorised personnel. The Group also has an
encrypted data system in place. The access rights of the staff
are classified according to the business needs to avoid any
inappropriate disclosure. Employees must attend the training
on privacy protection to enhance their awareness of data
protection and sign a confidentiality agreement to undertake
the responsibility.

Advertisement and Labelling

Under the principle of “Sincerity, Truth, Accuracy”, the
Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations relating to
property and commercial management services to ensure
the advertising content is factual, non-biased and not
misleading nor deceptive. The Group also regularly assesses
updates of applicable laws and regulations to improve
product advertising and label management. Moreover, the
Group has established stringent sales guidelines on providing
customers with compliant and lawful service information to
safeguard customers’ legitimate interests. The Group also
regularly assesses updates to improve advertising and label
management. The Group is in stringent compliance with the
Property Law of the PRC ({F #= A R K AMBI¥#E L)), and the
General Provisions of the Civil Law of the PRC ({FEE A B
ME RE4 1)), which require the protection of the personal
rights, personal safety, property rights, privacy and intellectual
property rights of consumers, customers, and the public.
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Intellectual Property Rights

Aoyuan Healthy values and protects intellectual property
rights. The Employee Handbook (& T Ffft)) stipulates that
employees are strictly prohibited from disclosing confidential
information, including but not limited to the Group’s
strategies, business interests, know-how, etc., invention and
intellectual property to any third party during employment and
even upon termination of employment.

Regarding intellectual property protection, the Group stipulates
that when cooperation with an external organisation, the
terms of the contract shall be set to ensure that products or
services provided by the partner are free from infringement of
any intellectual property right. In addition, the Group avoids
infringing the intellectual property rights of other companies
and individuals and conducts regular research and tracking of
patent information of its peers.

Safety of Customers

The health and safety of customers are always Aoyuan
Healthy' priority. The Group is committed to creating a
comfortable and safe living space for our customers. To
achieve this goal, an emergency mechanism has also been
established to prevent and minimise accidents, and safety
risk identification assessments will be conducted on a regular
basis. The Group regularly invites professional and technical
personnel with relevant qualifications and experience to
check the communities’ decorations, external walls, glass,
and elevators in case of any potential safety risks. The Group
assigns personnel to inspect the property’s surrounding
area and be on duty in the control room to ensure that the
fire service installations are in good condition and escape
instructions are clear. An emergency handling mechanism
has also been built up, in which any safety accidents are
required to be immediately reported and handled by relevant
departments to ensure customers’ safety.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with any laws and regulations
concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters in relation to products and services provided that
would have a significant impact on the Group.
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B7.

Product Responsibility Performance

ERBEERER

No. of products subject to recalls B &2 EEREEM
for safety and health reasons HEEHWERHE
No. of products and services- ERkBREERNIZRES

related complaints received
Anti-Corruption

The Group has formulated sound internal policies and
guidelines in accordance with the Anti-Corruption Law of the
PRC ({(R#E AR FEFNE R B BUIED) to prevent all crimes such
as bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering. The Group
has an independent audit and monitoring centre to monitor
and prevent potentially illegal acts.

The Group’s Eight Major Regulations ({/\XE #3)) stipulates
the daily behaviours of employees and specifies that
employees must not engage in acts or activities revolving
around bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.
Employees should avoid engaging in any circumstances that
might have involved a conflict of interest with the Group or
its associated companies. Employees must sign to confirm
that they have understood and will follow the code of
conduct before employment. In case of any violation, the
Group will terminate the labour contracts without paying any
economic compensation. Any losses suffered by the Group
due to misconduct would be reimbursed at its discretion. The
suspected criminal offence would be transferred to judicial
authorities in accordance with the law.

To identify and handle violations early, the Group has set up a
transparent whistleblowing channel and issued Aoyuan Group
Regulations on Supervision ({52 [ £ @ B 22 T {E £ 5I)).
Employees can report any misconduct or reasonably suspected
corruption to relevant departments of the Group. All reported
cases will be handled confidentially to protect the whistle-
blower’s identity and privacy. They will not be subjected to
unfair dismissal or unreasonable disciplinary action and protect
other legal rights of the whistle-blowers.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A
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To raise awareness of bribery prevention among management
and general employees, anti-corruption training has been
conducted yearly. During the Reporting Period, all the
employees were required to pay a visit to the integrity
education base, attend lectures on honest practising and
industry cases, and receive anti-corruption training organised
by the Economic Crime Investigation Bureau of the local
government. All recruits are required to receive integrity
education and sign a letter of integrity commitment to practise
in an honest manner. Aoyuan Healthy also provides self-
learning pamphlets to help strengthen the staff's ability to
manage conflicts of interest and raise their vigilance against
corruption.

During the Reporting Period, the Board received one program
regarding the new whistle-blower policy, while employees
received 744 hours of anti-corruption training. There were no
concluded legal cases regarding any forms of fraud raised by
the Group or its employees. The Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
of bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering. Such laws
and regulations include but are not limited to the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the PRC ({H #E A R HME X T IF & %
%5%)), the Criminal Law of the PRC ({1 #E A R AEALE)),
and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC ({(FFE A R
HANE R EED).

Community Investment

In pursuit of business success, contributions to the community
are also crucial to building a solid relationship with
stakeholders in the operational regions, which stimulates our
sustainable development. Since its establishment, the Group
has participated in various public welfare activities through
consumption-driven poverty alleviation, charity sales, charity
donations, free clinics etc. In addition to charitable activities,
the Group is committed to building a healthy life ecosystem
for owners of all ages. The forms of activities include teaching
support, public welfare running, animal adoption, intangible
cultural heritage exhibition, fire drill, anti-fraud publicity etc.
To show the Group’s commitment to fulfilling its corporate
responsibility, it has formulated a relevant policy, which
properly sets out the work for community investment.

B8.
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R itERELERE

The Group’s community investment is mainly focused on three
main areas:

o caring for the elderly in the community
o supporting children and youth development
o caring for public health

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total community
investment amount was approximately HK$41,000. The Group
as responsible property management plays an important role
in pandemic prevention. To assist the frontline staff to combat
the pandemic, the Group donated a larger number of anti-
pandemic prevention supplies including masks, protective
goggles, and protective coveralls. The Group also made
donations to the most pandemic-stricken area and organises
to donate heatstroke prevention supplies to communities that
were dedicated to the anti-pandemic work.

Among the public welfare activities, Aoyuan Healthy
organised to distribute of festival gifts for delivery men in
the communities during the Dragon Boat Festival and also
visited the empty-nest elderly in the communities during the
Mid-autumn Festival. Aoyuan Healthy also celebrated with
nurses on Nurse Day by sending cakes. For supporting youth
development, the Group donated worth over HK$4,000 for
daily necessities and school materials to exceptional children in
impoverished areas. Aoyuan Healthy won the “Most Valuable
Real Estate and Property Companies” award at the 7th Annual
Wisdom Financial Capital Market Meeting in December 2022.
The Group is committed to improving the quality of life of
residents, narrowing the gap between people and creating
harmonious community-neighbourhood relations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI -ERELGRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX ESGHRERSIRNBT RG]

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General Sections/
Disclosures and KPIs Descriptions Declaration
TR -

BE - —REER

BRERER RE = 4- g1
A. Environmental  EiE

Aspect A1: Emissions  EE A1 : HEH#

General Disclosure

—RIE

Information on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.
FRABERIRERBHN  RKRIMOTES BEREZE
BEYNELEM

(@ BE: M

(b) ETHETABEAFZENRBHOEZRRRIINER -

Emissions

B

RARENIEEAL2

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.
B (FBE) pREZ (SE2) A EREBHERE (LAEETE)
R (mER)BmE -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions — Air Emissions
BREMEFEAL PR TR IR AR B B R - B — BERBER
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Emissions — Greenhouse

Gas Emissions

B —REREHN

KPI A1.3
BBENIEEZALS

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.
FFEABEEEYHEES (ABEATE) M (ER) BE -

Emissions — Waste
Management

B -BEENER

AR BFRE R E R REDEL B IZMERIA T -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Emissions — Waste
BRENEZEALL appropriate, intensity. Management
FMEEEZEEMES (UTE) X (ER)BE - Y -EEDER
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Emissions
BREMIEZEALS them. e

KPI A1.6
BREMIEEZALG

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous waste are
handled, and a description of waste reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.
HERAERBESEEMN L RIEAPARI LR RE B
BERREIGELBRARME TR -

Emissions — Waste
Management

B -BEERNER
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B 2 18 IR B AES = 8

Aspect A2: Use of Resources B A2 : EREH

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water Use of Resources
—REE and other raw materials. EIREA
BREAER(BIERIR - KREAMRMEL) BBK -
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh in Use of Resources — Energy
BREMIEZEA21 ‘000s) and intensity. BRFER -8R
RERESMERER SEEEREEE UTETRERTE)
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Use of Resources — Water
BAEENIEZEA2.2 BMFEKERKE o Resources
BRER—KER
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to Use of Resources — Energy
BRENIEEA23 achieve them. BRER -8R
BT RT SZEV B IR (8 FA e B AR R R IE RS LE B AR ATERERAY
KPl A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that Use of Resources — Water
BRENIEZEA24 is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to Resources
achieve them. BIRER—KEIR

SR BUE KR LRI BRI - AR FTRT S E 7K et
BIRENAEDGEL B IRARIE TR -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished products (in tonnes) Use of Resources —

BRENIEZEA2S and, if applicable, and with reference to per unit produced. Packaging Materials
HRMTAREMENEE AMAE) kR (ER) BEESN BIRER— &M
hE -

Aspect A3: The Environmental and Natural Resources EHEA3 : BERXAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the The Environmental and

—RIKE environment and natural resources. Natural Resources
WIRBITABRBERAREREKNERZEBHBE - RIBERRAER

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the The Environmental and

AR ERIEEA3 environmental and natural resources and the actions taken to Natural Resources
manage them. RIERRAER

WA RBRBHRERRABERNEAFENDRENEER
My 2Ty -
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General Sections/
Disclosures and KPIs Descriptions Declaration

S 5
BE- - —REER
REENER BB

Aspect A4: Climate Change  [EE A4 : RIRE1L

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- Climate Change
—MRiEE related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, iz
the issuer.
BRIREEHER LA HBETAEEZENEARIKIAEH
FEMBE -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Climate Change — Physical
ARENEEFEAL impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer and the actions Risks, Transition Risks
taken to manage them. ':Lfllnﬂz—ﬁﬁ‘%@.ﬁﬁ .
RER LA HBETAELATENERARGEBEE - & FENEYEN
FEXI1TE o

B.Social #&
Aspect B1: Employment B B1 : Ef&

General Disclosure Information on: Employment
—RIRE ER=

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

ERFWRERE  REREH TR RY - FS5He - %
7oAt RIEARA R H M 58 RN ER

(@ & &

(b) BTHETABEARENRRBZRRRIIWER

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and Employment

R ENIEEB geographical region. E1%
RMR - EEEE  FRAEJRMEZSNEEAE

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Employment

BERENIEEB.2 region. =

RIER - FRAR MRS D WEERARL X -
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs

TR

BHE - —REER

REENER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

Descriptions

[BEB2: REHEZZ

Sections/
Declaration

- 2]

General Disclosure

Information on:

Health and Safety

—REE (RS
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
FAREZ2IEREAREREEHEBELEETEN
(@ B¥E: &
(b) BTHBETABEAZENHEBER LRI EHR -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the Health and Safety
B ANIEEBR2.1 past three years including the reporting year. R 2
BE=F (BRERFE)BFRAITHHABRLE -
KPI1 B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
BEEMESEB22 EIBELRIERE - fEREEL S
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, Health and Safety
HEENIEEB2.3 and how they are implemented and monitored. RERZ 2

PR BRI B R 22 24806 - AR T M EERUTE o

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : BEKE

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for

Development and Training

—MRIEE discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. 2R RIET
BERRAEERITIEBE O MBE R AR ER - sl
EE -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Development and Training
BREMIEEBR3. category. R REI
Rt REEEFBISNXIEEB DL
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Development and Training
BRENIEER3.2 employee category. BRNEI

U REEBRMNE D  BREE KN TR -

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI -ERELGRS

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General Sections/
Disclosures and KPIs Descriptions Declaration

S 5
BE- - —REER
REENER 4= 1

Aspect B4: Labour Standards /B B4 : 85 T %8|

General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
—REE 4 T %8|

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BEMIEETREHSIH :

(@ BE: &

(b) BTHEITABEARZENHEBEZRZMRIINES -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Labour Standards

B R E M IEE B4 the child and forced labour. BT |
AR SRS R B e AR R E T R4 T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Labour Standards

BRENIEEBL2 discovered. T g

R BRI E R BN HIRE BB R AR 5 -
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TR -

BHE- - —REER
BREVIEE

Descriptions

Py

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management ~ [EMEBS : {ESi &2

Sections/
Declaration

- 2]

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply Supply Chain
—REE chain. Management
ERHBENRBE R ERARBUE - HERER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
R ENIEEBS. RMEE S HEREE - Management
e g 2
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supply Chain
BREMIEEBS.2 suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how Management
they are implemented and monitored. HEHEEIR
R AR AMHERNED - mERTE BB S HERE
B UARBESITRERTEA -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social Supply Chain
BRENIEEBS.3 risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and Management — Green
monitored. Procurement
Mt B RAE A M EESERGSHNRR R ERARNES - A HERERE —ZERE
RABABITREER )% -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Supply Chain
B ENIEEBS.4 products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are Management — Green
implemented and monitored. Procurement
AL BROE BRI RR (2 2 RIRIRE fn R IRTE B P - LA K HERER - ZERE
HARMITRERFE -
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TR -

BHE  —REER
BREVEE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Descriptions

Py

BTEB6: EmET

%ﬁ * ﬁii%& Elniﬁﬁ

Sections/
Declaration

811

General Disclosure

—RKE

Information on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

B B P IR A G A AR 75 A fk B R
AR TT A -

2 EE BREMESEE

(@) Bk &

(b) BTHETABEAZENRRBZRRROIWER

Product Responsibility
EmEE

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recall for Product Responsibility
BRENIEEBG6.1 safety and health reasons. EmEM
PERCDEXERABPRL 2 RERIPAMADWR B DL o
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received and Product Responsibility —
B ENIEEB6.2 how they are dealt with. Customer Service Quality
REBNERMRBHIRFEE AREETTX - EmAE-
EFRBEE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Product Responsibility —
BRENIEEB6.3 intellectual property rights. Intellectual Property Rights
i it B 4 T R AR PR AN ERE A ARV B B - EREf-—NBER
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility —
BB NIEEB6.A i E S REREREDRBIYBIERT Safety of Customers
EREF-EFP%2
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data collection and privacy policies, and Product Responsibility
B ENIEEB6.S how they are implemented and monitored. - Data Protection and

U B E ERHRE RALRBER - ARBERITRERTE -

Privacy
EmEE—
ERHRIZ AL

Annual Report 2022 —ZZ=ZfF#

119



120

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRE -HERELRS

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TR -

BHE- - —REER
BREVIEE

Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

Descriptions

EBEB7: RES

Sections/
Declaration

- 2]

General Disclosure

—RKE

Information on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

BREMLILEE 98 BFFRERERN:
(@) %X &

(b) BTHRITABEAZENRBEERROINER -

Anti-Corruption
R&ES

mmESERE TRENRESHEI -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Anti-Corruption
BRENIEEBRTA brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting RE&ES
period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERBAHETASIEHEERBTEEENE THFARN
EBIE MFRER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-Corruption
BRENIEEBRT.2 procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. R&5
By S5 b R B WIR T - ARBBITRER X -
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and Anti-Corruption
BRENIEERTS staff. R&ES

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure

—RKE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.
BEEUHEZ2ERTHREEMEHRTENBREERLY
SEBHENSOHBR

Community Investment

HEERE

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Community Investment
BRENIEEBSA ETE RS HRIRE
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Community Investment
BRENIEEBS.2 EEIBRMBAEIR - HRIKRE
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The Directors herein present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
156 and 157.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the Year (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business during the Year, a discussion
on the prospect of the Group’s future business development, a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 23 to
26 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 27 to 50
of this annual report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.
The particulars of significant events affecting the Group that have
occurred subsequent to the reporting date are set out in note 46 to
the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the Year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 23 to 26, Financial Highlights on pages 4 to 5
and Five Years Financial Summary on page 308 of this annual report.

Report of the Directors
ERERE
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Report of the Directors
ERERE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

As a socially responsible corporation, the Group has endeavoured to
strictly comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection.

The Company recognizes the importance of environmental protection.
The Company is committed to providing an eco-friendly energy
environment for our staff and has developed energy conservation and
carbon reduction policy so as to minimize negative environmental
impacts.

Details of the Group's environmental policies are contained in the
section headed "Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on
pages 77 to 120 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by our Group that has a significant impact on the business
and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We fully understand that employees, customers and suppliers and
others (together “stakeholders”) are the key to our sustainable
and stable development. We are committed to maintaining a good
relationship with our stakeholders so as to ensure our continuing
development.

The Group regarded our staff as the most valuable assets of the
Company. The Group is providing a fair and harmonious workplace
where individuals with diverse cultural backgrounds are treated
equally. The Group offers a reasonable remuneration package and
fair opportunities for career advancement based on employees’
performance. The Group also provides our staff with different
trainings, including on-the-job training and training courses provided
by professional organisations in order to enhance our staffs’ career
progression.

The Group believes that our vendors (including contractors) are
equally important in building high-quality property projects. We
proactively communicate with our vendors to ensure they are
committed to delivering high-quality and sustainable output.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
each of the last five financial years is set out in the Financial Summary
on page 308 of this annual report. This summary does not form part
of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the
Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the Year
are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for less than 30% of the total sales of the Group; and purchases from
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2022
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 58
to 76.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2023 Annual General Meeting will be held on Tuesday, 25
July 2023. For the purpose of determining the qualification as
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the 2023 Annual
General Meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 18 July 2023 to Tuesday, 25 July 2023, both
days inclusive. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2023
Annual General Meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 17 July 2023, being
the last share registration date.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zheng Wei (resigned on 1 September 2022)
Mr. Cheng Siu Fai

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Zining (Chairman)
(resigned on 16 February 2023)
Mr. Ruan Yongxi
Mr. Zhu Yunfan (appointed on 16 February 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement

Dr. Li Zijun

Mr. Wang Shao

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhu
Yunfan shall hold office until the first general meeting of shareholders
after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.
Mr. Zhu Yunfan will retire at the 2023 Annual General Meeting. In
accordance with Article 84(1) and (2) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Cheng Siu Fai, Mr. Ruan Yongxi and Mr. Wang Shao shall retire at
the 2023 Annual General Meeting. All of the above Directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive Directors, and still considers them
to be independent as at the date of this annual report.
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CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The changes in the information of the Directors, which is required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set
out below:

Mr. Guo Zining resigned as a non-executive Director and the chairman
of the Board with effect from 16 February 2023.

Mr. Zhu Yunfan was appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from 16 February 2023.

Mr. Cheng Siu Fai was appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and an
Authorised Representative with effect from 16 February 2023.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the existing Directors are set out on pages 51
to 57 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprisewide
risk is a priority of the Company. The Company convinced that
corporate governance and Directors and Officers Liability Insurance
(the “D&O Insurance”) complement each other. The Company has
arranged appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against directors and
senior management arising out from corporate activities. The D&O
Insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the existing executive Director has entered into a service
contract for a specific term of three years subject to the provision of
retirement and rotation of directors under the Articles of Association.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment for a specific term of three years at an annual
remuneration set out in their appointment letters subject to the
provision of retirement and rotation of directors under the Articles of
Association.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment for a specific term of three years at an annual
remuneration set out in their appointment letters subject to the
provision of retirement and rotation of directors under the Articles of
Association.

Save as disclosed above, no other Director has entered into service
contract with the Company which are not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance, to which the Company , its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Related Party
Transaction”, “Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, there is no transactions, arrangements and contract
of significance to the business of the Group between the Company
, or any of its subsidiaries , or a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries during the Year. During the Year, no transactions,
arrangements and contract of significance for the provision of services
to the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
was made.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the Articles
of Association provide that the directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices, provided that this
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any director.

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance to
protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests of Directors and chief
executives of the Company and their associates in the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(a

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the

EEREETHRARRKG R HEMREG
FRESRRE

RZTE-_—F+-_A=+—H ' ARBESF =
BITRABRESEZBEA TR AR B SHAMAE
BEE (TERBHFLBEGM ((EEFERBEK
Bl]) ZBAREHELFFTHEQIREES KB
EIEBIEXVERE 7 RFES D IBAIME AR T KB
RS (BEREBANPEKRMIBBIEX
WEEXNRAEREANERZIAR) kb)) BRIEE
SR EEDE 352G BB RN ZMEMULER

it « S (QRIBIRESTRIZBAE AN A K
RFTEVRERE AT -

@ RARBROEBEBRODZEE

Company:
Interest in Approximate
underlying percentage
Capacity/Nature Interest in share shares of the of the issued
Name of Directors of interest of the Company Company® share capital
RELB KRG RARQF HEBTRE
EEng B/ Emug R HERAWERO BAEI
Mr. Guo Zining ("Mr. Guo”) Interest of spouse 1,143,000? - 0.16%
(resigned on 16 February B (@S
2023)
BremL e ([HBEE]) (R
T=F A+ RHEHE)

Mr. Ruan Yongxi Beneficial owner 278,000 - 0.04%

Bk i o EnEBA

Notes: BtaF -

(1) The interests in the underlying shares represented share options (1) RO P RERIERARRERTES (F
granted by the Company to the Directors as beneficial owners, the RERBEAN) OBERE FHEHRTX
details of which are set out in the section below headed “SHARE [BEARMERT &) —6&f -

OPTION SCHEME".
) The 1,143,000 ordinary Shares are beneficially owned by Ms. Su ) 1,143,000 % ¥ i A% B 2B 50 £ 2 B (B &R B

Chaomei (fiiB 3= Z2 1), who is the spouse of Mr. Guo.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS EERFEITHRABRKG RHEMEKG
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND HHiESRXE &)
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

(b) Long positions in shares of the associated corporations of the (b)

Company:

RARE 218

Number of shares

BOEBE R P HEB TR

Approximate
percentage of

Name of associated Capacity/Nature of of the associated the issued
Name of Directors corporation interest corporation share capital
REBEE 2 HEBTRE
BEEps RELEER 5%,/ ERmtE RO#E BAEDL
Mr. Guo (resigned on Ace Rise Profits Limited  Interest of spouse 100 10.00%
16 February 2023) ("Ace Rise") [T
BEERZB_=F Ace Rise Profits Limited
ZATABEE) ([Ace Rise )
Mr. Cheng Siu Fai China Aoyuan Beneficial Owner 100,000 0.00%
L bitad AR EnBEAA
Note: Kt
(1) The 10 shares are beneficially owned by Ms. Su Chaomei (&&iB 3 (M 10RO HEBEECEBHRBELLE
%z 1), who is the spouse of Mr. Guo. Mr. Guo is deemed to be wE RIBEEHFREERG - BERER

interested in the shares of Ace Rise held by Ms. Su Chaomei by
virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register which were required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save for the options granted under the Share Option Scheme, none
of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
been granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, or had exercised
any such right for the Year.

5 A TA BRI 35 22 £ P 4% A K9 Ace Rise 7
A R

L mEEI  RRARSESFHEIEITRAR
BEN AR B S H AT AARRAE 2 ) - MR
MHEHT  BERRAREEREESZLYE
B 352 fRANR AR TTEZ%&aEHﬁaBﬁZE
D SORR - IRBEETAAMEARR

B 32 Pfr 2 (AR SR R -

EXEMRARORATFZET
SRIREB AR IR K 2 BEUES  FRERH
BFEZEBKI8HA T F R EEREMA AR

FB R B s AR R A B 2 BN S (B 75 78 77 2 HE R
HEITEEATEFER -
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DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

In order to eliminate competing business with the Group, on 22
February 2019, China Aoyuan, Ace Rise, Joy Pacific Group Limited
("Joy Pacific”), Main Trend Limited (“Main Trend”), Mr. Guo Ziwen
and Ms. Jiang Miner spouse of Mr. Guo Zi Wen, entered into a deed
of non-competition (the “Deed”) with the Company.

In compliance with the Deed, each of China Aoyuan, Ace Rise, Joy
Pacific, Main Trend, Mr. Guo Ziwen and Ms. Jiang Miner has made
an annual declaration on his/her/their compliance with the non-
competition undertaking.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance stated in the Deed for the Year and have confirmed
that, as far as they can ascertain, there is no breach of any of the
undertakings in the Deed.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company is not aware of
any other matters regarding the compliance of the undertakings in
the Deed that are required to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had an interest in any
business which competes or may compete with the business in which
the Group is engaged.

GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s policy on determining the emolument payable to
Directors are based on the skill, knowledge, involvement in the
Company’s affairs and the performance of each Director, together
with reference to the profitability of the Company, remuneration
benchmarks in the industry, and prevailing market conditions. To
enable the Remuneration Committee to give better advice on the
Group’s future remuneration policy and related strategies, the
Remuneration Committee has been advised of the Group’ s existing
remuneration policy and succession plan, such as guidelines on
designing employees’ remuneration packages and related market
trends and information.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefit
included share option scheme.

The details of the Directors’ emoluments and senior management'’s

remuneration for the Year are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

So far as the Directors or the chief executives of the Company are
aware of, as at 31 December 2022, the shareholders, other than the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company, who had interests or
short positions in the shares or the underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company in accordance with
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 in Part XV of the SFO, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company:

Name of shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest
IRERE R B REEHE
Mr. Guo Ziwen Settlor/Beneficiary of The Golden Jade
R A Trust®
The Golden Jade Trust{S#E:&83Z A~
T A O
Ms. Jiang Miner Settlor/Beneficiary of The Golden Jade
("Ms. Jiang”) Trust®@
THRzE(Txt)) The Golden Jade Trust{Z#E:& 2 A~
ZmA@
Main Trend Beneficial owner®
B EmBEAAD
Star Image Development Interest of controlled corporation®
Limited (“Star Image”)
EEERARRDA EHEE RO
(TEEE])
China Aoyuan Interest of controlled corporation®®
Hh E R [ THEE RO
Ace Rise Interest of controlled corporation®

ZHDEE R

Report of the Directors
ERERE

FERRREGRERKMHPHER R
xRE

MARREBEETREBTHRABMANE R_F
T+ A=+ —H8B BRERAERFDEFRE
TITHRABRBRIN RARQ BRI D sk A8 RE I (5
HERBEESFNLHE 1I7M§IJ%XV*|3%2&%3“4
FESZEM AR B B ERSORE - IRIEE
FREEEME 336 KR T /,\ﬁA;Zﬂ?RFﬁ L H) &
e sAR - AT

RARBRMD 242 -

Approximate

percentage

of the issued

Number of shares share capital
HERITRARY

R&e&E Aot
400,535,000 55.15%
400,535,000 55.15%
396,375,000 54.58%
396,375,000 54.58%
396,375,000 54.58%
396,375,000 54.58%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (Continued)

Name of shareholders
BREREE

Joy Pacific

Sturgeon Limited

Arowana Holdings Ltd.

Capacity/Nature of interest
B atE

Interest of controlled corporation®
REHEE S
Beneficiary owner

EmlEBA

Interest of controlled corporation®
RIEHEE S ?

Interest of controlled corporation®
SR EE e

Trustee®@
ZFEA@

First Advisory Trust
(Singapore) Limited

Infini Master Fund Beneficial owner

Notes:

Q)

@)

EmfEBA

Main Trend (wholly and beneficially owned by Star Image and Star
Image is wholly and beneficially owned by China Aoyuan) is interested in
approximately 54.58% of the total issued shares of the Company. By virtue
of the SFO, China Aoyuan is deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company held by Main Trend.

China Aoyuan is owned as to 47.05% by Ace Rise. Ace Rise is owned
as to 90% by Joy Pacific (which in turn is wholly owned by Sturgeon
Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is
wholly-owned by Arowana Holdings Ltd., as nominee and trustee for First
Advisory Trust (Singapore) Limited as the trustee holding such interests on
trust for the beneficiaries of The Golden Jade Trust. The Golden Jade Trust
is a discretionary family trust established under the laws and regulations
of Singapore. Each of Mr. Guo Ziwen and Ms. Jiang is the settlor and
beneficiary of The Golden Jade Trust. Accordingly, each of Joy Pacific,
Sturgeon Limited, First Advisory Trust (Singapore) Limited, Mr. Guo Ziwen
and Ms. Jiang is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company
held by China Aoyuan by virtue of the SFO.
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share capital

EEBRITRABLN

R EA BAk
396,375,000 54.58%
4,160,000 0.57%
400,535,000 55.15%
400,535,000 55.15%
400,535,000 55.15%
58,043,000 8.00%

PHE(HEE2EAE=ES MEEAATREER
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# © Sturgeon Limited BB Arowana Holdings Ltd. &
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any person, other than Directors and chief
executive of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which are required to
be recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”), which was adopted on 28 May 2019 (the “Adoption
Date”), for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to selected
eligible persons for their contribution to the Group. Unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, the Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for 10 years from the Adoption Date.

Who may join and performance target:

1. Any full-time or part-time employee of the Company or any
member of the Group, including any executive Director,
non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Director, and any supplier, customer, agent, advisor and
consultant of the Group who, in the sole opinion of the Board,
will contribute or have contributed to the growth of the
Group.

2. The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any Eligible
Persons to take up share options under the Share Option
Scheme (“Option(s)”). Upon acceptance of the Option, the
Eligible Person shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant of the Option. The Option will be
offered for acceptance for a period of 28 days from the offer
date.

3. The exercise of an Option may be subject to the achievement
of performance target and/or any other conditions to be
notified by the Board to each participant, which the Board
may in its absolute discretion determine.

Report of the Directors
ERERE

FERRREGRERKMHPHER R
R ®)

B EXWBEEN RN_T_—_F+_A=+—8"
ARBYTANEFBEMAL (RARREFRER
TTHABBRIN RAR R Z Bt K A8 R
BAZRNES R E RIS XV B 336 F 5
EFEZERMZEEIAR -

MRz iEat &

ARRRABRER S ((BRETR]) - %1
RZZE-NAFREAZTN\B (RHABH ) BRS -
NRAAAEBELERNEETEERALRM
REYREHR - BRIFERTTRHEHIER] - BRIBRE
FHEI B R B 10FA

A2EALRKRBBERE:

—_

ARRBRAKEEMKE QR Z 2B
BES BREMNATES FATES
REBUFNTES UREFE2ERAR
Ak 2 m A S B 3R VE B B A
e FFP - RE - BEERBAALC

2. EXgURHRNBEAFENGEBRALIR
RBEZNBRETS THOBRE (TBR
) - RENEBRER  SERALERR
RRBZF1.00BTIERBERBAE 2K
B -BREZEMABAEZLNBE L2
A HAfE -

3. BREAGERRRABR HEFEH
THeR2REZENAMEE (EEe
A 2RIERE) R - IATE -

Annual Report 2022 —ZZ=ZfF#

133



134

Report of the Directors
ERERE

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Options granted and to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 62,423,000 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 8.60% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this annual report.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme mandate
as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 is 60,625,000.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under the Share Option Scheme during the financial year is
3,000,000, representing approximately 0.41% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

The maximum number of Shares issuable under the Options granted
to each eligible Participant pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the Shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. Any further grant of Options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

The exercise period of the Options granted is determinable by the
Board, save that the period commences on the date on which the
grant is made and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years
from the date of the grant of the Options subject to any provisions of
the Share Option Scheme. Subject to the lapse of any Options and the
restrictions which may be imposed by the Board, an Option may be
exercised in whole or in part (but if in part only, in respect of a board
lot or any integral multiple thereof) at any time during the option
period.

The subscription price of the Options is determinable by the Board
and shall be the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date,
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five trading days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) AR iEst®E &)

The summary below sets out the details of movement of Options M TNHEEHIN _ZT-_—F+-A=+—BRIE
granted as at 31 December 2022 pursuant to the Share Option  BERY#EFT 2| H 2 BREE B FE -
Scheme:

Number of Shares subject to Options

BRERBRGOHA
Cancelled/
Closing Asat  Granted lapsed  Exercised As at
Name or category of Exercise price Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December
participant Date of grant  period Vesting period  per Share price 2022  theYear  theYear  the Year 2022
R It St
i . IBCCE Enid/ i t=A
SRENZIER BHAH LcE RS BRUTE %8 -A-B EpRkA X% FRfTE =t-H
HKS HK$
AT BT
Directors
EZ
Mr. Zheng Wei (resigned ~ 30.03.2021"  01.01.2022-  Note (1) 5.91@ 5588 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) - -
on 1 September 2022) 31122050 BE(1)
Bk (R-F=%
NA—BEHE)
Employees 29.062020%  01.01.2021-  Note (3) 8.14¢ 831 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
&8 31122049 HiEQ)
Total 6,000,000 - (3,000,000) - 3,000,000
@it

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate number of Options granted MR- Z - —HF+_-_A=+—H BERFTHEER
to the five highest paid individuals (including one employee) is S HMA LT (BIE—REE) 2EBREEAZK S
3,000,000 Options. 3,000,000 17 BE A 4 o

Notes: Biat -

(1) The Options were granted on 30 March 2021 under the Share Option (1) ZEBBREEREFEIN _ZE=—F=A=1+H

Scheme. The Options shall be exercisable during the period: BELERE BRENATEHRER

() Up to 40% of the Options granted to each of the grantees will (@) BT S EB A& Z 40% 8 5 IR E % AT R
be exercisable from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2023 (both R F-A—RAEZZ_=F+_=
dates inclusive). The vesting period is from the grant date to 31 B=+—H(BEEEWH) BMTE-
December 2021; GEHERLABREE_T_—F+_8

=+—H1t:

(b) up to 30% of the Options granted to each of the grantees will (b) BT FEB A &% 30% 88 IRE A R
be exercisable from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024 (both R =F-A-RAEZZ_AEF+Z
dates inclusive). The vesting period is from the grant date to 31 R=+—H(BEERWHA) BMTE-
December 2022; and GEAERLEANRERE_TE_—_F+_8

=+—H1L: &k

() up to 30% of the Options granted to each of the grantees will © BT F A A &% 30% 88 IR E % AT R
be exercisable from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2025 (both ZE_MF-A—HAEZZE-_RFT+Z
dates inclusive). The vesting period is from the grant date to 31 R=+—H(BEERWA) BMTHE-
December 2023. GEHEREAEE—S_=F+=A

=+—Hik-
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@)

(©)

@

The closing price of the Shares immediately before 30 March 2021 on
which the Option was granted was HK$5.91 per share.

The Options were granted on 29 June 2020 under the Share Option
Scheme. The Options shall be exercisable during the period:

(a)

Up to 40% of the Options granted to each of the grantees will
be exercisable from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2022 (both
dates inclusive). The vesting period is from the grant date to 31
December 2020;

up to 30% of the Options granted to each of the grantees will
be exercisable from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2023 (both
dates inclusive). The vesting period is from the grant date to 31
December 2021; and

up to 30% of the Options granted to each of the grantees will
be exercisable from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024 (both
dates inclusive). The vesting period is from the grant date to 31
December 2022.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before 29 June 2020 on which
the Options were granted was HK$8.14 per share.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Board confirms that
the Company has maintained the public float as required by the
Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this

annual report.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HERERXS

The Company has entered into the following continuing connected AR FIRFRFI LA THERFERS - ZERH
transactions during the Year. Details of the transactions are set out in ~ HIFFIBE AR A B S MAR M 5E36 & T3 ¢

note 36 to the consolidated financial statements and below:
1. Master Lease Agreement

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5
November 2020 and in the annual report for the year ended
2020, a renewed master lease agreement (the “2021 Master
Lease Agreement”) was entered into between the Company
(for itself and as trustee for the benefit of other members of
the Group) and China Aoyuan (for itself and as trustee for the
benefit of other members of the China Aoyuan Group) on
5 November 2020, pursuant to which the Group shall lease
from the China Aoyuan Group certain premises for office
use (the “Lease of Premises”) for a term commencing on 1
January 2021 and ending on 31 December 2023. The annual
caps for the transaction amounts under the 2021 Master
Lease Agreement are RMB40.91 million, RMB44.65 million
and RMB34.10 million respectively for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 respectively.

Taking into account the cost to be incurred and the adverse
impact on the operation of the offices for the relocation of
the premises will be substantial, the Directors believe that
maintenance of the lease agreements with the China Aoyuan
Group will ensure the Group’s stability in using the relevant
premises.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount of
fees payable by the Group to China Aoyuan Group for the
Lease of Premises under the 2021 Master Lease Agreement
amounted to RMB4.69 million, which was within the annual
cap of RMB44.65 million for the same period.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

2.

Master Property Management Agreement

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5
November 2020 and in the annual report for the year ended
2020, a renewed master property management agreement
(the “2021 Master Property Management Agreement”)
was entered into between the Company (for itself and as
trustee for the benefit of other members of the Group) and
China Aoyuan (for itself and as trustee for the benefit of
other members of the China Aoyuan Group) on 5 November
2020, pursuant to which the Group shall provide pre-sale
sales assistance services and property management services
at the pre-delivery stage to properties developed or owned
by the China Aoyuan Group (the “Property Management
Services”) for a term commencing on 1 January 2021 and
ending on 31 December 2023.

Subsequently, as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 4 June 2021, a property management
supplemental agreement (the “2021 Property Management
Supplemental Agreement”) was entered into between the
Company (for itself and as trustee for the benefit of other
members of the Group) and China Aoyuan (for itself and
as trustee for the benefit of other members of the China
Aoyuan Group) on 4 June 2021, pursuant to which the parties
agreed to revise the annual caps for the transaction amounts
in respect of the Property Management Services. The annual
caps for the transaction amounts under the 2021 Property
Management Supplemental Agreement are RMB667.48
million, RMB901.10 million and RMB1,203.06 million
respectively for each of the three years ending 31 December
2021, 2022 and 2023 respectively.

The 2021 Master Property Management Agreement and
the 2021 Property Management Supplemental Agreement
allow the Group to continue to utilise the platform provided
by the China Aoyuan Group as one of the leading property
developers in the PRC to provide property management
services. The Directors believe that the renewal of the 2021
Master Property Management Agreement and the revision
of the annual caps under the 2021 Property Management
Supplemental Agreement can generate stable income and
realise more benefits for the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amounts
payable by the China Aoyuan Group to the Group for the
Property Management Services under the 2021 Property
Management Supplemental Agreement amounted to
RMB86.70 million, which was within the annual cap of
RMB901.10 million for the same period.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

3.

Master Commercial Operational Agreement

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5
November 2020 and in the annual report for the year ended
2020, a renewed master commercial operational agreement
(the “2021 Master Commercial Operational Agreement”)
was entered into between the Company (for itself and as
trustee for the benefit of other members of the Group) and
China Aoyuan (for itself and as trustee for the benefit of
other members of the China Aoyuan Group) on 5 November
2020, pursuant to which the Group shall provide commercial
operational services to properties developed or owned by
the China Aoyuan Group (the “Commercial Operational
Services”) for a term commencing on 1 January 2021 and
ending on 31 December 2023.

Subsequently, as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 4 June 2021, a commercial operational
supplemental agreement (the “2021 Commercial
Operational Supplemental Agreement”), was entered into
between the Company (for itself and as trustee for the benefit
of other members of the Group) and China Aoyuan (for itself
and as trustee for the benefit of other members of the China
Aoyuan Group) on 4 June 2021, pursuant to which the parties
agreed to revise the annual caps for the transaction amounts
in respect of the Commercial Operational Services. The annual
caps for the transaction amounts under the 2021 Commercial
Operational Supplemental Agreement are RMB221.43 million,
RMB272.22 million and RMB316.65 million respectively for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and
2023 respectively.

The 2021 Master Commercial Operational Agreement and
the 2021 Commercial Operational Supplemental Agreement
allow the Group to continue to utilise the platform provided
by the China Aoyuan Group as one of the leading property
developers in the PRC to provide Commercial Operational
Services. The Directors believe that the renewal of the 2021
Master Commercial Operational Agreement and the revision
of the annual caps under the 2021 Commercial Operational
Supplemental Agreement can generate stable income and
realise more benefits for the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amounts
payable by the China Aoyuan Group to the Group for the
Commercial Operational Services under the 2021 Commercial
Operational Supplemental Agreement amounted to RMB31.00
million, which was within the annual cap of RMB272.22
million for the same period.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

4.

Master Purchase Agreement

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5
November 2020 and in the annual report for the year ended
2020, the Company (for itself and as trustee for the benefit of
other members of the Group) entered into a master purchase
agreement with China Aoyuan (for itself and as trustee for
the benefit of other members of the China Aoyuan Group)
(the “2021 Master Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to
which the China Aoyuan Group shall purchase the electrical
appliances from the Group for a term commencing on 1
January 2021 and ending on 31 December 2023. The annual
caps for the transaction amounts under the 2021 Master
Purchase Agreement are RMB105.73 million, RMB158.59
million and RMB237.88 million respectively for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023
respectively.

By entering into the 2021 Master Purchase Agreement, the
Group can combine the demands of the Electrical Appliances
from itself and the China Aoyuan Group, make bulk purchases
and fulfil this agreement by resale of the Electrical Appliances
to the China Aoyuan Group. The arrangements of centralised
procurement and bulk purchasing are expected to enhance
purchase and management efficiency, lower purchase costs
and further improve the profitability of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amounts
payable by the China Aoyuan Group to the Group for the
purchase of electrical appliances under the 2021 Master
Purchase Agreement amounted to RMB3.84 million, which
was within the annual cap of RMB158.59 million for the same
period.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

5.

Master Intelligent Engineering Agreement

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5
November 2020 and in the annual report for the year ended
2020, a master intelligent engineering agreement (the “2021
Master Intelligent Engineering Agreement”) was entered
into between the Company (for itself and as trustee for the
benefit of other members of the Group) and China Aoyuan
(for itself and as trustee for the benefit of other members of
the China Aoyuan Group) on 5 November 2020, pursuant
to which the Group shall provide the intelligent engineering
services to properties developed or owned by the China
Aoyuan Group (the “Intelligent Engineering Services”)
for a term commencing on 1 January 2021 and ending on 31
December 2023.

Subsequently, as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 4 June 2021, an intelligent engineering
supplemental agreement (the “2021 Intelligent Engineering
Supplemental Agreement”) was entered into between the
Company (for itself and as trustee for the benefit of other
members of the Group) and China Aoyuan (for itself and
as trustee for the benefit of other members of the China
Aoyuan Group) on 4 June 2021, pursuant to which the parties
agreed to revise the annual caps for the transaction amounts
in respect of the Intelligent Engineering Services. The annual
caps for the transaction amounts under the 2021 Intelligent
Engineering Supplemental Agreement are RMB147.71 million,
RMB208.57 million and RMB296.19 million respectively for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and
2023 respectively.

Report of the Directors
ERERE

HIRMER S (2

HERLIERE

BUARARBHAE-_ZT-_TFE+—AHA
MAERBEE T -_TF | FENFRAT
WE RZZEZZTF+—FHHBE ' ARQF
(BEAFRIEATEBEMK B QAW
SHEAN) BPERER (BEAS RIEAT
BEREEEEMKERRNIEAN)FIL
wEgE IR B —FHE/t
IRWMED Bt AEEHETEEE
EERAENEENYERME L ITRR
B IRRE)  HRE-ZT=—
F—A—BBE_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—
S

BE1E » INANRI BHIA-ZT - —F XA
WEHMASH#EE  RZEZ—FA0
H ARal (BEXG RIESAEBHAM
FRERRIMZFEA) BRHEE (BEXE
MEATHBESEEEMK S RFIMNTT
N A Bt IE#ExRHE(ZF=—
E%‘*ﬂtl&?ﬁ%%%ﬁ) -3 IF Ob]
EBTABERLLIERESGSHE Y
iri@ HE-_ZT-_—F . _T-_—%F
B =F+ZA=+—HI=@%F
ESF T —FEtIEMAwE
BT Z2RGeBFELERSFIAARE
14771887t AR®E208578ETMA
RIEE296.19H & T °

Annual Report 2022 —ZZ=ZfF#

141



142

Report of the Directors
ERERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
5. Master Intelligent Engineering Agreement

(Continued)

The Company is highly committed to improving the service
quality to meet the customers’ demands by applying
technological solutions and enhancing the use of information
technology in the property management services which
includes certain smart devices and relevant communication
facilities. Leveraging on its deep understanding of the needs
of members of residential and commercial communities
and its extensive experience in community intelligentisation
during provision of property management and commercial
operational services, the Group is able to provide high quality
services of design and construction for intelligentisation
projects developed by the China Aoyuan Group. The entering
into of the 2021 Master Intelligent Engineering Agreement
and the revision of the annual caps under the 2021 Intelligent
Engineering Supplemental Agreement helps raise the Group’s
income for value-added services, which will thereby increase
the total revenue, improve the profitability of the Group and
conform with the Group’s strategic development.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amounts
payable by the China Aoyuan Group to the Group for the
Intelligent Engineering Services under the 2021 Intelligent
Engineering Supplemental Agreement amounted to RMB7.66
million, which was within the annual cap of RMB208.57
million for the same period.

Master General Health and Wellness Agreement

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 4
June 2021, a master general health and wellness agreement
(the “2021 Master General Health and Wellness
Agreement”) was entered into between the Company (for
itself and as trustee for the benefit of other members of the
Group) and China Aoyuan (for itself and as trustee for the
benefit of other members of the China Aoyuan Group) on
4 June 2021, pursuant to which the Group shall provide the
general health and wellness services to China Aoyuan Group
(the "General Health and Wellness Services”) for a term
commencing on 6 August 2021 and ending on 31 December
2023. The annual caps for the transaction amounts under the
2021 Master General Health and Wellness Agreement are
RMB32.56 million, RMB58.74 million and RMB76.23 million
respectively for each of the three years ending 31 December
2021, 2022 and 2023 respectively.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A

HIRMER S (2

HERCIER® (&)

RABB AR RIBIEARIME R RN
Y ETR ARG o2 (E BRI (2 A LALR
SREEE (BESE TEERELEREB
FERNE)  WMmERP,PFE K BREHE
EREEMBRKBEFKERANT AR
REVMEETEREFELRBEHARNLRE
Bt TENEEER  NEBH AT
BERESEFAEN SRt EERESE
im +&%ﬁ%% RN T —F48
Bt IRBERET S —F5 ﬁﬂt
I&ﬁ%%uﬁTZEEL@ﬁ%m}
REBERIZEREWA - {EmIginaugA -
WMERNEBRNABFGE NI K6 AEEF
MR o

HE_ZT-_—F+A=1+—RHLFE "
FHEREERE-_ZS - —FE0lIE
ﬁ%% St IR ENAEER
SHEAANREI6EETT  THER
iEt@AEMm&WE%ﬁO

#EK R Rt ok

HMAANBBSHA-ZE - —FAMNBHN
Aiﬁﬁﬁﬁ% EA_v__E/\HEE $
RA(BEAGRIEATEEEMKE R
AMZEAN) BRERE (BERGRIER
FREREREEEMKE RRIMNZFEAN)F]
VRRERp (T2 —FR8KRBER
E) B AEEERTRERESEER
TK@K%%Uﬁ@EWﬁD HiRE =
E-—FNARNBRERE-ZE-_=F+_"A
—+ Bl B#&2-_T—-_—F —T__
FRZE=FF+_A=+—HIE=EF
EfF - —FHRERBEETIZ
RHZEHBEELRIFIABARKE3256H
B AR%5874858 Lk AR 7623
BEIT



CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

6.

Master General Health and Wellness Agreement
(Continued)

The provision of the General Health and Wellness Services
under the 2021 Master General Health and Wellness
Agreement will not only reinforce the long-term business
relationship between the Group and the China Aoyuan Group,
but also expand the revenue bases of the Group. The Directors
consider that the entering into of the 2021 Master General
Health and Wellness Agreement is in line with the Group’s
strategy and will strengthen its footprint in the general health
and wellness industry.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amounts
payable by the China Aoyuan Group to the Group for
the General Health and Wellness Services under the 2021
Master General Health and Wellness Agreement amounted
to RMBO0.00 million, which was within the annual cap of
RMB58.74 million for the same period.

China Aoyuan is the controlling shareholder of the Company.
China Aoyuan and its associates indirectly hold approximately
54.58% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Accordingly, China Aoyuan is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules, and the transactions
(including the annual caps) contemplated under each of
the above agreements constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the above have also been disclosed in the circulars
dated 7 December 2020 and 16 July 2021. Independent
shareholders of the Company have approved the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions at the extraordinary general
meetings held on 29 December 2020 and 6 August 2021.
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Report of the Directors
ERERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Review and Approval

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have
been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740" Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its letter containing the findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules:

1. Nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Company’s Board.

2. For transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to its attention that causes it to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Review and Approval (Continued)

3. Nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions were not
entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions.

4. With respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual caps as set
by the Company.

A copy of the auditor’s letter on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of related party transaction(s) entered into by the Group during
the Year are set out in note 36 to the Group’s consolidated financial
statement. Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
transaction” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this
annual report which has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, these transactions
do not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or
“continuing connected transactions” (as the case may be) under the
Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement (chairman),
Dr. Li Zijun and Mr. Wang Shao. The Audit Committee, together with
the Board, have reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed auditing and financial reporting
matters including the review of the financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Report of the Directors
ERERE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Suspension of trading

On 25 March 2022, the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) received a letter from Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the
then auditor of the Company, requesting for additional information
on certain fund flows with related parties of the Group (the “Fund
Flow Matters"”), a summary of which is set out as follows:

(i) a fund transfer of RMB350 million between the Group and the
Parent Group (that is, China Aoyuan Group Limited (“China
Aoyuan”) and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group)) in
December 2021 (the “Fund Flow Matter 1");

a fund transfer of RMB50 million in November 2021 in
connection with a potential acquisition of land in Guangzhou
(the “Fund Flow Matter 2");

(i)

(iii) two separate payments in amounts of approximately
RMB347.5 million and approximately RMB148.6 million made
by the Group to a supplier of China Aoyuan in December
2021 in accordance with a tri-partite agreement among the
Group, China Aoyuan and the said supplier of China Aoyuan
(the “Fund Flow Matter 3"); and

(iv) certain non-trade cash inflows and outflows of approximately
RMB2.8 billion and approximately RMB2.9 billion, respectively
between the Group and the Parent Group during 2021 (the

“Fund Flow Matter 4").

Partly due to the Fund Flow Matters and partly due to the preventive
and control measures implemented in the PRC in connection with
the COVID-19 pandemic which disrupted the progress of sorting and
collecting financial data, the audit of the annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was delayed and the Company was unable
to publish the annual results announcement of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 on or before 31 March 2022 in accordance
with Rule 13.49(1) of the Listing Rules and despatch the 2021 annual
report to its shareholders on or before 30 April 2022 in accordance
with Rule 13.46(2)(a) of the Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

Suspension of trading (Continued)

Trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange was
suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 1 April 2022 as required
under Rule 13.50 of the Listing Rules.

On 30 March 2022, the Board resolved to establish an independent
investigation committee (the “Independent Investigation
Committee”), comprising all three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement, Dr. Li Zijun and Mr.
Wang Shao, to undertake the investigations to assess the Fund Flows
Matters. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30
March 2022 for details.

On 13 April 2022, the Audit Committee received from Deloitte
another letter, which set out certain allegations made anonymously
against the Group (the “Allegations”). Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 2 June 2022 for details of the
Allegations.

On 27 April 2022, the Independent Investigation Committee engaged
an independent and competent forensic accounting firm (the
“Investigation Firm”) to conduct independent investigations into
the Fund Flows Matter 1, the Fund Flow Matter 2 and the Allegations.

Deloitte requested the Company to pay additional audit fee for the
annual results for the year ended 31 December 2021 for additional
audit procedures to be performed in view of the Fund Flow Matters
and the Allegations. As the Company did not agree to pay such
additional audit fee, Deloitte resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 31 May 2022. With the recommendation of the
Audit Committee, the Board resolved to appoint Zhonghui Anda CPA
Limited as the auditor of the Company with effect from 2 June 2022.

On 27 June 2022, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange setting out the resumption guidance for the resumption
of trading in the shares of the Company. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2022 for details.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

Suspension of trading (Continued)

Since the Investigation Firm was conducting investigations and
preparing its reports on its findings on the Fund Flows Matter 1, the
Fund Flow Matter 2 and the Allegations, the publication/despatch
of the annual results announcement and report for the year ended
31 December 2021 remained pending, and as a result of which
the publication/despatch of the interim results announcement and
report for the six months ended 30 June 2022 were also delayed. The
Company was unable to publish the interim results announcement of
the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022 on or before 31
August 2022 in accordance with Rule 13.49(6) of the Listing Rules
and despatch the 2022 interim report to its shareholders on or before
30 September 2022 in accordance with Rule 13.48(1) of the Listing
Rules.

On 3 October 2022, the Investigation Firm finalised and issued two
investigation reports in relation to (a) the Fund Flows Matter 1 and
the Fund Flow Matter 2 (the “Fund Flows Matters’ Investigation
Report”) and (b) the Allegations (the “Allegations’ Investigation
Report”, together with the Fund Flows Matters’ Investigation Report,
the “Investigation Reports”), respectively. The Independent
Investigation Committee reviewed and submitted the Investigation
Reports, together with the opinion of the Independent Investigation
Committee to the Board for approval on 3 October 2022. For details
in relation to (a) the major procedures executed and the major
limitations encountered by the Investigation Firm in its independent
investigations in relation to the Fund Flow Matter 1, the Fund Flow
Matter 2 and the Allegations; (b) the key findings of the Investigation
Firm in relation to the Fund Flow Matter 1, the Fund Flow Matter
2 and the Allegations; (c) the key findings of the Independent
Investigation Committee in relation to the Fund Flow Matter 3 and
the Fund Flow Matter 4; (iv) other findings of the Investigation Firm;
and (v) views of the Independent Investigation Committee and the
Board on the Investigation Reports.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RERRELZEEERAD A

BEHEER 2

UEEE(Z)
MRBEATHESARTE B2 A RFE
B A AR B E G RAS - B

é:?:—¢+_ﬁi+—5¢¢FZ¢F¥
BAERBEMATIR T Bt #2=-F%
T FERNAZTHEARNBARAZHRHELEANER
HETECETE T8  AQREERE LM
FEIFE13496) RN —E-_—F N \A=+—HB=
ZHTREARERHEE S - —_FXA=1THI1
NERZHRHERRE  MEERE EWRAIE
1348MNIER T - —FAhA=+tHxZZaAH
RREFHE T —FHEARE -

RZZBEZZF+A=R  #AERADRIHUTE
E%E&%ﬁﬁﬁméﬁir VES A REIR

NEGHKREE2([EEAREERAERE]) &
(b)feiE ([EEAERE]  ERASFREEA
ERELTE ZEAERE]) - BUASZEY
RIE - —F+A-HERHUTMEFTTRIZSE
FAEHRE (ERBUATZETHNER) - ET
o BEQ@BAERRRBLAECESAENKREER
=k EX%Ez&hH%ﬂﬁMIEEF&LH
NEERH : O)FAEARNBRESEREIET
=k EX%EQ&E%WIKME% (¥ :-hva
AEZEeHNELEXRBTEIRESCANREE
ANTEFEER (VAT ARNEMHATER
MWBYAEZEeRETSLHATRENER -



EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

Suspension of trading (Continued)

In response to the deficiencies in the Group’s corporate governance
and internal control system identified during the independent
investigations and in order to prevent the reoccurrence of similar
incidents in the future, the Group engaged an internal control
consultant (the “IC Consultant”) to assess the internal controls
of the Group in two phases. In the first phase, the IC Consultant
identified findings on deficiencies in the internal control system of the
Group and provided improvement suggestions for the management’s
consideration and action. In the second phase, the IC Consultant
reviewed and reported on the status of the remedial actions taken by
the management in response to the key findings. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 13 January 2023.

Save of the above, the details of the other significant events after
the reporting period of the Group are set out in note 52 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda
CPA Limited. It is the auditor's responsibility to form an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those financial statements and to
report their opinion solely to the Company and for no other purpose.
They do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited will retire as auditor of the Company
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment at the
2023 Annual General Meeting.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 150 to 155.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Siu Fai
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 17 May 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WILMERE

ol

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AOYUAN HEALTHY LIFE GROUP
COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Aoyuan
Healthy Life Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
156 to 307, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Goodwill
Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of goodwill for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the carrying
amount of goodwill of approximately RMB151,118,000 as at 31
December 2022 are material to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition, the Group's impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the identification of the related cash generating
units;

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by client;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and communicating
with the external valuer to discuss the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support
significant judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation model;

- Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and
discount rates); and

- Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for goodwill is
supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
W ZBET R E

Trade receivables and trade-related amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries and related parties

Refer to Notes 23, 25 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables and trade-
related amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and related parties
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because (1) the carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables
and trade-related amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and related
parties of approximately RMB494,573,000 (net of impairment of
approximately RMB89,853,000), approximately RMB54,912,000 (net
of impairment of approximately RMB244,574,000) and approximately
RMB4,587,000 (net of impairment of approximately RMB58,296,000),
respectively, as at 31 December 2022; and (2) the impairment loss on
trade receivables, trade-related amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
and related parties of approximately RMB14,936,000, approximately
RMB56,720,000 and approximately RMB16,826,000, respectively
charged to profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022
are material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement and is
based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Obtaining an understanding of how the management assess
the impairment of trade receivable and trade-related amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries and related parties by applying
the expected credit loss (“ECL"”) model and assessing the
appropriateness of the ECL model, by examining the inputs

and assumptions used by the Group in calculating the ECL;

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history with
the debtors;

- Assessing ageing of the debts;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the debtors;
- Checking subsequent settlements from the debtors; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade receivables

and trade-related amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and related
parties is supported by the available evidence.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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Transactions with related parties
Refer to Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had various
transactions with certain related parties, which included provision
of various services to related parties, purchase of goods and services
from related parties, payments on behalf of related parties, lease
arrangements and fund transfers with related parties, etc., as
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

Given the magnitude of transactions with related parties during
the year ended 31 December 2022, we consider the recording and
disclosures of transactions with related parties a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group’s procedures on identification and
accounting for related party transactions;

- Testing, on a sample basis, the significant related party
transactions with the underlying contracts and other
supporting documents for appropriate authorisation and
approval of those transactions;

= Assessing the existence and completeness of transactions
including material fund transfers with related parties, on a
sample basis, by cross matching the Group’s ledgers with bank
statements obtained directly from banks or internet banking
systems;

- Obtaining the investigation reports and the internal control
review reports, and assessing those report findings and
results for any significant audit implications for any additional
procedures required to follow up; and

- Assessing the adequacy and appropriateness of the disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the recording and disclosures of transactions with
related parties are supported by the available evidence.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BED RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises all the
information in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website
at:

http:/Avww.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-setting/standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05988

Hong Kong, 17 May 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FERSREMERER
For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_ZE_—_F+-_A=+—HIHFE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—HLFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—fF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Hrst AR%T ARET T
Revenue WA 5 1,629,751 1,941,747
Cost of services rendered TR A AR 75 Ak AR (1,232,536) (1,472,172)
Gross profit E A 397,215 469,575
Other income, gains and losses B A - s RkEE 6 81,891 30,646
Impairment losses under expected credit BHEEEE((AHEE
loss model (“ECL"), net of reversal BB RE TR E
BRIk E- 10 (89,170) (290,260)
Impairment losses on goodwill B R EEE 17 = (131,759)
Administrative expenses TR (173,745) (188,816)
Selling and distribution expenses HER D HAXZ (1,296) (5,757)
Change in fair value of investment BEMENFEZS
properties 15 17) 40
Share of results of joint ventures EheaahEEE - (184)
Share of results of associates JE(EHE & N R EE - (25,934)
Finance costs B 75 A AR 7 (15,280) (31,837)
Profit/(loss) before tax B AR A (E5E) 199,598 (174,286)
Income tax expense Frefi X 8 (36,434) (23,000)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRmA (EE) 10 163,164 (197,286)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) Hft2EUW A (B %)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently B & i]§6E# 7 H 2 187
to profit or loss: ZHEE -
Exchange differences on translating foreign 32 & /BN ERE 2 B i =58
operations 10,100 (2,951)
Item that will not be reclassified R TreE 7828
subsequently to profit or loss: mZIHE -
Fair value gain on equity instrument at TR EE AR EE U
fair value through other comprehensive AR AFEFAHEM
income (“FVTOCI") R2EHBAD Z#EETA
Z N EWES 21,061 10,867
Other comprehensive income for the year, S REMZEIRA -
net of income tax Bk TSR 31,161 7,916
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for  FARZEW A (F)
the year 1ERE 194,325 (189,370)

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FeEsRAMZEKEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—BHLEE

HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E—fF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Hrst AR%T AREET T
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: TR ATREFERGF,
(B#E) :
— Owners of the Company S N/NEIEZZE PN 160,407 (190,940)
— Non-controlling interests —IE R AE RS 2,757 (6,346)
163,164 (197,286)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) IKTATEEZEKAS
attributable to: (FX) 4%
— Owners of the Company —ARRNRHEEA 182,220 (185,398)
— Non-controlling interests —IJEVE R 12,105 (3,972)
194,325 (189,370)
Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB cents) SEREF (&iE)
(AR%2)
— Basic —&K 12 22.09 (26.29)
— Diluted — 58 12 22.09 (26.29)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MEKAR

As at 31 December 2022 WRZZE-_—F#+—-F=+—H
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—H
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’'000
Bt AR® T ARBFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B KR 13 29,438 37,060
Right-of-use assets EAEEE 14 16,599 23,575
Investment properties TEMSE 15 9,051 9,068
Intangible assets mAE 16 78,858 91,932
Goodwill BES 17 151,118 151,118
Interests in associate REEE QRIS 18 = =
Equity instrument at fair value through BATEGFABR
profit or loss (“FVTPL") = 19 65,108 70,523
Equity instrument at FVTOC| BRATFEFAHMEE
WAZ#EZTA 20 137,321 106,160
Deferred tax assets BETIEEE 21 61,059 52,224
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, EEE¥E - HE &R E
plant and equipment Xt zike 2,524 2,524
Trade and other receivables E 5 K E A e U B 23 2,900 2,900
553,976 547,084
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 22 9,208 3,482
Trade and other receivables B 5 M HE U FRIE 23 691,822 491,033
Deferred contract costs BIES H) KA 8,149 3,195
Amounts due from non-controlling FE UG B B A &) FE R AR AR ER
shareholders of subsidiaries KB 24 167 3,495
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEUL (R 2 S B A~ Bl IR 25 54,912 14,415
Amounts due from related parties JE U B8 Bt O SRR 26 5,460 8,262
Restricted bank deposits SR AIEITER 27 71,152 13,058
Bank balances and cash RITRBRKRE € 27 826,180 1,209,222
1,667,050 1,746,162
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E b JE A 5RI8 28 772,821 729,863
Contract liabilities AHaE 29 225,601 271,884
Amounts due to non-controlling FE < B B 2 &) FE R AR AR 2R
shareholders of subsidiaries KB 30 7,060 10,445
Tax liabilities MIEBE 43,199 47,383
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 3,318 4,101
Bank borrowings RITHENX 33 138,988 386,564
1,190,987 1,450,240
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FeMEBERAE
As at 31 December 2022 WR-E-_—_F+-_A=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000

HiiE AR®TR ARBTT

NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 476,063 295,922
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERRBAE

LIABILITIES 1,030,039 843,006
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIEEE 21 21,699 24,989
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 15,982 21,924

37,681 46,913

NET ASSETS FEE 992,358 796,093
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRFHE
Share capital [N 34 6,207 6,207
Reserves 1 925,268 741,108
Equity attributable to owners of the RRAREAR ANEEER

Company 931,475 747,315
Non-controlling interests JEVE R = 60,883 48,778
TOTAL EQUITY W 4B R 992,358 796,093

The consolidated financial statements on pages 156 to 307 were %2156 %307 BRI G A ERENR " E—=FFH
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on B4+ + H&EE=eH & REETE > WH 5%

17 May 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: ERARE
Cheng Siu Fai Ruan Yung Xi
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
5% 5%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
freRaEn=E
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRARBARE

Paid-in
capital/ Share Investment
share  Share Statutory  Capital  Special  option Translation valuation Retained
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits
R4 ERE REfE
X/ ROEE tERE EREE GARE  BE ENRE 86 REE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

Subtotal

/J\E-f
RMB'000

Non-
controlling
interests

*ERRR
RMB000

Total

it
RVB000

NRETRL ARRTRL ARBTL ARMTT ARETR ARBTR ARMTL ARMTTL ARETRL ARETRL ARETL ARMTT

Moed  Moey — Noig
(ida) (Wb (o

At 1 January 2021 \ZE-F-f-8 6207 5598% 32103 (36512) (478) 7036 (3595  (328) 487231 1,027,216

Total comprehensive expense for ~ FREEHR 2%

52,750 1,079,966

the year - - - - - - (2005 7607 (190940) (185398  (3.972) (189,370)
Recognition of equity-settled share- AL\ RIELE Mk AE
based payments (Aote 35) B W) - - - - - m - - - - m
Dividend declared fAoze /1) BERkEHi11) - (101,675) = = = = = = - (101,675) - (101,675)
At31 December 2021 WB-f
t-h=1+-H 6207 458181 32103 (36512) (478) 14208 (56600 7279 296291 747315 48778 796,093
Total comprehensive income for ~ ERZTHELE
the year - - - - = - 101 14742 160407 182220 12,105 194325
Recogniton of equity-settled share- B\ RIELEL R AR
based payments (Voe 35) R 5) - - - - - 190 - - - 190 - 1940
Transfer upon forfeiture RN EREE
of share options - - - - - (60m3) - - 603 - - -
At31 December 2022 i -2
t-h=1-A 6,207 458181 32,103  (36512) (24782) 10075 1411 22001 462771 931475 60883 992,358
Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF



Notes:

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022

The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for
the year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") (based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements) in
accordance with the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reaches
50% of the registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve
cannot be reduced except either use to set off the accumulated losses or
increase capital.

The capital reserve as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 included: (1) a
debit amount of RMB5, 156,000 related to an excess of the proportionate
share of carrying amount of net assets acquired upon the acquisition of
the remaining interest in Guangzhou Aoyuan Property Services Company
Limited from Shenyang Hua Xin International Company Limited, a non-
controlling shareholder, in previous years; (2) share capital of subsidiaries
contributed by fellow subsidiaries of the amount of RMB26,700,000 in total
prior to the completion of group reorganization; (3) deemed distribution of
a debit amount of RMB58,917,000 in total to ultimate holding company
upon group reorganisation. For details of the group reorganisation, please
refer to the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018; (4) a debit amount of RMB548,000 arising from acquisition of
additional equity interest in a subsidiary from a former non- controlling
shareholder of the subsidiary; which represents the difference between the
consideration payable and the adjustment to the non-controlling interest
in the subsidiary. (5) a credit amount of RMB1,409,000 arising from
acquisition of the 70% equity interests in Mastervin Developments Limited
under merger accounting basis which acquired from Add Hero Holdings
Limited, a subsidiary of China Aoyuan.

The special reserve as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 included: (1) a
debit amount of RMB43,214,000 related to the net return to Guangzhou
Aoyuan Assets Management Company Limited (“Guangzhou Aoyuan
Assets Management”), a subsidiary of China Aoyuan Group Limited
(“China Aoyuan”), which represent the net fundings transferred from
Panyu Commercial Operational Services Business (as defined in note 2 the
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018) to
Guangzhou Aoyuan Assets Management prior to the completion of the
group reorganisation; (2) a credit amount of RMB18,432,000 related to
the net contribution from Guangzhou Aoyuan Assets Management, which
represent the net fundings transferred from Guangzhou Aoyuan Assets
Management to Panyu Commercial Operational Services Business prior to
the completion of the group reorganisation.

Hyiz -

reEREDE
HE_Z_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

EEFBEEREABEDEARKNE (FEDE
AR BB A BRF AR R EHS
REMPBREERBHRR) BRNEE  EEAE
FFEEDZEMBRAZEMEARNS50% ° BrIEM
REBERFBRIEMER - BRI AR D EAE
-

RZE-_—ER-_E-_—F+-_A=+—HBHE
AFEERE: WAEBEBBESENREEXEGR
AEl(RBEFERIFERRR) WEEMNRED
ERBERAABR T EREBLHMKEFIFEER
EEFTE LBl E) & 75 & %8 A K% 5,156,000 7T
QREBEMETHR - RRMBRREEHBR
AL A48 & 58 A R #26,700,0007T : QREEE
A ARKERABRIERERESTLBRITA
R#¥58,917,000C - EEEEEENFE  F2
HASBEBRE-_Z—\F+A=+—HBLFE
MFEERE (4R —EM B AR A IEE KRR
KEZHMBARBINREEENEISBEARE
548,000 7T + 7% & 8 5 FE < (X (B B 5% MY B 1 R 3E4%
FlIEZAR BNER: O)REMHEFEEFH
0 58 (& K9 [} /B /A 7] Add Hero Holdings Limited U &
Mastervin Developments Limited 70% % # f Z& 4 19
EReBE AR 1,409,000

KRB ZFR-_F-_—F+_A=+—HHF
AFEHEEE: ()VFEREEEERAA (HER
BDHBARENREEELEERAR AR ([E
MNREEELEEE]) N FOR(BIEBEMETK
MEEBENEEERGES (ERAAEEHES
T N\E+_A=Z+—BLEEZERHZE2) M
BENREEELLERERNFEAS)NETE
ARM43214,000T: QEMNBEEELLEEE
RFERM(AIEEEAKATEENREEELE
ERNEBNEELERBESERNFES)NE
F & E AR 18,432,000 7T °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HeaBeiER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E--F %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHELNHERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI ATEF (EE) 199,598 (174,286)
Adjustments for: R
Change in fair value of investment properties KEYENTEES 17 (40)
Change in fair value of equity instrument at FVTPL BAFEFABRE ERTIAEY
N EED 5,415 (1,970)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE - BERRBINE 10,825 14,180
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 13,074 13,273
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 6,493 6,035
Share of results of joint ventures EIEEEhEEE - 184
Share of results of associates BB S AREER = 25,934
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, BHEEEBEE TRRER
net of reversal 18 MREmE 89,170 290,260
Impairment losses on goodwill HEZREEE = 131,759
(Reversal of impairment losses)/Impairment losses on BIESHHAZ
deferred contract costs CREEERER) REERE (3,266) 10,197
(Gain)loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HE¥E - BE kR ER ()
e it (110) 197
(Gain)/loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 39) HE—FHB AR (WE)
B8 (B15t39) (258) 6,363
Gain on disposal of associates HER N s = (764)
Gain on disposal of joint ventures HEE & b ERN R - (898)
Gain on early termination of leases REL RS 2 W (385) =
Exchange gain, net BE i Wzs - 8 (45,390) (3,515)
Finance costs B PR 15,280 31,837
Share-based payments PARRAn B 2R 2 (53X 1,940 7,172
Dividend income B B UA (2,704) (6,635)
Bank interest income RITHFEWA (4,513) (6,344)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 2 & E R NELELRE 285,186 342,939
Increase in inventories FEEM (6,403) (6,266)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 R H At JFE U ZRIB 12 A0 (220,043) (146,784)
(Increase)/decrease in deferred contract costs EREAKMRA (), md (1,688) 6,909
Increase in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries JE UK [R] 2 Ff JB8 2 &) FRIE I A0 (94,392) (258,868)
Decrease in amounts due from non-controlling FE WL BT /B A B FEIE R AR SR 5K I8
shareholders of subsidiaries L - 311
Increase in amounts due from related parties JFE L R B 7 Sk R SE (14,051) (66,015)
Decrease in amounts due from associates JE Bt 2 8 B R IE R - 6,756
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K E fth FE T FRIBIE AN 44,735 84,467
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BHEECRD) /1 (46,283) 30,515
Cash used in operations REMARSE (52,939) (6,036)
Income taxes paid BEARFTEH (52,743) (80,304)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES REZHMARESEE (105,682) (86,340)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEBeRE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE
2022 2021
—E-CF B %
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZHELNESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEDE  BEREE (3,269) (12,200)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEWE « BE MR EFTERIE 123 807
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash and WEHB AR (CHBRMEHRE K
cash equivalents acquired) (Note 38) ReEEW) (Hit38) - (54,090)
Settlement of considerations for acquisitions of EERAIFRENBARNRE
subsidiaries in prior years - (41,445)
Cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) HEMRBARE R (#7739) (278) (1,700)
Cash inflow on disposal of joint ventures HESZRERERA - 9,000
Cash inflow on disposal of associates HEHZERARER - 2,800
Repayment from non-controlling shareholders WA R FEE R AR R B X
of subsidiaries 3,395 652
Repayment from related parties BT ER 27 =
Repayment from associates BEARER - 45,110
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries RZKB A AER 357,471 3,006,200
Advance to fellow subsidiaries $4 7B RH B A R ZIE (357,244) (2,937,159)
Release of restricted bank deposits ZEEREIRITER 3,000 141
Placement of restricted bank deposits FEXRHBRITER (61,094) =
Dividend received B 8 2,704 6,635
Bank interest received BUERITH S 4,513 6,344
NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZE (A FBRLFE (50,652) 31,095
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHELNRAESRE
New bank borrowings raised MERITER - 524,943
Repayment of bank borrowings RITIEFER (247,576) (609,879)
Repayment of bonds BEER - (16,300)
Interest paid on bonds and bank borrowings BEKBRITERENFIE (13,404) (30,066)
Interest paid on leases liabilities HEBREENHEA (1,876) (2,283)
Repayment to joint ventures e ETERR = (5,067)
Advance from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries  Ff/B 2 &) JEH2 A% I% 5 £ 3% 221
Repayment to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries [ B} &8 22 &1 3F % B AR 548 3¢ (3,385) =
Payments for the acquisition of additional interest in a R E—FZRENRB L REN
subsidiary in the prior year BT - (400)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company TRFARREEE ANRE - (101,675)
Repayments of lease liabilities HEEBEEX (5,857) (4,815)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHAREFEE (272,098) (245,321)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
IREBERER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E--F %
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREFTT
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REeERBEEEYRDEE (428,432) (300,566)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING FOZREeRESEEY
OF THE YEAR 1,209,222 1,506,273
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ExEH s w8 45,390 3,515
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR & XZHEREBEEZEY B :
AND REPRESENTED BY:
Bank balances and cash SBTEBREIRE 826,180 1,209,222
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

GENERAL INFORMATION

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a company with limited liability incorporated
in the Cayman Islands and with its shares listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 18 March 2019 (the “Listing”). The
Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under
the Cayman Islands Companies Law Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) on 13 December 2016.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in corporate
information section to the annual report.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Main Trend
Limited, a limited company incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the British Virgin Islands.
Its ultimate holding company is Joy Pacific Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
which is controlled by Mr. Guo Zi Wen. China Aoyuan Group
Limited (“China Aoyuan”, together with its subsidiaries
“China Aoyuan Group”), a company which is incorporated
as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands and with its shares listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange is an intermediate holding company of the
Company.

Subsequent to the year end, on 16 February 2023, Main Trend
Limited disposed of its entire equity interests in the Company
to Best Discovery International Limited, an independent
third party of the Company and is not connected with
China Aoyuan. Subsequent to the disposal, Best Discovery
International Limited became the single largest shareholder
of the Company. Further details of the above disposal are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 16 February
2023.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the provision of property
management services and commercial operational services.
The particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in
note 49.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e M BERERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (THE “IFRSs")

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) have applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to IFRS Standards ~ Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Standards 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial position
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new
and revised IFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised IFRSs would have a material impact on
its results of operations and financial position.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties,
equity instrument at FVTPL and equity instrument at FVTOC],
and in accordance with IFRSs. For the purpose of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 /eases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 /nventories
or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e M BERERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, results of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date of the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
accounting. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the International
Accounting Standards Committee’s Framework for Financial
Reporting.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively; and
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new
leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for
which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net amount of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after
re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation
are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of cash-generating units). Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
unites, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs to sell) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill,
that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

. the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

Other than certain contracts for provision of market positioning
service and business tenant sourcing services of which the
Group does not have an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date and certain contracts that
solely for the provision of market positioning services for which
revenue was recognised at a point in time when the milestone
is achieved, the progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation of other contracts is measured
over time based on output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining services promised under the contract, that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
services.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Property management services

The Group provides property management services, sales
assistance services, community value- added services,
engineering installation services and heating service to
property developers, property owners and residents. Revenue
from providing services is recognised over time in the period in
which the services are rendered as the performance obligation
of providing property management services fee income is
satisfied over time as customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits of these services throughout the service
period.

For property management services fee income from properties
managed under lump sum basis, where the Group acts as
principal and is primary responsible for providing the property
management services to the property owners, the Group
recognises the fee received or receivable from property owners
as its revenue and all related property management costs as its
cost of services.

Sales assistance services to property developers mainly
includes cleaning, greening, repair and maintenance services
to property developers at the pre-delivery stage. The Group
agrees the price for each service with the customers upfront
and issues the monthly bill to the customers which varies
based on the actual level of service completed in that month.

For community value-added services, it mainly includes (i)
common area and advertisement space leasing services; (ii)
home living assistance services such as purchase assistance for
groceries, laundry, repair and maintenance of home appliances
and furniture, telecommunications, turnkey furnishing and
move-in services; and (iii) property agency services. Revenue
is recognised over time in the period when the related
community value-added services are rendered. Payment of the
transaction is due immediately when the community value-
added services are rendered to the customer.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Property management services (Continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of engineering
installation services provided to property developer is measured
based on output method, which is to recognize revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods
or services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract, the
best depict of the Group’s performance in transferring control
of goods or services.

The Group supplies heat to property owners and residents
by maintaining the operation of the boilers, which are inside
the communities and used to produce hot gas in winter. The
Group agrees the unit price per square meter for the service
with customers and issues bills to customers, varying with the
actual floor area of each customer and their respective time
duration consuming hot gas.

Commercial operational services
The Group entered into agreements with property developers
or owners to provide the following services to their shopping

malls:

Market positioning and business tenant sourcing services
which primarily involve:

o market research and positioning service and business
tenant sourcing service;

Commercial operation and management services which
primarily involve:

o property management services including security,
cleaning, repair and maintenance services,

o business tenant management and rent collection
services; and

o other value-added services, including car park
management, at the post-opening stage.

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

FEMBEBRRNEREEREX
et lR (2

Jir

ERSHRE (&)
WHEERRH (&)

TERETRMEREDRE TRELERE
ZEEZBLATE  IRBEEXAER
SEERTEFPZERIRBEERSGD
ET% & 2 85 T B e RS AR L SRR R
CBBETERERRASEEZEE M
%WT%%ZE@I&°

AEEEBEERENERF (UREER
MERERBELEERAR) AVMEXER
EFHIER - ARERERETEFRBEH
BAER /TR TEEFEHRE
HABREPMERBTRERKESRA
HIERR BB KM AR -

B R EE R

AEBEMEFAEBNEER L IHH
AE SRR E TR :

BEMARBAFRERGEZEE

IR

AR#

& REALRFSIA K P B8

BRELLNEERKEIZERE

. MEEERY > 2%
HEE I M R A

ZRBER
. P EE MRS &

. H IR ERTS -

3 CELESACES
FEEE

Annual Report 2022 —ZZ=ZfF#§

179



180

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Commercial operational services (Continued)

The performance obligations of the contract of provision
of market positioning service and business tenant sourcing
services of which the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date,
represent the grand opening of the shopping mall which
have to be happened following the achievement of certain
occupancy rate of the related shopping malls as agreed.
Accordingly, the revenue was recognised at a point in time
when the milestone is achieved.

The Group has other certain contracts with customers for
the provision of market positioning services and business
tenant sourcing services separately and the stand-alone
selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each
performance obligation is determined at contract inception.
The performance obligation of contract solely for the provision
of market positioning services represented the achievement of
the market positioning research and the design plan of related
shopping malls as agreed. Accordingly, the revenue was
recognised at a point in time when the performance obligation
is completed.

On the other hand, the performance obligation of certain
contracts solely for the provision of business tenant sourcing
services of which the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date, represented
the achievement of leased area of the related shopping malls
upon signing of tenancy agreements. Accordingly, the revenue
was recognised over time. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based
on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the
basis of direct measurements of the leased area of the related
shopping malls to the total leasable area under the contract,
that best depict the Group's performance in transferring
control of services.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Commercial operational services (Continued)

The provision of commercial operation and management
services represent providing the property management
services, business tenant management and rent collection
services, and other value- added services to the property
owners or tenants at the post-opening stage of their shopping
malls, the Group recognises the fee received or receivable
as its revenue over time based on output method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements
of the value of the services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining services promised under the
contract, in the period in which the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as services are performed by the Group and all
related property management costs as its cost of services.

Intelligent engineering services

The Group provides intelligent engineering services to the
property owners and sales of hardware and software.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of engineering
installation services provided to property developer is measured
based on output method, which is to recognize revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods
or services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract, the
best depict of the Group’s performance in transferring control
of goods or services.

General health and wellness services

The Group provides healthcare project planning and consulting
services and care services to property owners and elderly in the
communities. The performance obligation of contract solely for
the provision of health consultation services represented the
completion of the consultation which the service is rendered.
Accordingly, revenue was recognised at a point in time when
the performance obligation is completed.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payments and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs (including labour costs, utility expenses,
materials and consumables and others) to fulfil a contract in
its commercial operational services contracts. The Group first
assesses whether these costs qualify for recognition as an asset
in terms of other relevant standards, failing which it recognises
an asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

o the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

o the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group

that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

o the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

Deferred contract costs capitalised at the end of the reporting
period are costs incurred to fulfill a contract, of which,
the performance obligation is not yet satisfied. Deferred
contract costs are recognised as part of cost of services
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which the performance
obligation is satisfied and revenue related to the contract is
recognised.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases
with similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis
when the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ materially
from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of staff quarters, office and equipment that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
J any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e M BERERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Fa8HEHXRNEREEREX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e M BEHRERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAHMBHENRENEERELX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BHEE 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (Continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEFEBARHEA (E)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEBE (&)

RUATER  AEEEHGFEHEAE (XL
HREERREEEFLAERAR)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right- of-use assets)
whenever:

MEME BB RITERE R ERN

J the lease term has changed or there is a change in o

the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment;

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.
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the consolidated statement of financial position. BIER -
Lease modifications HEEET

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate MR ATER  AEEBEHEEETER
lease if: —IEERENEEETAR

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modiifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand- alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether
the change is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF

BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE

FEMBEBRRNEREEREX
EatER (2

BE (&)
KEBERBERBA ()
HEEET (42)

HRARES—EHEBHEEARNEEE M
5 AKRBEEREBRERETERE BN
RIERTRAIR R AR EE TR E N R EE
RIHENHMENGEHERE -

AEBEFBEARERBEEFEHARS
B SHEABCENAEAKR - ELE
FAENEs - RHEHEMAKRE D h—A%E
BRI ESGFREAKE D - AEER
EHEEXY 2 HEEBERNIFEE
MRE D 2 EBERAM  BREETAH
RESE=REHEEAKED -

—E-NFEBRBEEREEETHE

HRE—_T-NAERRSHEARITHEER
EYNHEERE  AREDEETIMRE
R ZER S RAER AT 2 AT HE
ZEBERE/EEEL

. HENKEOSHERETENE
EREREESPNNAERER
FERRED |

. MENKENEMRMEZERE
KRB —FRA=1THzHZAZ
HIR SR ]

. HENEMERRMIGELBEE T



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions (Continued)

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the changes applying IFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event
occurs.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e M BERERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non- monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

° Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

o Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

o All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the translation reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e BEHRERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All the borrowing costs not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Government grants relate to
income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other income,
gains and losses”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans and
state-managed retirement benefit scheme are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered services entitling
them to the contributions.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Shares/share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in Note 35.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest as a
result of the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to share option reserve.

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

FEMBEBRRNEREEREX
et lR (2

HEERR

R B R A MR B IR R s B RS
SAEMEARBER SRR - AR NE
BRANERA/MAS  FRIER—ABERMSG
BEEABLIAFHEBRIAAEE
A7 RIVE R

EMREEXAOETMESRE  HESR
BoEN PN TEHFE  FRERMK) E

RAEE-

LI & B0z 18
BREIGEURGBERZMFHX S
BT ER R FERIE

BALEEURMDABER AR TEE MR
HEEREOEMA TIRBRAT AR
BN AFENE - BREARAELEE AR
PEERZNRRSGAFEZETFBH
RMEE3S5 ©

AR ARG RER 2 RN G BB
BENAFE (T RABIEMSEE K
) ERAEEEHEBBZRATAR
BB REGZEZRNBEBHXHE - RER
FRHMK  AEBEEFETSRBIRTNE
BETHYBNRERATARE 2fb5t -
ETREFEFITE (WE) £i8a
TR ERFARAXEURREER 2
AEE THERERFEFELEERE -

Annual Report 2022 —ZZ=ZfF#§

193



194

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Shares/share options granted to employees (Continued)

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit during
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with interest in subsidiaries, and
associates except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of each reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

REMBREME
BE-FT-—4+-A=t+—ALFE

FEMBEBRRNEREEREX
et lR (2

R (E)

BT IR A E Ty L BB 1 B BB 2 2 A
B 5 4 B B P AR AR BT RS 2 R T DARERR
MRS B B F h B Ay R R A B () o T A =
RAA RN AT A SR & B E RIME Rl G - H2
SERERBEO AN ZBAELRN
BEHIAEE - ENXF A BHERDG
AR AE AE R ZEM A B RN R
7% 2R AT LA J2 [B] B T LA BE SR o

BEEHIREENREER S REHRIED
ma YN T BBERAERTGENSEE
EB =X &R 20 & EE R LA UK [ B H 4B FE SRR ©

EEHBEERBBENZESNNEEARE
&“‘IEEFHHFEJ@% BT R (LASREE B K

ERIELD LEEBEREOTE (RBE)
%%ﬁ)ﬁ;o

ELERBREREENTERRAKER
EHRERRAHRREHEELEERARE
MEREEMN T ABEENTHRR -

RABERAQNFERUFENREDFEER
FERIE - FRIFER B RMERE  TRIRR
AYENRRENE/HEEZHKE -2
BREWMEAFERN BN AR REEEM
FFRBHEERREMENBRI DK
MEWEEEATHEE  REBRR -

Annual Report 2022 —ZZ=ZfF#§

195



196

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the
Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax
authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities in their income
tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income
tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of
each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely
amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of the year, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purposes), are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, being their fair value at the date of the
revaluation less subsequent accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and deferred
contract costs other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives and
deferred contract costs to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash- generating units.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e MEmERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and deferred
contract costs other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)
(Continued)

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under IFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for related goods or services
less the costs which relate directly to providing those goods or
services that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for
the purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating
unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF

BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE

FEMBEBRRNEREEREX
Rt BE ()

MR BEERRMK FHRERE HBER
ELUREES VR E (BRI 0ORE (2
LA S RE) (2)

AEERARBERTHHRELERFE5
BEMEBBHRANEEREREZA
A& EAR B A ARG R MRS M ARRE
BHMEMEENTMRERE - HiZ -
BREREHNKRANEERERRE(INE)
REREERBASERAS AR
an 3 AR 75 P W ER A (BB SR FR R ik F A am Bk
AR 7% B % A6 B B (i R FERE R B ST FUR AN 2
HRERER - EXMEREARANEERE
BEAEMBRSELEMFEEE - B
AR ELBLRE -

AU Bl 7R 3 A AR R B A AR B
BETHNRSE - GEREER 4
AARRBRSRESRARVAIAIR KPR
EERE  ZHRTAER X RREE ¥R
MEENEMSTERZEE (RBE
ELBM) FANRR R ERFEEMG
AARKRERE)



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and deferred
contract costs other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash- generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in-first-
out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non- incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions (including
trade and other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and related
parties, restricted bank deposits and bank balances and cash)
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on

specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(ii) Equity instrument designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instrument at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
OCl and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to
profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, but
will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s
right to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e M BERERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “other income, gains and losses” line
item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and related
parties, restricted bank deposits and bank balances), which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions. The Group always recognises
lifetime ECL for trade-related receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

0) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default,
ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

o it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward- looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on certain
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HRAeMEBHREZMNEHNEELEREX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT gitBE 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) &mMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EHEERE (&)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on appropriate basis, taken into the following
considerations:

(v)

EHEEBRZAERER (B)

HEREEBRREBELEFEX
A R T EKFERRBIFER
B RlemT AREEEERE
BEHEZRUATER :

. Past-due status; . BENIER,

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and . BEAREE  FRERITE:
54

. External credit ratings where available. . SNEBEE R (M &S

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instrument

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group entities are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e M BERERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liability at FV/TPL

Financial liability is classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an
acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3
applies; (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bonds,
bank borrowings and amounts due to fellow subsidiaries,
related parties, non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
and a joint venture are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

A. A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

B. An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity
is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

3.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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4.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the management of the Group is
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of a cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher
of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit by
applying suitable discount rate, growth rate and gross profit
margin in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in
facts and circumstances which results in a downward revision
of future cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.
Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate are
subject to higher degree of estimation and volatility in financial
markets.

An impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss whenever the carrying amount of a cash-
generating unit or groups of cash-generating units exceeds its
recoverable amount.

4.
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& B35 3R RO EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4.

(Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill
amounted to RMB151,118,000 (2021: RMB151,118,000).
No impairment was recognised during the current year
(2021: RMB131,759,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation of goodwill are disclosed in Note 17.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and trade-
related amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and
related parties

Receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors/others as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default rates,
expected future cash flows and forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. ECL
impairment of RMB14,936,000 (2021: RMB52,907,000),
RMB56,720,000 (2021: RMB153,915,000) and
RMB16,826,000 (2021: RMB79,798,000) was recognised in
respect of trade receivables, trade-related amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries and related parties, respectively, during the
current year. The information about the ECL and the Group’s
trade receivables and trade-related amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries and related parties are disclosed in Notes 23, 25,
26 and 44.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4.

(Continued)

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are measured at fair value based on the
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has based on a method
of valuation which involves certain estimates of market
conditions. In relying on the valuation report, the directors of
the Company have exercised their judgments and are satisfied
that the assumptions used in the valuation are reflective of
the current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to
the amount of gain or loss would be recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value of investment properties at 31 December
2022 was RMB9,051,000 (2021: RMB9,068,000), details are
set out in Note 15.

Fair value measurement of unlisted equity
instruments

When the fair values of financial assets recorded in the
statement of financial position cannot be derived from active
markets, their fair values are determined using valuation
techniques including the use of comparable recent arm’s
length transactions and other valuation techniques commonly
used by other market participants. The inputs to these models
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in
establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations
of inputs such as the implied equity value, volatility and
discount rate. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.
The Group classifies the fair value of these investments as
Level 2 and Level 3. Further details are included in Note 44 to
the consolidated financial statements.

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE
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REYEN R FESAREI051,0007T
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WX BRRAKRINENEREERFEE
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& B35 3R RO EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BWARSEHEH

Disaggregation of revenue

B A58

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—BHLEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%T ARBT T
Type of services i % Fid)
Property management services segment MEERRGE D E
Property management services ) E TR PR 1,099,208 1,090,086
Sales assistance services HE B RS 80,692 182,688
Community value-added services 1R I E R 186,314 310,029
Heating service R AR TS 44,117 50,606
Others H A, 34,108 26,803
1,444,439 1,660,212
Commercial operational services segment 338 & IR 15 0 &
Commercial operation and management RXEELEREERE
services 172,956 232,421
Market positioning and business tenant % EALL & P B8RS
sourcing services 12,356 49,114
185,312 281,535
Total st 1,629,751 1,941,747
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. IKARSEEH &)
(Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) AR (E)

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—BHLEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBFT
Type of customers BEFER
Property management services segment MEE IR D B
External customers INERE 1,333,084 1,251,618
Fellow subsidiaries EESh=YNG] 96,492 335,571
An associate alEL /NGl 6,197 360
Other related parties Hith Ba B 5 8,666 72,663
1,444,439 1,660,212
Commercial operational services segment 7 3£ 8 & R 15 5 36
External customers SNERR P 154,305 195,026
Fellow subsidiaries B Z [t B A A 31,002 77,945
An associate — R B A A = 8,292
Other related parties H R 5 5 272
185,312 281,535
Total 5t 1,629,751 1,941,747
Timing of revenue recognition O AT
Over time —ERREA 1,572,069 1,864,667
A point in time (BB 57,682 77,080
Total BET 1,629,751 1,941,747
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IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information

The Group's operating segments are determined based on
information reported to Chief Executive Officer, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM") of the Group for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance, focused on types of services provided. The
accounting policies applied in determining segment revenue
and segment results of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3 above.
Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administrative costs, change in
fair value of investment properties and equity instrument at
FVTPL, certain other income, gains and losses, finance costs,
share of results of associates and gain/loss on disposal of
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. During the year, the
Group reorganised its internal reporting structure by reducing
two operating segments, namely the intelligent engineering
services segment and the general health and wellness services
segment, and merging them into the property management
service segment, since the services provided by these two
segments are together with the provision of property
management services and the revenue generated by these two
segments were insignificant in the current year.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as follows:

a. Property management services

The Group engaged in the provision of property
management services, sales assistance services,
community value-added services, engineering
installation services and heating services for both
residential and non-residential units to property
developers, property owners and residents.

b. Commercial operational services

The Group engaged in the provision of commercial
operation and management services and market
positioning and business tenant sourcing services
to commercial property developers and commercial
property lessees.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

No analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is
presented as such information are not regularly provided to

the CODM for review.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME
BE—T-—F+-_A-+—AL4FE

WARSEEH &)

FWAK (4)
PR S 8 T B BT RS 2R
SERDBABEHTAHEN - wunz
SIB AR -

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results T AEREEIRES R 2R EE DK
by operating and reportable segment: WARZEE DT -
Property Commercial
management operational
services services Total
NEEERE BEELERS st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET AR®T T
Year ended BE-Z-_—_%+=A
31 December 2022 =+—HLFE
Segment revenue Al L ON 1,444,439 185,312 1,629,751
Segment results DEBHELR 169,113 25,562 194,675
Net exchange gain [ 5 W e 2R 45,390
Change in fair value of KEMENTFEZD
investment properties (17)
Change in fair value of equity ERAFEFTABR 2
instrument at FVTPL TRAZAFEEZS (5,415)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & 8 2 7] #) 4 & 258
Central administrative costs HEBITHK A (20,013)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE (1,876)
Interest on bank borrowings RITIERFIE (13,404)
Profit before tax B 56 AT A 199,598
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WKAERSIMEH &)
(Continued)
Segment information (Continued) PEBEHE (F)
Property Commercial
management operational
services services Total
MEEIERYE BFERELRS st
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETTT AREF T AR®TT
Year ended BE-Z2-—-%+=AH
31 December 2021 =t+t—-HLEE
Segment revenue 7 EBUA 1,660,212 281,535 1,941,747
Segment results DEBHELE (102,001) 2,404 (99,597)
Net exchange gain P 5 Y 2 )5 58 3,515
Change in fair value of REMENFEZE
investment properties 40
Change in fair value of equity  ZRAFEFT ABD 2
instrument at FVTPL TAZRAFESE 1,970
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries & B & A 7Y 518 (6,363)
Gain on disposal of joint HEGEDENYE
ventures 898
Gain on disposal of associates  H & B & A &) By Uz 764
Central administrative costs HBEBIT B AR (17,558)
Share of results of joint EhEEREER
ventures (184)
Share of results of associates ~ FE{f B & A R 345 (25,934)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE (2,283)
Interest on bonds and bank B MRITEFAE
borrowings (29,554)
Loss before tax BrEEATE 1B (174,286)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Other segment information

Year ended BE-Z2-__%+=H
31 December 2022 =t+t—HLEEE

Segment information included in St AP HELEFEN
the measure of segment results: D EFE R}

nE - BEMREBNE

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets 7 & = # i
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1 Fi#E & E T &

REZERANEREEE
BRI THRERR

Impairment losses under expected
credit loss model recognised in

profit or loss, net of reversal HIBR# Bl

Reversal of impairment losses on  #RIEA 4R AN B R (E B 18
deferred contract costs %[

Gain on disposal of property, BEWE  BEREH
plant and equipment Wz

Property
management
services
MESERH
RMB'000
ARBT R

7,572
13,074
2,529

76,206

(110)

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

BWARZEBEE (=)
Hfth 5 58 = #
Commercial
operational
services Unallocated Total
PEELRK Ko E Foy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®Tn AR%¥Txn
1,065 2,188 10,825
- - 13,074
684 3,280 6,493
12,964 - 89,170
(3,266) - (3,266)
- - (110)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

BARSHBEH &)

Htt3EBEHE (=2)

0

Property ~ Commercial
management operational
services services  Unallocated Total
MEEERY HEELRE vl st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARETT ARBTT ARETRT
Year ended BE-Z-_—-%1+=H
31 December 2021 =t—-HLEE
Segment information included in St AR HELEFEN
the measure of segment results: D EF&E R}
Depreciation of property, plant and %1% « B/E K& EITE
equipment 8,136 1,247 4,797 14,180
Amortisation of intangible assets 24 E B §4 13,273 = = 13,273
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1§ Fi#E & E & 1,772 890 3,373 6,035
Amortisation of deferred contract  ##S5iE T4 4k A&
costs - 10,389 - 10,389
Impairment losses under expected MMEZ R WIEHEEE
credit loss model recognised in EEATHRERSE -
profit or loss, net of reversal EicScdm| 223,838 66,422 = 290,260
Impairment losses on goodwill R EEE 131,759 = = 131,759
Impairment losses on deferred BRSO ARREER
contract costs = 10,197 = 10,197
Loss on disposal of property, plant &% « B M &
and equipment &1 197 - - 197
Geographical information WmESRH

The Group's revenue from customers is derived solely from its
operations and services rendered in the PRC, and over 99% of
the non-current assets of the Group are located in the PRC.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. KAERSEER &)
(Continued)
Information about major customers FTEERRH

HEFEREEPLHNWAGAEBEIA
B910% DA E - a0 -

Revenue from customers for the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as

follows:
2022 2021
—=-= —E-—HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AREF T
Fellow subsidiaries (Note) EESNIEINGING ) 127,494 413,516

Note:  The revenue was derived from property management services and Bt WAESXEMEEERBREEEERS
commercial operational services segments. The fellow subsidiaries S8 ARME AR AT EREEERG
are the subsidiaries of China Aoyuan Group Limited (“China BRAT([HERE] - AR FERRE -
Aoyuan”, the controlling shareholder of the Company, the shares HBRDRBEABERZBER DT (B
of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Frl) £tk £ (R R 5% : 3883) - E[A
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 3883), EWBAR (TEEAEER) @ HifE[H
together with its subsidiaries (excluding the Group)(“China RELHE)HNMBAR -

Aoyuan Group”)).
OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 6. HfEA- -BIREBIR

Year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=+—BLFE

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BT ARBEF T

Bank interest income RITHRIEHA 4,513 6,344

Net exchange gain b 5 Yz 5 58 45,390 3,515

Government grants (Note) BB (f1 i) 28,329 22,462
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant E &%  BE M &

and equipment Wrzs,/ (E518) 110 (197)
Reversal of impairment losses/ S RBARBEEE

(impairment losses) on deferred Bo, CREEE)

contract costs 3,266 (10,197)
Dividend income A% 2 A 2,704 6,635
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRA RNk (EE)

(Note 39) (Htzt39) 258 (6,363)
Gain on disposal of associates k=N [ SRy - 764
Gain on disposal of joint ventures HEEEEENRE - 898
Change in fair value of equity instrument & AF{EzF A 2z T

at FVTPL A AT EES (5.415) 1,970
Gain on early termination of leases RATR IS 2 Was 385 =
Others EAh 2,351 4,815

81,891 30,646
Note:  The government grants are unconditional and include grant of Bfat - BB R IRE RB X HCovID-19

RMB567,000 (2021: RMB82,000) in respect of COVID-19 related
subsidies.

BB AR 567,000 (ZT=—4:
AR#82,0007T) °
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BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE

7. FINANCE COSTS MERE

2022 2021
—=-= —EZ—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETTT
Interest on bank borrowings SRITERFIE 13,404 29,207
Interest on bonds BHFH B - 347
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 1,876 2,283
15,280 31,837

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE R R

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—HLFE

2022 2021
—ESE-—F —EZ—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BF ARETTT
Current tax B ERFR 18
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") BB 1 S PATIS A
([EFmBEH] 48,559 67,485
Deferred tax (Note 21) EEFRIE (K et 21) (12,125) (44,485)
36,434 23,000

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not have any assessable income subject to Hong
Kong profits tax for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law"”) and

Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 8.

According to the provisions of Caishui 2019 No.13 and
Guoshui 2019 No.2, certain subsidiaries of the Group, enjoy
preferential income tax policies for the small and low profit
enterprises for both years.

Aoyuan Intelligent Life Services (Guangzhou) Group Company
Limited and Easy Life Smart Community Services Group
Co., Ltd, subsidiaries of the Group, obtained the certificate
of “National High-tech Enterprise” in 2020 and 2021,
respectively, under which it is entitled to a preferential income
tax rate of 15% for the three years from 1 January 2020 to
31 December 2022 and from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2023, respectively.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit/(loss) before tax as follows:

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

FRrisRBAST ()

R 1% B 862019113 5% J2 B %1 [2019]2 9% 37
o AEBEETHEBRARAMEFEEZA
INEL R A 1 BB R TS REEUR -

REBMBARRESE4ERS (BIM)
EEERARRELERESELRRGEE
BHERARDIN_-_ZE_EFR_F
T FEBSIBRSFREMEEIFES
Bl  ZEARAER_ZE_TF—H—
AE-T-_—_F+A=+—HERRZ
T -—4F—HF—HE-_ZT_-_=%+—-AH
=+ —HULE=EAFEINEZEEEMEH
R 15% o

FAMGHAXEBGRRAERN, (BE)
FSRRANT

2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T ARBEF T
Profit/(loss) before tax BREL AR, (E518) 199,598 (174,286)
Tax at the PRC EIT rate of 25% RPBEPEMEHRTE25%
FAEERIE 49,900 (43,572)
Tax effect of share of results of joint EfhaEbERBERF
ventures and associates HEENMBEEE - 6,530
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AR 2 H B9 F 75 7 &
tax purpose 3,122 45,561
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax AT WA BT 52 2
purpose (732) (106)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBHIBEEENRETE
13,200 14,441
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERBENERMEERE 2
difference not recognised g & 521 26,211
Utilisation of deductible temporary {5 A3 52 Al R FE R B9 K 40
difference previously not recognised Tt ERE (2,609) -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not 2 F3 55 Al R HERR AV T 18
recognised E518 (3,186) (4,779)
Effect of tax exemption and preferential ~ FiTEZA % K B E 7 R K
rates Ta (23,782) (21,286)
Income tax expense Fr8fif X 36,434 23,000

Details of deferred tax are set out in note 21. IRIEFEIBFFIBH NI ZE21 ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EX - XrEfTBRAEBREERFHFM
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, BIEEA N LR AR EB D REH 5 E
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong WAFEEEREZTHAESHMAT :
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Contributions
Salaries Share-  to retirement

and other  Discretionary based benefit Total

Fee benefits bonus payments scheme amount
MR BB A BB

fe Rt A METZL  ERNAR EE L a8

RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TR  ARMTR ARRTR AR®Tz ARMTR ARMTR

Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-CE

TZA=t-HLEE
Brecutive directors: HITEE
Cheng Siu Fai (Note (¢)) BB () - 1,246 - = 15 1,261
Zheng Wei (Note (3)) BEWHG) - 720 - 897 14 1,631
Non-executive directors: FHEE
Guo Zi Ning (Note (@) DRE (W) - 150 - - - 150
Ruan Yong Xi (Vote (b)) Buk & (A2 b) - 149 - - - 149
Indlependent non-executive directors: — BUHHTEE -
Hung Ka Hai Clement HEE 299 - - - - 299
Li Zijun EXT 240 - - - - 240
Wang Shao s 20 - - - - 240
Total @3t 779 2,265 - 897 29 3,970
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_A=+—HIEFE

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EX - XEfTBRAEBREERFM

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (#)
Contributions
Salaries Share-  to retirement
and other  Discretionary hased benefit Total
Fee benefits bonus payments scheme amount
HER R A RINGET
ik HftiBH WEEL  ARRAR AR @

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTL  ARETT ARBTR ARETRT ARBTR ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-E--%

TZA=+-BLEE
Executive directors: HITEE -
Miao Si Hua (Note (3) HBE (W) - 25 - - 1 26
Tao Yu (Note (c) BE W) - 990 - 2223 14 3227
Cheng Siu Fai (Note (¢) B0R (M0 - 104 - - 1 105
Zheng Wei (Vote (3)) BBt e) - 1383 = 2726 2 4,071
Non-executive directors: FHAHEE
Guo Zi Ning (Note (@) DEE W) - 150 - - - 150
Chen Zhi Bin (Note (b)) RER WD) - 12 - - - 12
Ruan Yong Xi (Note (b)) Bk (s ) - 138 - - = 138
Independeent non-executive directors:  BUHHFTEE -
Hung Ka Hai Clement EEE 299 - - - = 299
Li Zjun EX 240 - - - - 240
Wang Shao IR 240 = = = = 240
Total @t 779 2,762 - 4,949 18 8,508
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for Lt ITEESSEMARSERETERALT R
their services in connection with the management of the INEE H ST RIS B 2N o

affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-executive L IEITEE R B IEITES T A
directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as WEMPBEEARN B E S IR ERISH BN -

directors of the Company.

BBEAERFANBARRETSBY
The discretionary bonus is determined based on the BEE o
performance of individual and market trend for the year.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

During the year, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company. Details of the share option
scheme are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial

statements.
Notes:
(a) Mr. Miao Si Hua has tendered his resignation and ceases to act as

the executive director with effect from 7 January 2021. Following
Mr. Miao Si Hua's resignation, Mr. Zheng Wei has been appointed
as an executive director with effect from 7 January 2021 and he
has tendered his resignation as the executive director with effect
from 1 September 2022.

(b) Mr. Chen Zhi Bin has tendered his resignation and ceases to act
as the non-executive director with effect from 29 January 2021
due to his other work commitments. Mr. Ruan Yong Xi has been
appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 29 January
2021.

(c) Mr. Tao Yu has tendered his resignation and ceases to act as the
executive director with effect from 25 November 2021 due to his
other work commitments. Mr. Cheng Siu Fai has been appointed
as an executive director with effect from 25 November 2021.

(d) Mr. Guo Zi Ning has tendered his resignation and ceases to act as
the non-executive director of the Company with effect from 16

February 2023 due to his other business commitments.

(e) Mr. Zhu Yun Fan has been appointed as a non-executive director
with effect from 16 February 2023.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9.
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included 2
(2021: 2) directors for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
remunerations of the remaining 3 (2021: 3) individuals for the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

EFXE - FETHRARREEFHH
(&)

BHE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HILFE
AEBREERTMATRBERSA (=
T F MRB)EFT -HE-_ZT-_—
+TZA=+—HLEFE HT=R(=ZZ
TF =) NTHEMAT

2022 2021
—=-= —EZ—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEFIT
Salaries and other benefits Fre MEMER 3,340 3,416
Share-based payments LARR 1 B ERE 2 4 5K 909 2,223
Contributions to retirement benefit RNAE F T B 51
scheme 43 42
4,292 5,681
The emoluments were within the following bands: HFMWNFLATEHE :
2022 2021
=== —EZ—F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEHH EE&H
HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1,000,001 T £ 1,500,000 7% 7T
(equivalent to RMB833,001 to (FHE MR AR 833,001 0%
RMB1,324,000) A R# 1,324,000 7T) 2 2
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000 % 7T
(equivalent to RMB1,766,001 to (FBE RN AR 1,766,001 TZE
RMB2,207,000) AR#2,207,0007T) 1 =

HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000
(equivalent to RMB3,531,001 to
RMB3,973,000)

4,000,001 7 7T & 4,500,000 7 7T
(FBENARY 3,531,001 T2
AR #3,973,0007T)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and employees) as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. In addition, no directors waived any emoluments during
the year.

RER AEEHRERTNEETRAAK
SFMAL (RREERER) XMNEM
M ERTSIIMARIARE R K 5Z
TR RBERAME - UL NER - R
BEEHREEMAME -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

10. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 10. £REF (KR)

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—-HLFE

2022 2021
—_E—— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARBFT
Profit/(loss) for the year has been arrived & R F|, (E518) &K%~
at after charging/(crediting): (Gt THIERE :
Auditors’ remuneration Z SR B 5 4,100 4,500
Directors’ emoluments (Note 9) BEEHE(AE9) 3,970 8,508
Other staff’s salaries and other benefits £ {th 8 T 7Bl &2 H b 128 5 324,743 440,964
Other staff's contributions to retirement  E b 8 T 7 Rk 4& K5t 2]
benefit scheme (Note) R (A1 a) 34,346 41,986
Contributions to housing provident FERESHK
funds 8,942 11,598
Other staffs’ share-based payments EMBT AR AER
(NES 1,043 2,223
Total staff costs BT A4R%E 373,044 505,279
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) Bt LA & IR, (B E) &
on: (V-3
Trade receivables B 5 W EIE 14,936 52,907
Other receivables H e U R IR 742 (686)
Fellow subsidiaries EEY PN 56,720 153,915
Non-controlling shareholders of BB A B 89 FE 1= IR AR 3R
subsidiaries (67) 70
Related parties BaE 7 16,826 79,798
Others Hitb 13 4,256
Total impairment losses under ECL FEHEEBEBREAET 2R
model, net of reversal EEEATE  HRER 89,170 290,260
Cost of inventories recognised as an ERARINFERAR
expense 233 4,209
Depreciation of property, plant and Wz BEREETE
equipment 10,825 14,180
Depreciation for right-of-use assets FREEENE 6,493 6,035
Amortisation of intangible assets B A EEHE G ARMRS
(included in cost of services rendered) D% 13,074 13,273
Note:  No forfeited contributions available for offset against existing Biet - FRTELRERTEEEREHK (=

contributions during the year (2021: Nil).
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12.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

DIVIDENDS 11. BR
2022 2021
—=-= B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Dividends, recognised as distribution RE - HBRAEFADIK :
during the year:
2021 final dividend of nil per share R —FREKREERE
(2020: final dividend of RMBO0.14 per TT(ZE-FF : RS
share) per share FRARE0.147T) - 101,675
- 101,675

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of the year.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

12.

EZefERRNEBE_ZE-_—_F+=-A
=T BHIEFEZARERE  BEFRIE
WEZZRIR M EAKEE -

SEREF (BR)

AR TR AEEGRER RS EF],
(B18) TR I A Bk at & -

2022 2021
—EBC-C—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETF T
Earnings/(Loss): R, (B8):
Earnings/(Loss) for the purposes of AR ESRERREE
basic and diluted earnings per share, BFMREF, (Ei8)
as appropriate (profit/(loss) for the (@A) (KRR EHE A
year attributable to owners of the FERF N F (E18))
Company) 160,407 (190,940)
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—
Number of shares: RGEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ AR ESREARLEEAR
shares for the purpose of basic and FE) I @A hnwE 192
diluted earnings per share 726,250,000 726,250,000

The computation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share for
both years does not assume the exercises of the Company’s
share options outstanding during the current and prior years
because the exercise prices of those options were higher than
the average market price of the Company’s shares during the
current and prior years, respectively.

AEMEFEzSREERN, (BE)
VEBRRKARARANFEIBEFEZH
RITEBBRRETE  REASZKSEEE
ZITREDHNERARRBRNRAFER
BEFEZFHMHIE -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z—

T _Ft_A=+t—HILFE

13. Y% BERRH

Office Motor Leasehold
Buildings equipment vehicles  improvements Total
BF  BOERB RE REXR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRE ARETRE ARETT  ARET:
CosT B
At 1 January 2021 W-Z-—-%F—F—H 12,939 37,885 2,320 19,965 73,110
Additions AE = 8,816 1,280 2,104 12,200
Disposal e - (3,960) (26) (638) (4,624)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Vote 38) ~ WEEH B/ &l (4722 38) 1,168 2,99 303 4 447
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) LERB AR (H#39) = (6,458) = (5,279) (11,737)
At 31 December 2021 RZZE=-F
+=A=1+-8 14,107 39,279 3877 16,156 73,419
Additions NE 502 2,480 287 = 3,269
Disposals e - (239) - - (239)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Vote 39) HERBAR (H#39) - (75) = = (75)
At 31 December 2022 RZZTZ=F
+=A=1+-8 14,609 41,445 4164 16,156 76,374
DEPRECIATION N
At 1 January 2021 R-Z2-—%-f—-H 286 15,552 1320 12,072 29,230
Provided for the year ERERE 827 9,189 358 3,806 14,180
Eliminated on disposals HEL = (3,042) = (240) (3,282)
Eliminated on disposal of HENBARNE
subsidiaries (ote 39) (Hit39) = (1,449) = (2,320) (3,769)
At 31 December 2021 WZB=—-F
+_ﬂ£+—E| 1,113 20,250 1678 13,318 36,359
Provided for the year FERE 583 7,192 49 2,558 10,825
Eliminated on disposals HEHE = (226) = = (226)
Eliminated on disposal of HEMRBARHH
subsidiaries (Vote 39) (B17#39) = 22) = = )
At 31 December 2022 RZE-Z&
T=RET— 1,696 27,194 2,170 15,876 46,936
IMPAIRMENT ﬁ{E
1 January 2021 RZZ2-—-%-A-A - - - 338 338
Eliminated on disposals el ﬁ ?ﬁ - = = (339) (338)
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 R-E-—ER-F--%
+-R=1- - - - - -
CARRYING VALUES RHE
R-E-—%
At 31 December 2022 +-A=t-H 12,913 14,251 994 280 29,438
RZEZ—-F
At 31 December 2021 +-R=1+-8 12,944 19,029 2,199 2,838 37,060
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14.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % - BB REE &)
(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are it - BRE KRR EEB DR RAEE
depreciated over their useful lives as follows, after taking into FIABEEN T AGERFHNERESE
account the estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis: EITIE -
Buildings 20 years EgF 20%F
Office equipment 3 to 5 years MREFE 3ES5F
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years b 3E5F
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of relevant HEXRR R AR B3 =5 4F
lease term or 3 to 5 years ZEEE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. EHERE
Office Staff
premise quarters Total
i UNLES EIRE Mgt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTFT
As at 31 December 2022 RZBZZF+ZA=+—H
Carrying amount EFEE 16,457 142 16,599
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—-F+=-A=+-H
Carrying amount RAE 23,363 212 23,575
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE-Z-_—F+-A=+—HIt
£
Depreciation charge HERX 5,918 575 6,493
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZE-ZE-—F+-A=1+—HIt
§E
Depreciation charge NERY 5,512 523 6,035
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

14. EHESE &)

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2022 31/12/2021
BE-Z_-_— HE-_ZT-—F
+=—HA=+—H +=A=+—H
IEFEE HEE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARET T
Expense relating to short-term leases RHRLOMEAX 7,063 2,545
Expense relating to leases of low-value  EKEBEEZEMEE (TEIE
assets excluding short-term leases of EEBEEELSHEAS)
low value assets R X 1,143 437
Total cash outflows for leases (Note a) HMEZRERLBE (Hita) 15,939 10,081
Additions to right-of-use assets (Note b) NE &= 1{F B E (H17b) 2,085 632
Notes: Mt
(a) Amount includes payments of principal and interest portion of () ZREREHEREZ A RFEH ST

lease liabilities, short-term leases, low-value assets and payments
of lease payments on or before lease commencement date
(including leasehold land). These amounts could be presented in
operating, investing or financing cash flows.

(b) Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases
entered, business combination, lease modification, excluding
those classified as investment properties.

For both years, the Group leases various offices premise and
staff quarters for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed terms of two to ten years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters and office equipment. As at 31 December 2022
and 2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed in this note.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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15.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices and apartments under
operating leases with rentals payable semi-annually or
annually. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 year,
without rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by
lessees or lessors.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.

15.

REMBREME
BE-FT-—4+-A=t+—ALFE

REYME
AEERBEEEHEHHEENAZERRE
AFYFRBFNES - ZFHEN

RIEERE A —F EAME A S A S
REEERE R ARIAE -

AEEYEAREZPAZINERR - B
REAHENEEERS BN ERRS
B -HESHNTEERNBREEERR 3
AERARERERSBEYREEE -

Investment
properties
REYE
RMB’000
ARETTT

FAIR VALUE D¥E
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—F—H 9,028
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss A EzE ARER 2 A FER D 40
At 31 December 2021 R-ZEBE-_—F+—-_A=+—H 9,068
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss R 1825 ARER < A FEIE AN (17)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZEBE-_—F+—-_HA=+—H 9,051

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties were
determined by reference to valuations carried out by Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited,
independent qualified valuer not connected to the Group.

FIAERBEERERAURBESHIEE
ARERBRZARENEERTIERRF
BEEAE  ADBERARRREME -

AEBREMEZ RAFEIDZERALH
MEMEM B LA ERAEMBERITE
A RFBAARARELEBEMERE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_ZE_—_F+-_A=+—HIHFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. #EWR @
In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the PEFTIREMEZ A TFER  REWMEZ
highest and best use of the investment properties is their R kRERRAFEECERAR -
current use.
The valuations of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 REBR=ZT== —T-—%+=A
December 2022 and 2021 were arrived at by making reference T —HZREVEZHEDLELENS
to the comparable market transactions as available in the AJZAELRMIER HER -
market.
The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31 AEER-_ZE_—_FR-ZT_—F+-H
December 2022 and 2021 are all grouped into Level 2 of fair = t—BZREMECZATEHESRE
value measurement. The following table gives information ATEFAEE R TRREHEBEETZ
about how the fair values of these investment properties were EREWMEZ AT EZHE(LEZMA
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs ZIAEREN R AR 2 &R -
used).
Description Valuation techniquelnputs 2022 2021
ik AR —=-- %
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARBT T
Commercial investment properties Market comparable  Price per square
—PRC approach meter 9,051 9,068
FEREMFE—FE 3% L BOA BT HARER
Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e M BEHRERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_A=+—HIEFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. | EE
Property
management
contracts
NEEBEN
RMB'000
ARBTT
cosT R
At 1 January 2021 R-_ZE-_—F—AF—H 82,889
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 38) Ue BE BB A B (A7£38) 29,912
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 NZBE-_—FR_FT_—
+=—A=+—H” 112,801
AMORTISATION ey
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ_—F—H—H 7,596
Charge for the year FAEH 13,273
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—F+-_A=+—H 20,869
Charge for the year FANEMA 13,074
At 31 December 2022 N-B-—F+-A=+—8H 33,943
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-——#+-H=+—H 78,858
At 31 December 2021 R-ZB-_—F+-A=+—H 91,932
The property management contracts were acquired through MEEIRE K TR ENE QRIS ©
acquisition of subsidiaries.
The intangible assets have finite useful lives and amortised on mEEEAGERERAFH KMNTF=E
a straight line basis over the remaining contact terms ranging TENFBRENVHRANIEEREZ#H -

from 2 to 10 years.

Annual Report 2022 —Z2=—#%3% 241



242

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Ra M ERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE_Z_—_F+_A=+—HILFE

17.

GOODWILL 17. &8
RMB’000
ARET T
COST SN
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H 226,118
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 38) EXBRENB QR (4t 38) 56,758
RZE_—FR_ZT-_—F
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 +=—A=+—H 282,876
IMPAIRMENT wAE
At 1 January 2021 RZFEZ—F—H—H =
Impairment loss recognised ERRREBE 131,759
RZEZ—FR_T -
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 +=-—A=+—8 131,759
CARRYING AMOUNTS RHEE
At 31 December 2022 R-BE-_—F+_-_A=+—H 151,118
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H 151,118

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
acquired TR B MY X RE B R A & Anhui Hanlin
Property Services Company Limited (“Anhui Hanlin”) from
an independent third party, which is engaged in providing
property management services (“Anhui Hanlin Business”) in
Bengbu, Anhui Province, the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group acquired

I A ) 2 E 32 B PR A & Shenzhen Huazhong Property
I\/Ianagement Company Limited (“Shenzhen Huazhong”)
from an independent third party, which is engaged in
providing property management services (“Shenzhen
Huazhong Business”) in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province,
the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group acquired
O/ 7R W) % R 7 B BR A 8] Ningbo Hongjian Management
Services Co., Ltd (“Ningbo Hongjian"”) and 244 /& & 4t &
AR 75 & B I 4D A PR A B Easy Life Smart Community Services
Group Co., Ltd (“Easy Life"”) from independent third parties,
which is engaged in providing property management services
in Ningbo, Zhejiang Province, the PRC and in Beijing, the PRC,
respectively.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

GOODWILL (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
acquired 100% equity interest in Beijing Boan Property
Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Boan"”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Beijing Boan Group”), which
are engaged in the provision of property management services
in Beijing, the PRC.

The goodwill represented the excess of the consideration paid
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, in
relation to the acquisition of the issued share capital of certain
subsidiaries.

17.

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

[} 46

BE-_E-—F+-_A=+—HI&EE "
AEBFBKBILLRELMERSEER A A
(TtZmBR ) REHBAR (REILRE
ZHEE| RPEILEREIREYEEE
BR75) #9 100% R4 o

BERCNREBLRKEE THEQR
Z BB AT AP YRS A 8B B B K P
EaBzER-

2022 2021
—E—_= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTTT
An analysis of the carrying amounts B8 REE D :
of goodwill:
Property management services business: ¥ 2 & H R 7S %7
— Anhui Hanlin — RHEOBM 1,602 1,602
— Shenzhen Huazhong — FIYIEH 1,889 1,889
— Ningbo Hongjian — ERRE 25,050 25,050
— Easy Life — BEATE 65,818 65,318
— Beijing Boan —tRER 56,759 56,759
151,118 151,118
Property management services business MEREERERD

Management allocated goodwill to individual cash-generating
unit ("CGU") of the property management services business
for the purpose of impairment testing. The recoverable amount
of the CGU of the property management services business is
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by the management. The growth rate used
to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year period was
ranging approximately from zero to 2% growth rate (2021:
zero to 2% growth rate). The growth rate does not exceed
long-term average growth rate for the business in which the
CGU operates.

EEERRENAENSEHEOEEYE
EERBEBZ2BHNRCELEM (TR
EELEN]) - PEEERBEKRSE
EBMNARESRDERNRARSRE
BRAMEREEAREZEE HenER
BNERNKERE ENAFMBRES
B -ARNHEBBRFHENESREMN
AHBEEE/NFETEE2%2EEE (=
T —F ETE2%ZEEE) - ZERE
TEBBRSTELBULLEMBEHNE
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BE_T_—_H+_A=1+—HILHFE

17. GOODWILL (Continued) 17. @8 &)

Property management services business (Continued) MEBTEREES (&)

The key assumptions are based upon the discount rates, FREERDERTEASRENTEREER  BE

budgeted profit margins and revenue during the forecast MEERYR BEREEATEEREEM

period. The key assumptions on which management based its EHBR SR ETRRFTEBE 2 EERRBLT :
cash flow projections for the value in use are as follows:

Revenue The basis used to determine the value Iz RAUEEMR»EEEBEZ
assigned is based on past performance EETERBAERRRK
and management expectation for EEEHMSRECTE
the market development. Revenue HomUBEREX
is based on the existing charge rates RS RIEE BRI
and revenue- bearing gross floor area Mt E RS EEEE
("GFA") of the properties expected to ([BFEERE]) REE-
be delivered during the budget period.

Gross profit margins  The gross profit margin of providing the FE = REDEETERE 2
property management services were E ﬂ ERBERE jz 0= |
assumed to be approximately 15.1%, we R ES B R
19.3%, 25.2%, 17.8%, 20.6% of the Eo#£EERIERE
revenue of Anhui Hanlin, Shenzhen ZZWEZ#H15.1%
Huazhong, Ningbo Hongjian, Easy Life 19.3% ~ 25.2% ~ 17.8%
and Beijing Boan (2021: 27.1%, 23.3%, $%20.6% (= ;: ——f:
29.7%, 13.1%, 19.9% of the revenue R R EH
of Anhui Hanlin, Shenzhen Huazhong, BRERBEREETE 2N
Ningbo Hongjian, Easy Life, respectively). wZ2271% > 23.3%

29.7% ~ 13.1% &
19.9%) °

Discount rates The discount rates used are before tax PrIR =& BT BB 4T B X 7% R 75 A B
and reflect specific risks relating to the WER - WREEFRS
relevant units. The discount rate applied EEBARNEERR -
to cash flow projections was ranging B R=TEAMER
approximately from 18.3% to 22.7% M RENT183% &
(2021: from 18.3% to 25.1%). 27% (ZZE=_—F: Y

F183% £25.1%) °

For the estimation of the property management services fee MEFTVHEBEERBERREIEREMS -

rate and the long term growth rate, management have taken EREECHAMEERITENEIER

the growth of the property management industry and the BRI RE -

global economy as a whole.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

GOODWILL (Continued)

Property management services business (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that, based on the value in use
prepared in accordance with the above key assumptions,
apart from Easy Life of which impairment loss amounted to
RMB131,759,000 at 31 December 2021 as explained below,
no impairment loss provision against the goodwill allocated to
these CGUs is considered necessary.

During the prior year, certain property management contracts
of Easy Life have not been renewed upon expiry which affects
its forecast revenue and in turn causes the carrying amount
of the CGU of Easy Life to exceed its recoverable amount.
Accordingly, impairment loss of RMB131,759,000 has been
recognised in the prior year.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

FEMEBRERAR
e KB 1R B 1R

Unlisted cost of investment
Share of post-acquisition losses

17.

18.

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

-1 JC))
METERE RS (2

KRB ZFRZF_—F+=ZA=+—
A ARBESERAE  BELMBEERR
BEZEREBE B INXAMEEFR=
E-—F+-_A=Z+—HBHZREEBEAR
#5131,759,000 79 - BEAR DB EZE
ReEEABNZEEHRRERE-

RBEFE ZEBRZETOEEELY
RREREBREE  FZ2EBNRE EM
BHALEERcELESN I REERBAR
AR EIEEE - Filt - ERBAEFEERR
EE1B AR 131,759,000 7T °

PREATNESR
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARET T
24,430 24,430
(24,430) (24,430)
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. MWEREBELAFINESR &)

Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follow:

Name of entity

ERZR

RS RRENRARAT

Shanghai Aohuiyan Health and
Technology Company Limited
("Shanghai Aohuiyan”)*

RS RRENRARAT
([LEREH))

* The English name is for identification purpose only.

The Group holds 100% equity interest in Shanghai Aohuiyan,
however, in accordance with the contractual arrangement
entered during the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
is only entitled to share 30% of the associated economic
benefits and risk arising from the sole project held by Shanghai FE R A F 2
Aohuiyan and does not have control over the project. As a

Ownership interest

held by the Group Registered capital Principal activity
BB RES EREX TEED
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —T--F —E-CE —T--F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE  ARETI
100% 100% 250,000 250,000 Provision of health
(not fully (not fully management
paid up) paid up) consulting services
(RE2HE) (RT2HE) and property
development
RERRERZS
e
@ E L TEEMEHET -

result, Shanghai Aohuiyan is considered as an associate of the AN I

Group.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_A=+—HIEFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REELTFMER &)

ERLEBRBFNUMBEMBENT

The summarised financial information in respect Shanghai
Aohuiyan is set out below:

Shanghai Aohuiyan LAEREZG 2022 2021
—=-= —E-—%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARET T

Current assets mEN & E 409,582 198,436
Non-current assets ERBEE 491,216 459,976
Current liabilities mENa & (439,143) (117,405)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (586,162) (660,456)
Net liabilities AfEFE (124,507) (119,449)
Revenue A - -

Loss and total comprehensive expense  F R EIE &

for the year A B (5,058) (205,895)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Shanghai Aohuiyan
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Net liabilities of Shanghai Aohuiyan
Proportion of the Group’s ownership
interest

A ESM AR R AN R E M RRER

LERIBFZAEFR
HARE AR

MR EBRES S 2 REEMN SR

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
(124,507) (119,449)
30% 30%

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest ANEE 5 7 BREE

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of further
losses of Shanghai Aohuiyan upon the limit of its interests
in Shanghai Aohuiyan in the prior year. The Group has not
recognised loss for the year amounting to RMB1,517,000
(2021: RMB35,835,000) and the accumulated losses not
recognised were RMB37,352,000 (2021: RMB35,835,000).

During the prior year, the Group disposed of certain
associates to a third party at an aggregate consideration of
RMB2,800,000, resulting a gain on disposal recognised in
profit or loss of RMB764,000.

RBEFE  ASEERER EFREN
I EIRGI B IEERER E/BR
EHR MO ZE—PEE AEBRFAMW
FERHEBAEARE 1,517,000 (=
——4: AR ¥358350007T) & K HE
RERETEE A AR 37,352,0007T (=
T —4 : AR¥ 35,835,000 °

RBEFE AEEREREBEARE
2,800,000 MBI E=HHESR TH#HE
AR BYHRBERERLEREARKE
764,000 7T ©

Annual Report 2022 —ZB=—%3 247



248

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

& B35 3R RO EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

19.

20.

EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Unlisted equity instrument JELmERT

19.

BE_T-__F+-A=1+—RHIFE

BOFEAARZHERZTR

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
65,108 70,523

The above unlisted equity investment represents the Group’s
5% equity interest in Zhejiang Liantianmei Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd, I TERFELEESIEER A A (the
“Liantianmei”) established in the PRC. The details of the fair
value measurement are set out in Note 44.

EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unlisted equity instrument JELEmiE=T

20.

Fai3E FiiEsS IR B AN E BN ER B
VR TIERECEEERRAR ([EX
ENS5%WiE - EEAAFENENFS
EN R

BAFEFAEMZEAKEZ1E
28I/

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREEF T
137,321 106,160

The above unlisted equity investment represents the Group’s
equity interest in an investment holding company which holds
certain interests in a private company. The details of the fair
value measurement are set out in note 44.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE

DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the year:

21. BERR

AT RRFACERNEIBELEHBEE
S (AE) REES

Impairment
losses
on trade
receivables
and amounts
due from
fellow
subsidiaries
Intangible Tax and related
assets losses parties Others Total
EEK
REREN
GEL: PG
REBH
BYEE REFE EeRERE Eft @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 \_2--%-f—-H (18,823) 518 9212 (679) (9,772)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBLR (H238)
(Note 38) (7.478) — — = (7.478)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss for the P A/ (& &) ERBLE
year (Note §) (Hit8) 3318 - 41,664 (497) 44,485
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—F+-A=1-H (22,983) 518 50,876 (1,176) 27,235
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss for the  :FA/ (& &) ERBEE
year (Note §) (Hit8) 3,269 - 8,85 - 12,125
At 31 December 2022 AZEZZEFZA=T-H (19,714) 518 59,732 (1,176) 39,360

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

AT BRI BHE B & AR T B IR 4 85
DT

2022 2021
—E--F —TE- %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTT

Deferred tax assets RIETIBE E 61,059 52,224
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIEAE (21,699) (24,989)
39,360 27,235
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

21. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB169,440,000 (2021: RMB132,326,000) available to offset
against future profits. As at 31 December 2022, a deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of tax losses amounted
to approximately RMB2,072,000 (2021: RMB2,072,000). As at
31 December 2022, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining tax losses of RMB167,368,000
(2021: RMB130,254,000), due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following years:

21.

BEERIA ()

RZEBE-_—_F+_A=+—H8 x5E
BAREAMIAEE AR 169,440,000 7T
—E - —F: /\Em%13232600075)7
AUEEREN R —F+=
A=+—H ZXEERKREBEBBELOA
R#2,072,000c (ZE=Z—F: ARK
2,072,00070) MRELEHRBEE - NR=F
T+ -A=Z+—H #RKREFER
MR TERE - AEE W EFLB T HIES
BARK 167,368,000 T (—Z T ——F : A
R ¥ 130,254,000 7T) RIELERIBEE ©

REERHBIEB B AR THIFO 2 :

2022 2021
== —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTT

2022 —E- - 9,660
2023 :g: =4 6,781 6,783
2024 —E-F 25,937 28,970
2025 —E-RHF 29,606 31,067
2026 _2_/\¢ 52,246 53,774
2027 T LF 52,798 -
167,368 130,254
Tax losses MIEE 18 167,368 130,254
Other deductible temporary differences H At AR HE 2R AT 0B B R
not recognised (note) (H1:2) 14,835 12,750
182,203 143,004

Note:  The other deductible temporary differences mainly arose from the
accrued contribution to social insurance and housing provident
funds.
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22.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
approximately RMB323,358,000 (2021: RMB300,138,000)
as at 31 December 2022, as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

INVENTORIES

Other materials H itk

21.

22.

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

BEERIA ()

REFECEMGBHE B ZFTFNF
—A—HBR HTEMRBARMESR
FMERMKRSARMBNR -ARAE
EREAEH G EZEBOERE - BXA]
FERARERHEZEAELITISER 54
B BRERPITASR -_ZE-_—FE+ -4
=+ —HAFREMBRRZEEFL A A
R# 323,358,000 L (ZE=—F : ARK
300,138,000 7T) FE1h & s Z 585 /R IR AEFY
I8 o

8
2022 2021
—E--F T %
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBTT

9,208 3,482
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. BHRHEMEIKKRIE
2022 2021
—E-F T %
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’'000

HiiE ARBTR ARBTTT

Trade receivables B 5 rWEIE 584,426 427,262
Less: impairment losses under expected W BEEEBEER
credit loss model, net of reversal THREEE
MBREEE (89,853) (70,528)
Total trade receivables B S rEWFIEEEE 494,573 356,734
Other receivables: H 4th & e skIE
Deposits Be (a) 34,529 16,695
Payments on behalf of residents (AEI=ENEN (b) 62,185 49,025
Input tax to be deducted R HETRR 23,108 1,129
Prepayments TEfT5RIE 47,465 30,058
Others HAh 39,997 46,685
207,284 143,592
Less: impairment losses under expected B BE{EEBEER
credit loss model, net of reversal THREEE -
MBREEE (7,135) (6,393)
200,149 137,199
Total trade and other receivables B 5 & H bW sRIE
=g 694,722 493,933
Analysed for reporting purpose as: HR S B R 2D
Non-current assets (included in deposits) ERBEE
BEEEEN) 2,900 2,900
Current assets mEN & E 691,822 491,033
694,722 493,933
Notes: B -
(a) The balance represented the amount paid to the service providers @) ERERRBERERNNIRe S5 -
as deposits.
(b) The balance represented the amount paid on behalf of residential (b) EHEREELER REPMKERSEE
communities and commercial tenants to the utilities service P Bk FT IR A AR 7% S (T RO FRIA ©

provider for the service provided.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Property management service income under property
management service segment and commercial operation and
management services under commercial operational service
segment are generally required to be settled by property
owners and property developers within 60 days upon the
issuance of demand note. Generally, the counter-parties of
market positioning and business tenant sourcing services
under commercial operational service segment are required to
make installment payments in accordance with the payment
schedule as set out in contracts. However, depending on
market conditions and bargaining power of the counter-
parties, credit and payment terms may vary in accordance with
the contracts.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the date of demand note:

23.

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

HHARRMBURIET 2

MEEERE D BN MEEERBKAKR
BRELRH D FNEEES MEERE
WABRFEAXEIEMERBEIRN BB E
BEORXAZLHE - —RME IXEZLR
Bowmig el kEFREREAOR S
FAREBEAWMEN G EET OB -
A WIEMRRR5EH FHRERE
EERIMNERELERHOME -

AT REZREFANREIN - HER
BEBERHZEI

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2022 2021
—E-CfF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET ARETTT
0 to 60 days 0&E 60X 96,391 100,167
61 to 180 days 61 £ 180K 118,591 94,841
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365K 141,132 84,078
1 to 2 years 1224 124,714 99,548
2 to 3 years 2F&34F 69,814 26,604
Over 3 years HBiE3F 33,784 22,024
584,426 427,262

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of RMB488,035,000 (2021:
RMB327,095,000) as at 31 December 2022, which are past
due at the end of the reporting period. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

R-ZE-Z—F+-A=+—H8 &x&H
ESRKRELEGBEREERIAEAAR
#:488,035,000C (Z T = —F: AR
327,095,000 7T) B FE UL BR 58 - E 03R4 B
RKE@H AEEBVERZEEHRIERET
(EEEREITI

Annual Report 2022 —B==## 253



254

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23.

The following table shows the movements in the allowances
of loss for trade receivables that has been recognised for trade
receivables during the year:

HHARRMBURIER 2

TREINFARE S REFREZNE
SN FIA BRERES

Lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

2HBEHEE

EE(EEREE

FERME)

RMB'000

ARET T

As at 1 January 2021 R-ZBE-—%—HF—H 17,621
Impairment losses recognised EHERREER 60,993
Impairment losses reversed EREIREERE (8,086)
As at 31 December 2021 R=B=—%+=ZA=+—H 70,528
Impairment losses recognised BRERREEE 24,286
Impairment losses reversed B OREEE (9,350)
Reclassified from amounts due from related parties B W@ RIEEH DA 4,389
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-Z—H+=ZH=+—H 89,853
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following table shows the movements in the allowances

of loss for other receivables that has been recognised for other

receivables during the year:

As at 1 January 2021
Impairment losses reversed

B B [E R E & 18

R-ZBE-_—%—HF—H

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

HHARRMBURIET 2

TR F A B E b 8 YR IR RE R Y E
BRI B R R EESD :

12m ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
1218 B
EEEE (L&
BREFERE)
RMB’000
ARBTT

7,079
(686)

As at 31 December 2021
Impairment losses recognised

B R REE B

R-B-_—F+=-A=+—H 6,393

742

As at 31 December 2022

R-EB-__F+=-A=+—H 7,135

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Trade receivables
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Included in the allowances of loss for trade receivables are
collectively assessed trade receivables with an aggregate
balance of RMB68,929,000 (2021: RMB60,437,000) and
individually assessed trade receivables with an aggregate
balance of RMB20,924,000 (2021: RMB10,091,000),
respectively, details of which are set out in Note 44.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the
reporting date.

HWEEHBRRZE FEHBRENHERE
ARERENEEIR (MR ZHFES
RAMBBWERF)  AREHKMEES
M IE - EERZEZRER (WMEE) K
EMENE S REFIRDARERNEEDN
BFEF BB HIET o EAKERIES
PR HERR o

B S EWIBEIERED B BB E5E
BARYE8,929,000 (ZZE=—F : A
R #60,437,0007T) AR HE S EWK
FIB N ER R B AR 20,924,000 T (=
T - —4&F: AR¥10,091,0007T) & & Bl
SHEE S EWEIE - B BEHNMIEE4 -

REETE & 5 WBRH A] W B 1B - R £R
EEZEIBEEERREBYEERER
HESRUKENEEERES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING 24. FEUHE 2 EII R RRIN
SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES

2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ TR AR¥ETT

Non-trade nature IFESE 170 3,565
Less: impairment losses under expected B HEEEEBEXIET

credit loss model 2B (EEIE (3) (70)
Total st 167 3,495
The non-trade amounts advance to certain non-controlling B THEARS TIHIERRRAOIEE S
shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and FOEAEERN 2B BWEEFEFHRR -

have no fixed terms of repayment.

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES 25. E¥ERMEATRIE

2022 2021
—E-—F —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBTT

Trade nature B51ME 299,486 168,330
Less: impairment losses under expected B EHEEEBERATH
credit loss model, net of reversal WEEE - MRER (244,574) (153,915)
Total #st 54,912 14,415
The following table shows the movements in the impairment TREVNFAREKR RN ERREZ S
losses under ECL for trade-related amounts due from fellow HERIEERNEREEEIBE TARE
subsidiaries that has been recognised during the year: EREE) :
RMB’'000
ARBT T
At 1 January 2021 R-_E-_—F—H—H _
Impairment losses recognised EERBEEE 153,915
At 31 December 2021 R-BE_—F+-H=+—H 153,915
Impairment losses recognised ERRREER 56,720
Reclassified from amounts due from BREW @A RIBEH DR
related parties 33,939
At 31 December 2022 RZBZ_F+-_H=+—H 244,574
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25.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES 25.

(Continued)

The Group generally grants a credit period of 60 days (2021:
60 days) for its provision of property management services and
commercial operational services to its fellow subsidiaries. The
following is an aging analysis of trade-related amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries presented based on date of demand
note:

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

FE M [ % B I 2 R R IR (40

AEERMERRMERRREMEEER
BREZELRBE -—RETOXR(ZF
“F60R)NEEH - AT /LS
ERM2INEKRFAXKEBARESHHE
FRIRE ARER D AT -

2022 2021

—E-CfF —E-—%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARBTTT

0 to 60 days 0E 60K 49,279 72,141
61 to 180 days 61E 180K 30,976 96,189
181 to 365 days 181 £365X 60,542 -
1 to 2 years 1825 158,689 -
299,486 168,330

During the prior year, the Group has made temporary
advances to the fellow subsidiaries, in nature, including but
not limited to, making payments on behalf of the fellow
subsidiaries to certain their vendors, and the fellow subsidiaries
have also made frequent lump sum repayments to the Group.
The amount outstanding during the year is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. In addition, the Group
has entered into agreements with China Aoyuan Group during
the year for which the non-trade amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries has been settled by offsetting arrangements with
the amounts due to fellow subsidiaries of RMB8,532,000 as at
31 December 2022 (2021: RMB307,404,000).

RBAEFE  AEERERMBAEEL
BERME 2R BEATRAREKE
A BARIMES THEMELRNEK &
RRMBARNMERMAEEELLE X
MER - FAZHAREERIBRELRMT
REBRIBBEREE - LN RAFE - K
SEEHEPHRBESBEF L HE  BLIE
BZRKRARANBARREER T ==
FH+-_A=+—HHENRBZRMBARNK
JHARKS,532,000c(ZE=-—F : AR
#5307,404,00070) MK SH L A E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES

26. WA RIA

2022 2021
—E-F T %
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Kiat AR¥T T AREEF T
Trade nature 25 HE (a) 62,883 87,160
Non-trade nature FEEFEE (b) 873 900
63,756 88,060
Less: impairment losses under expected B BEEEEEER
credit loss model, net of reversal 5T 2 BB
B - MR #ERE (58,296) (79,798)
Total et 5,460 8,262
Notes: B -
(a) The related parties are joint ventures and associates of China (a) At ATRRENSERERBE AT
Aoyuan.
(b) The related parties are joint ventures and associates of China (b) B ATREENSEhENBEN T -

Aoyuan. The non-trade amounts advance to the related parties
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The following table shows the movements in the impairment
losses under ECL for trade-related amounts due from related
parties that has been recognised during the year:

MBI NGEESRRAEER 28K
BEREE -

TREFINFEAREY AT E S EER
ERANEHREEERE TAREEES
& :

RMB’000
ARBEF T

At 1 January 2021 R-—ZE-——F—H—H =
Impairment losses recognised BERERREEE 79,798
At 31 December 2021 RZTBE-_—F+=-_A=1+—H 79,798
Impairment losses recognised ERRBESE 28,591
Impairment losses reversed BB EEE (11,765)
Reclassified to trade receivables and ENOEEE ZREIGRIE R EWRE R B A F 5RIE

amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (38,328)
At 31 December 2022 R-EBE-_—F+=-A=+—H 58,296

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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27.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES 26. FEIxBRBARIB (&)
(Continued)
The Group generally grants a credit period of 60 days (2021: AR E A E AR T IR E M E BT RS R
60 days) for its provision of property management services FELERGH—MRIETEOR(ZE—4:
and commercial operational services to its related parties. The OR)MEEH UTRRABEAHZ
following is an aging analysis of trade-related amounts due | FE Lk B B 75 B S AR A IR A AR 0 AT
from related parties presented based on date of demand note:
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TF ARETTT
0 to 60 days 0E 60X 10,170 12,262
61 to 180 days 61E 180K 11,936 24,523
181 to 365 days 181 365X 14,775 36,784
1 to 2 years 1Z2246F 19,385 13,591
2 to 3 years 2E34F 6,617 -
62,883 87,160
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK 27. ZRFBITER SRTERRHR

BALANCES AND CASH

Restricted bank deposits

As at 31 December 2022, the balances mainly represent
deposits owned by name of the Group of approximately
RMBS8.2 million (2021: RMB7.1 million), which can be used
by the Group upon the approval from the relevant owners
committee of resident communities, deposits reserved for
capital injection to an associate of approximately RMB50
million (2021: Nil), and deposits which can only be used for
repayment of interest of approximately RMB2 million (2021:
Nil). The remaining balances mainly represent deposits frozen
by the courts. As at 31 December 2021, the balance also
included deposits amounting to RMB3,000,000 (2022: Nil)
pledged for short term loan facilities granted by banks and
carrying interest at interest rate of 4.55% per annum.

Bank balances and cash
The bank balances carry interest at variable rate with an average

interest rate ranging from 0.25% to 0.4% (2021: 0.35%) per
annum at 31 December 2022.

®
RRFBITHER

R —F+_A=+—8 &#£H#FE
EUASEEEERENTROARES2
BET(ZE-_—F: ARB718ET)
ZEFINESERMBEEEEZE S
HERAIMHANEEFER  BRAEREZ
RETENBEROARESOAE L (ZF
——FE) RETAREEFNENTE
HOANRE2BEET (ZE_—F 1 &) -
BTEBRTIERIRRGEZER - R -
——F+-A=1+—HB #HTBIEAR
#3,000,000 L (ZE-—F : &) 2175 -
EFEBURGRITRENEHERRE -
WIRFF| R A455% 5t & °

BITERRES
RZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—H  F176%

BZEAMETE » FHEFENT025%
F04%(ZFE=—4F :035%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. BESRHEMBEMARIEA
As at 31 December
W+=BA=+-H
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—%F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

HiiE AR®TR ARBTT

Trade payables =) ANk 272,937 239,899
Other payables: L (FOA -
Receipts on behalf of residents (AEI =N (a) 163,856 131,023
Deposits received 2z e (b) 200,615 153,937
Accrued staff costs fEET B TR A 27,855 64,676
Accrued contribution to social insurance st &R RERE
and housing provident funds NESHK 14,835 12,750
Other tax payables H e T IR 30,091 9,417
Accrued expenses FEFTBASZ 38,169 36,429
Other payables H fth fE A 5/ IE (© 24,463 81,732
Total other payables E b E B 4A%E 499,884 489,964
Total trade and other payables B 5 M E b 5RIE
HER 772,821 729,863
Notes: Btat -
(a) The balances represented the receipts on behalf of community €) EHREATEFPWBMNFIE - ARGEE
residents to settle the utilities bills from utilities suppliers. IKEHEREHIKEIRE -
(b) The balances mainly represented utility deposits received from the (b) EHREZREMEEPREAPHEM AR
community residents and commercial tenants. EEERE -
(o) The balances mainly represented the funds received from property © %%Igﬁﬁﬂﬁ@ﬁ%@% RREAFEF
owners for common area repair and maintenance purpose. KEmES -

260  Aoyuan Hedlthy Life Group Company Limited RERE4FEBERA T
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 28. HHRHMEMKREZ)

The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranges REA - HEBETASENEESRNT
from 30 days to 90 days during the year. The following is an 30REOKR AT AREHREBHRER
aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice BEAHZ3|E FENFIERERE DT :

date at the end of each reporting period:

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2022 2021
—E-CfF T
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTTT

0 to 60 days 0E 60X 102,777 114,438
61 to 180 days 612 180K 65,515 46,647
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365K 29,797 24,981
1 to 2 years 1224 46,319 43,234
2 to 3 years 2F34F 24,183 9,765
Over 3 years 3FME 4,346 834

272,937 239,899
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

29.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The contract liabilities represented the advance from customers
for property management services and commercial operational
services. The payment terms vary and depend on the terms
of the Group’s property management services contracts and
commercial operational service contracts.

29.

BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE

aNAaR

BHBBEREBAYMEEERBEHEES
REHELBR - XMEREREBRFA
SENFEERGEHRAFTELREE
AR IE e

2022 2021

—E--F T

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET AREF T

Property management services Y E R R 189,924 226,946
Commercial operational services B LR 35,677 44,938
Total st 225,601 271,884

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB240,044,000. The following table sets out the revenue
recognised that was included in the contract liabilities balance
at the beginning of the year. There was no revenue recognised
during the year that related to performance obligations that
were satisfied in the prior year. The contract liabilities from
the market positioning and business tenant sourcing services
of commercial operational service contracts are recognised as
revenue following the achievement of certain occupancy rate
of the related shopping malls.

R_ZE-_—F—F—H AHEEBAR
#5240,044,0007T © TR ETI R FHE A
AHEBESBNERRYE - RER - I
EEREE L —FERNBEHE NI -
REEBEERBSONMIGEN KA BE
REEHNEEREEESLEEXER —T
IKFIERER B -

2022 2021

—E-C-F T %

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARET T

Property management services YEER R 226,946 182,973
Commercial operational services E B L RG 29,173 37,842
259,119 220,815

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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30.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The unsatisfied performance obligations related to the
provision of property management services and commercial
operational services at the end of each reporting period are as
follows:

Expected to be recognised within one year

FEHIN —F R

REeMBHREMRE
HE-_Z-_F+-A=1+—HIEFE
29. SHAaR/#E

RERSHRBEBERDEETERSE LA
EELRBORTHBEOEENT :

2022 2021
—E-CF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARET T
275,131 311,987

The following table sets out the contract liabilities related to
the following parties:

TRBINETINEDEENEHNRIE

2022 2021

—EC-CF —E—fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARET T

External customers INERE P 194,614 241,769
Fellow subsidiaries EESEING] 11,366 12,341
Related parties (Note) RaEs T (1 32) 8,588 6,539
Associates i /NG| 11,033 11,235
225,601 271,884

Note:  The related parties are joint ventures and associates of China

Aoyuan.

AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

At BB ATERENASCERBEAR -
30. MEFTIHE 2 FIIFFERR B RMIA

FEN B AR FFERBRKIARIFE S
g EEA 2ERREREE -
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For

S BEHRERME
the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE-_ZT-__—H+-A=+—RHIFE

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HBE&R
2022 2021
—E--F —T-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET ARETTT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEE
Within one year —F RN 3,318 4,101
Within a period of more than one year but 838 — FE BB M F 2 2/
not more than two years 2,907 3,538
Within a period of more than two years but 8 38 /i F 2 T8 i@ 1 F 2 B
not more than five years 2,304 11,012
Within a period of more than five years AFLA L2 BB 10,771 7,374
19,300 26,025
Less: o
Amount due for settlement with 12 months A+ =1 A NEIHREE ~ 218
shown under current liabilities FEREEE) (3,318) (4,101)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 7+ — 1 A 18 B Bi 45 & ~ 3018
shown under non-current liabilities (Bl EFERBERE) 15,982 21,924
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied HEEEEA 2 NEFHIREERFEN
to lease liabilities range from 5.38% to 8.94% (2021: from F538%%2894% (ZZE - —4F :3.87%
3.87% t0 8.94%). £ 8.94%) °
32. BONDS 32. ®R&E
The movement of corporate bonds is set out below: NEEFNEBFILT
RMB’000
ARET T
As at 1 January 2021 R-—ZE=-—%5—H—H 16,812
Interest expenses FIEFAX 347
Interest paid to bonds holders ERESFFHEARNE (859)
Settlement of bonds EES (16,300)
As at 31 December 2021 and 2022 R-B-—FR=-ZF-_-F+=-H=+—H -

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

33. BANK BORROWINGS MITER
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Unsecured bank loans: EIEFIRTER
Guaranteed by related parties FR BA B 5 R - 150,000
Guaranteed by third parties B8 =7 &R 2,000 2,000
Guaranteed by subsidiaries A BT B8 A Rl E R - 50,000
Secured bank loans: EEPRITER :
Pledged by deposits and guaranteed ATE S #3
by related parties (Note (a)) FR B8 B 75 AR (HT a2 (a)) - 30,000
Pledged by shares of subsidiaries and VAR R R E I
jointly guaranteed by subsidiaries and LGS e
related parties (Note (b)) ER (H5E b)) 136,988 154,564
138,988 386,564

The bank borrowings are denominated in RMB, carrying
at fixed interest rate ranging from 4.75% to 5.5% (2021:
ranging from 4.35% to 6.15%) per annum.

Notes:

(a) The bank loans as at 31 December 2021 were pledged by bank
deposits of RMB3,000,000 (Note 27).

(b) The bank loans are pledged by 80% equity interests of Easy Life
and 65% equity interests of Ningbo Hongjian, subsidiaries of the
Group.

During the prior year, in respect of bank loans with an
aggregate carrying amount of RMB154,564,000 as at 31
December 2021, the Group breached certain of the terms
of the bank loans, which are primarily related to financial
situation of an intermediate holding company. On discovery of
the breach, the directors of the Company informed the lender
and commenced a renegotiation of the terms of the loans with
the relevant bankers. Up to the date of approval for issuance
of the consolidated financial statements, the negotiations are
still in progress. During the year, the Group has continued to
repay the loans based on the repayment schedule as stipulated
in the relevant loan agreements. Since the lender has not
agreed to waive its right to demand immediate payment as
the end of the reporting period, the loan has been classified
as a current liability as at 31 December 2022. In any event,
should the lender call for immediate repayment of the loan,
the directors of the Company believe that adequate alternative
sources of finance are available to ensure that there is no
threat to the continuing operations of the Group.

RITERUARESE REAEHNES
FENFA475% E55% (ZFE-—F: NF
4.35% £ 6.15%) 5t 5. °

Hfit -

(a) R-TB-—F+-A=1+—HAZRITER
ThRR1T77 5K A R % 3,000,000 7T & 8 (Ff
F£27) °

(b) RITERDAAEBMBE AR L EE
80% M I BB TR 2 2 65% AR R EE 3 o

RE—FE mR-_ZTE-_—+=-A
—+—HAKRMEEA AR 154,564,000
THIRITERME - AEBEERRITER
ATHRR ZEBRARETEE —HPEER
DM KRR ERE BRENE  AD
RIEFEMERA - WHIREEHRITE
VBB TIER - BEBERMR A M
WERBEH KADEETFH RER K
SEEEENHBEER B ZEMSEERRE
KEEEN BHREFATARRAENEE
KRR BRI SR 7 B SRABER - 322
BN —_E_—_F+-_RA=1+—HBHEA
RBEE - NEMIBRT  WERAZEK
VEAEEER  ARREERASEHAES
TOMBRBERR  BRASENFE

RETEXIEE -
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For

the year ended 31 December 2022 #HBE-_Z_-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. B=*E
Details of movements of authorised and issued share capital of RRAGBLEEEBITRANEBFBEOT
the Company are as follows:
Number of
shares  Share capital
ROHE R 7
HK$'000
FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each B 0.01 BT 2 TR
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and R=-ZT-_—%F—H—H
31 December 2022 —_E-_—F+-_A=+—H8K
—E-—F#+-HA=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHBE:
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and R=_Z=—F—HF—H -
31 December 2022 —E-_—F+-_A=+—H8K
—E-—F#+-HA=+—H 726,250,000 7,263
2022 2021
—ECE B —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBF T
Shown in the consolidated statement of RERE B KRAT
financial position 6,207 6,207
The Company was incorporated and registered as an RARRZZE—AFTZAT=ARHE
exempted company in Cayman Islands on 13 December 2016 HEIMKIRELERERE AR AT
with an authorised share capital of HK$380,000 divided into % 7x 380,000 7% JT 53 4 38,000,000 % & A%
38,000,000 shares of nominal value of HK$0.01 each. HEO0.01 B ILHIR % °
Pursuant to the issue of shares and the capitalisation issue BREZZE-—NF_AZF+—ARKRER
approved by shareholders’ written resolution dated 22 REBEERPEZRODBETRERLEIT
February 2019, the authorised share capital of the Company AN B 8% FE AR 7 B3 380,000 78 TG N E
was increased from HK$380,000 to HK$100,000,000 divided 100,000,000 JT * % £ 10,000,000,000
into 10,000,000,000 shares by the increase of 9,962,000,000 B&B& 15 - 5 = A3 H09,962,000,000 % &
shares of HK$0.01 each. BEEI{E 0.01 B LM A% (D -
Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF



35.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 May 2019
(the “Adoption Date”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to selected eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from the Adoption

Date.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, share options were
granted on 30 March 2021. Details of specific categories of
options are as follows:

Option
type

RREEH

2021A

“EC-Fp

20218

“5--Fp

2021C

“5C-(C

Number of
share options
granted

g

BRESA

1,200,000

900,000

900,000

Date of grant

RAAA

30 March 2021

“%--%ZH=1H

30 March 2021

S e

30 March 2021

“3o-§ZAZtA

Vesting period

BRA

30 March 2021 to
31 December 2021
“8--%=H=fRZE

“E--Ft-H=1-A

30 March 2021 to
31 December 2022
“8--%zA=fRZE

“E__F+-A=1-H

30 March 2021 to
31 December 2023
“5--%#zf=fRZE

ik Jnlt 2l [ s

BHE—

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REeMBHREMRE
T _F+—A=+—HLEEE

35. LI SERZMR

B SRR A
ARG — AR 8 ([t a)) -

ZatBRBER -_ZE-AFRAA-+/N\HB

(TERA B ) BB HORE

RERW FEH

m%ﬁ%$%@¢ﬁaﬁM%ﬁié§%
ATREER - RIFRITHEHERER
Wlﬁﬂé%%ﬁﬁiﬁmiﬁﬂ

BE_T_—F+t-_A=1T—HLFE"

BREENR-_T=—

FZA=t—HKH -

B 2 BRI IBEYIAT ¢
Fair value
Exercise of option
Exercise period price at grant date
BRER
REA#
S R AYE
HKS HKS
BT B
1 January 2022 to 5.588 1.68
31 December 2023
“Z--f-f-R%
“E-CF+-R=1-H
1 January 2023 to 5.588 1.86
31 December 2024
“3-ZF-f-R%
ZECmE+ZR=1-H
1 January 2024 to 5588 197
31 December 2025
“3-mE-f-RE
ZECRETZA=T-R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 35.

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020, share options were
granted on 29 June 2020. Details of specific categories of
options are as follows:

Number of
Option share options
type granted  Date of grant Vesting period
&
BREER BRESE HHEH BB
2020A 3,600,000 29 June 2020 29 June 2020 to
31 December 2020
ZEI5EA ZECEENACTAR ZECEENACTARE
ZECEETR=1-H
20208 2,700,000 29 June 2020 29 June 2020 to
31 December 2021
“EC5F8 “ECEFRAZTAR ZEC iAﬂ TARE
ZE--5+ZA=1-H
2020C 2,700,000 29 June 2020 29 June 2020 to
31 December 2022
:g:gic —7 zi/\ﬂ “‘j‘LE —7 YE/\H “»nai
ZECCETZA=1-H

At 31 December 2022, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 3,000,000 shares (31 December 2021:
9,000,000 shares).

The share options are exercisable when the share price of the

Company is higher than certain price determined or to be
determined.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF

VAU RoT 10 FACE JE)
BAREMR D ()
BE—T-TF+-A=T-BLFE-

E%J&LTEE.EA_?’_zi/\H 'f‘j'LETXHj °
BAE 2 BRI BERINNT

Fair value
Exercise of option
Exercise period price at grant date
BRER
RILEHZ
T8 i3 ATE
HKS HK§
o AT
1 January 2021 to 8310 218
31 December 2022
“R--F-f-BE
ZEoCFTZAZT-H
1 January 2022 to 8310 241
31 December 2023
“T__f-f-R%
i St 2l [ =
1 January 2023 to 8310 217
31 December 2024
“%-=%-f-R%
ZBPMETZA=1-H

R-B-—F+-A=+—08 - Btz
HTEREENARETEZBRESBRN
A% 1D 8 B 4 3,000,000/% (T - —F+—
A=-+—H :9,000,0000%) °

BEREAANRARTRESRETLAS TE
EZETEREITE -



35.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 35. LERRBERZTRE)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) BEF R F BB RT B (2
The following table disclose movements of the Company’s TEEREEREERAFERBRAFE
share options held by the directors and employees during the RS ZAYNEI i g o
current and prior years:
Outstanding at Grant Forfeited Expired Outstanding at
1 January during during during 31 December
Option type 2022 the year the year the year 2022
R-|-—f
R-Z-=% +=A
—-A—H =+-H
BRERR AT ERRE FREN ERER TR
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
T4 T4 T4 T4 T4
(Note)
(B3E)
2020A —TZFA 2,400 - 1,200 - 1,200
20208 —Z-TFB 1,800 - (900) - 900
2020C “E-FEC 1,800 - (900) - 900
2021A “E-—FA 1,200 - (1,200) - -
20218 —E-—FB 900 - (900) - -
2021C —TE-—%C 900 - (900) - -
9,000 = (6,000) = 3,000
Exercisable at theend of ~ RERAATIE
the year 2,100
Weighted average MEFETEE
exercise price (HK$) (&) 7.40 = 6.95 = 8.31
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REMBHRERE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 35. LIRS ERZARE)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) BEXFEHBEEE (F
Outstanding at Grant Forfeited Expired  Outstanding at
1 January during during during 31 December
Option type 2021 the year the year the year 2021

RZB——

RZF=— +=A
—A—8 =+-A
BRSS! AT FRRH FRRK FREMm RATHE
‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000
H T T H H
2020A “E-TEA 2,400 = = - 2,400
20208 “T-TF8B 1,800 - - - 1,800
2020C “EEFC 1,800 = = = 1,800
2021A “E-—FA = 1,200 = - 1,200
20218 —E-—Fp = 900 = - 900
2021C —E-—&C = 900 = - 900
6,000 3,000 - - 9,000

Exercisable at theend of ~ MEKRAI(TE

the year 2,400
Weighted average IEFATEE
exercise price (HK$) (&) 8.31 5.59 = = 7.40
Note:  The share options forfeited during 2022 were due to the Bt REZBZZFRRCERETIER—RE
resignation of a director and an employee. ENE BT -
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35.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

REMBREME
BE-FT-—4+-A=t+—ALFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) LR BERZMAR (2
The fair values of the option granted were calculated using the EEBREZ ATEDER ZBEARRAG
Binomial model. The inputs into the model were as follows: Ho BB AZBENT :
2022A 2022B 2022C 2021A 2021B 2021C

“B--EA -PooFB —$o-HEC -E--FA “B--§B —Bo-fC
Grant date share price Rt HEERIAER HK$5.50 87 HK$5.50m  HKSS50T  HKS7.788 7  HKS7.787  HK$7.78/7T
Exercise price 3 HK$5.58878 7 HK$5.588 78 HKI5.588/E7T  HK$831ETL HKIB31ATL HK$8317ET
Expected life BHEH 275pearsE 375years® 475ears 25pears® 35pearsF 45pearsF
Expected volatility BHKR 55.67% 53.23% 50.95% 54.63% 50.97% 52.11%
Expected dividend yield ~ FEH3fR 5 & 237% 237% 237% 1.54% 1.54% 1.54%
Risk-free interestrate @A 0.29% 0.51% 0.73% 0.23% 0.22% 0.24%
The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair ﬁﬁ IRiER A FETER B RN G o
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in SAEBREATEMEANEE RERRTY
computing the fair value of the share options are based on the %ﬁ’\%%ﬂéﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬂmﬁﬂi%ﬁ STER °
external qualified valuers’ best estimate. Changes in variables @E&ﬁi%& """"" BRI BB EREN AT

and assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the
options.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB1,940,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB7,172,000)
in relation to share options granted by the Company with
corresponding increase in share option reserve. Upon the
forfeiture and expiry of the share options, an aggregate
amount of RMB6,073,000 was transferred from share option
reserve to retained earnings during the year (2021: Nil).

The number of share options granted that are expected to be
vested has been reduced to reflect the management’s best
estimate of forfeiture of options granted prior to completion
of vesting period and accordingly the share option expense
has been adjusted. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest.

EHRE

AERERERELE N REBEE_F
T+ A=+—BLFE XEE
MARBHEE CERERERAFAZIALEA
R#1,940,000c (ZEZ—F: ARK
7,172,0007C) ° REEARE S W & & mi%
BEAR6,073, ooofcaﬁﬁimﬁaﬁﬁﬂ&
BRESBRERERN(ZE—F &) -

ENREREBNC R OERERE - A
RREEBHERIBREESBHIRT
FXRTHOR U B S (AT - R B AR X
EERE - RIBEMR  AREETHEY
&K EBERESE b5t
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 36. RABKAHE
(a) Related party transactions (a) FBAXS
During the year, in addition to those as disclosed in RER - BRiFEHBRIERRES
the consolidated statement of financial position and MRS MM EEIN A&
respective notes to consolidated financial statements, EHEFABAI A TEARS ¢
the Group entered into the following significant
transactions with related parties as follows:
2022 2021
ot et 3 —E-—fF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Property management services MEEER%E
Fellow subsidiaries EEINIEMNE] 94,359 335,571
Related parties (Note (i) BT (MTaE () 8,666 72,663
An associate — @B & A A 6,197 360
Total st 109,222 408,594
Commercial operational services AEELERY
Fellow subsidiaries EEINIEVNE] 31,002 77,945
Related parties (Note a) BaEE 7 (Kiata) 5 272
An associate — & AT = 8,292
Total st 31,007 86,509
Sale of electrical appliances HEEE
Fellow subsidiaries EESL)=PNG! 3,836 13,917
Purchasing of commercial goods BEERREERE
and services
Related parties (Note a) RaEE T (K ata) = 2,379
Sale of commercial goods HERMm
Fellow subsidiaries EES =N 2,133 =
Expenses relating to short-term ERERASNEY
leases/lease expenses HEMX
Fellow subsidiaries EESEING] 4,685 5,078
Payment to supplier’s payable for A EREDAER
China Aoyuan EAREARK
Intermediate holding company (Note (i) & R B& R~ &) (F7 57 (i) = 496,065
Non-trade fund transfers duringthe FRFEZEZES
year (Note (iii)) B (K 7 (i)
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries AR ZENE QR BN RIE 357,471 471
Advance to fellow subsidiaries BT R R B AR 2 IR (357,244) (2,937,159)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE

36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a)

Related party transactions (Continued)

Notes:

(iii)

The related parties are joint ventures, associates and non-
controlling shareholders of China Aoyuan.

The amount represents amount paid on behalf of China
Aoyuan, an intermediate holding company, to a supplier
for a construction work.

During the year, the aggregate amount of non-trade
direct and indirect cash inflows and outflows of the
Group against China Aoyuan Group was approximately
RMBO0.36 billion (2021: RMB3.0 billion) and RMB0.36
billion (2021: RMB2.9 billion), respectively, which include
the fund transfers under the Fund Flow Matters as
mentioned in Note 46. The Group and China Aoyuan
Group mutually agreed to provide funds to the other as
general working capital upon request which were made
on an interest-free basis. All the advances provided by
the Group to China Aoyuan Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 were fully repaid by China
Aoyuan Group on or before 31 December 2022 and
2021, respectively.

Included in the above-mentioned non-trade direct and
indirect cash inflows and outflows for the prior year
were payments made by the Group on behalf of certain
fellow subsidiaries at approximately RMB347,501,000
and RMB148,564,000 on 14 December 2021 and 24
December 2021, respectively, to their vendor. The
director of such vendor, named Wu Pang Fei, is also the
common director of certain fellow subsidiaries, which
are controlled by Mr. Guo Zining, a director of the
Company, during the year ended 31 December 2021.
On 29 December 2021, a fellow subsidiary has repaid
RMB490,404,000 on behalf of China Aoyuan Group
back to the Group.

The Group is licensed by China Aoyuan to use the
trademark of “Aoyuan” for a nominal consideration
of RMB1 for the period commencing from the date
of the trademark license agreement to 31 December
2020, which shall be automatically renewed for a
further three years perpetually unless the agreement is
terminated conditionally.

As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowings amounting

to RMB 136,988,000 (2021:

RMB334,564,000) was

guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of China Aoyuan.

REeMBHREMRE
B+ -_A=+—HILEE

36. WHAHE

(a)

MBAXR (&)
Hitet :

0) AT ARTERENEENE
Bib N R R IEFE AR AR R. o

(ii) ZeBERKTERE (—HF
MERAR) B —REETRER
—RERHXAHNERE -

(iii) FRN - AEEHPERESEERD
3'51%3%ET%&FE%T%ﬁiJJ\L)\&}/\L
HREIBHNAAREI6ET
(ZZ2=—F: AR¥30ET) &
ARB36EBIT(ZE=Z—F: A
R¥291ETT) - HF B IEN E46
&S EREETHER SR -
AEBEAHNRESEERLRE
EHFERREESER —RE
BEES RTASKRRSEER
o AEBMREE_T-_—FK
—E-—F+ZHA=t+—HIL#F
ERTEEREERENRER
HEHRFBEBESER - -
FRZZZ—F+=ZA=+—H
ol 2 AT EEERE -

LA FECHEESEEKE
BERSRARFHBEREER
B F+AtHmAR=

T+ A-FTHARKRET
REWMBRARDAIMEEEEL
THIFRIEH A R ¥ 347,501,000 7T
N AR # 148,564,000 7T » B Bt
ERZ2EERBERAAETRR
MBARMERES HE-ZT
T—f+-_A=+—HItFEE
ZERZWBARHARATES

BEBLEERS -RN=ZT=—F
+=—A=-+hB —HBERKEB

ARERRTERESEERAE
B €38 AR ¥ 490,404,000 7T °

AEBZEZERBARE 1 LES
BREFAFEAREEEZ - HHﬁE
AEBESABEEERERES

EF+-_A=+—8" 5?\3'5%%%‘«
BIEERILE TRBBEHR=F -
R—E-_—_F+-_A=+—8" ﬁ

1T A R # 136,988,000 7T (=
——F: }\Eﬁ%3345640007t)aa
FRREEZETHBARER-
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e MEmERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 36. RABKAHE &)
(b) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities with b) HERHWMEBEAFMERAESERE
fellow subsidiaries BR/ERE
As at/for the year ended
31 December
R+=A=+—-8B/
BE+t-A=+—HLEE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T
Lease liabilities (note) WEBE W) 18,162 24,432
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBEMNF SR 1,741 2,149
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group Wit BE_ZE-_—F+-A=+—H
entered into a new lease agreement for the use of office IEFE  AEEER RN E A A
premises with the fellow subsidiaries for two years (2022: RERPAEMHE L —EHA
Nil). Except for short-term leases and low-value leases Bz REmE (22 %
in which the Group applied recognition exemption, the /) BRAKEEABRBEZH
Group has recognised an addition of right-of-use assets REHEREKEEBREN K&
and lease liabilities of RMB632,000 and RMB632,000, EREBE-_ZT-_—F+=A
respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2022: =t+—HIEFEDRIMEREIME
Nil). %A ERARK632,0007T &
HEBEAARK632,0007T (=
To_FE)
Operating lease payment to fellow subsidiaries MERMBARZMMOEEHER
represent rentals payable by the Group for its office HERNEBRERAZMERER
premises. Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed e FELHBAR—Z+FMA
for terms of one to ten years. AN He REEEEE -
(c) Compensation of key management personnel () EEEBARFHFH
The remuneration of key management personnel FTEEBAEBRFANFIAOT

during the year was as follows:

2022 2021

—_ZE— —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET R ARBTTT

Short-term employee benefits = E SR A 7,939 8,339
Share-based payments VAR 0 2 B 7 2 5K 1,940 7,172
9,879 15,511

The remuneration of key management personnel
is determined by reference to the performance of
individuals and market trend.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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38.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate
in a defined contribution retirement scheme administrated
by the local municipal government. These PRC subsidiaries
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage
of the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits
of the employees. The principal obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme. Contributions
to the scheme vest immediately and there is no forfeited
contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
for all qualified employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the scheme and the same amount
is matched by employees. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately and there is no forfeited contributions that
may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

The Group recognised the retirement benefit contributions of
RMB34,375,000 (2021: RMB42,004,000) for the year ended
31 December 2022.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

There was no acquisition of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

In early 2021, the Group acquired 100% equity interests
in Beijing Boan Group at a total consideration of
RMB87,000,000. The transaction has been accounted for
as business combinations using acquisition accounting. The
transaction has been accounted for as business combination
using acquisition accounting. Beijing Boan is engaged in the
provision of property management services. The directors of
the Company are of the view that the acquisition will enable
the Group to (a)further expand its business scale, management
portfolio and geographical coverage; and (b) further enhance
its market influence and competitiveness in the PRC, both of
which are in line with the Group’s business strategies.

37.

38.

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

iRt 8 FI 5T &

RIBEFERBEREIER  ARAHE
BB A A7 2 Bl |y 1t 05 T BT B BE ) E R
HFGRIRE B - ZFH BB AR T AF
BREEH LT TRFAREMNEEER D
LEtEZ SRR NER AEEN
BKENRERES - ARBERKEN G
gEAMNEERERARETEFELAAR
Ko HZFTEMEFNKRE  ~AREYL
E A AR EIRA RO E IR K -

AEBNSBEMEGERERRILAS
HREEE B EERAREEE
DHARKE FERIXTATEZEE - K
SEREBH AL 5% Mzt SR
& Bz H R SRR o Baxat S HR
BET 57 8 - AN SR E 30 & A R R ER A 1
B H) B8 A o

HE-_ T -_—_F+-_A=+—HIt#H
B AEERREREANEIARE
34,375,000t (ZTE=-—F : AR¥
42,004,0007¢) °

Wor B B 1B 22 B

REBE-_E-_—_F+_-_A=1+—BIFE
WEWEHE AR -

BE_E_—F+_-_A=1+—HL=EE

REZZBZ—F9] AEENBREBEARE
87,000,000 7T Y FE 4k 18 & &£ B 9 100%
Bt - ZER S FERAKREGTEARYIME
¥NeH LR BEHBREMESTER
%o ARREERAE  WHEEBSAEETR]
(QE—TEAEEBKHRE SEAE kit
HEZHE: Rb)E— P ENFREH
NMIEEENRBEF N MEHYEAEE
ZETEEBE—B -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs were insignificant and have been
recognised as an expense in the prior year and included in
the administrative expenses line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the
date of acquisition are as follows:

RSB AT (@)

BE_S_—F+_A=+—HLEE
‘435 )

(nE/

WK AT RE  ERE—FEHE
RAEFAX Yt AGABaEMEEK
BARHTHRAXEEA -

RO B ERFT YO A R AR A (R 2
FEMT :

RMB’000

ARET T

Property, plant and equipment M - BERZRE 4,471
Intangible assets EILEE 29,912
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H IR FRIA 53,475
Inventories FE 30
Bank balances and cash RITEBR RS 32,910
Trade and other payables B 5 NE M ESFRIA (71,099)
Tax payable FEAT IR (10,137)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIEBE (7,478)
Contract liabilities AHaE (1,843)
30,241

RMB’000

ARET T

Cash consideration paid BENReRE 87,000
Less: Recognised amounts of net assets acquired & : FT B FEEC RS HE (30,241)
Goodwill arising on acquisition RUEEFTE AR EE 56,759

The aggregate fair value of trade and other receivables at the
date of acquisition amounted to RMB53,475,000, which is
equal to their aggregate gross contractual amounts.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF

B REMEWGFENKEBRZ AFE
4a%8 5 AR 53 475,000 ¢ R E 2
EHRERE -

BEERWBE LW ERRA BRI -



38.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e M BEHRERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_A=+—HIEFE

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. WRMELTE @)

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Continued) BE_E"_—F+°-A=+—HLEE
Goodwill arose in the acquisition of the Beijing Boan Group HRWEEEESIERELSENANE
because the acquisition included the assembled workforce of BRRZEEEEH (ERKEBBEBETTE
the Beijing Boan Group and some potential contracts which AR B EENERE)  BUKEILRIE
do not meet the criteria for identifiable intangible assets as ZEBELERE Bt ZFF & THERY
at the date of acquisition. Accordingly, these benefits were Z2HRAER BRZENEIFEIH
not recognised separately from goodwill because they did not R I & E B RERIRLE ©

meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

RMB’000
ARBEF T
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: W E AR IR & m HFEE

Consideration paid in cash NReZMHRE (87,000)

Bank balances and cash acquired FREE ARITH SR RIS 32,910

(54,090)
Included in the loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 was HE-ZE - —F+-A=1+—HLFE
a profit of RMB 13,653,000 attributable to Beijing Boan Group. ZEBREILIREREEELENAR
Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 includes ¥ 13,653,000 - HLEZT=—F+=A
RMB88, 123,000 generated from Beijing Boan Group. =+t HILEFEZWABREILRELREE

EE M AR 88,123,000 7T ©

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2021, the WEEEEN S —F—HA—BxTK -
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 would A AREEREE—S - —F+=-A=+—
have been RMB1,941,747,000, and loss for the year ended 31 BIEFE 2 WAEEAREE1,941,747,000
December 2021 would have been RMB197,286,000. The pro T REEE - —F+-_A=+—H1t
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not FREZEEKRAK197,286,0007T °
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations HEERHEHRFR - WIERMWIKESFIE
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had RZFEZ—F—A—HZEK  AAE£EE
the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2021, nor is it BRERSHKRARSEES N5 ETE

intended to be a projection of future results. BIARIRELE -
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e M BERERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZT-_—_F+_HA=+—HILFE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEREAF
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_E__F1+°-A=+—HLEFHE
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company REBEZE_ZE-__F+-_A=+—HILFE -
disposed of its entire equity interests in Aoyuan Smart Space ARAEEERRESEZME (BM) AL
(Guangzhou) Assembly Technology Company Limited and B ERAR KRB EEZRKMTRE(BEIM)
Aoyue Smart Decoration Engineering (Guangzhou) Company BRAGz2HRE BREBARE 1T -

Limited, subsidiaries of the Company, at an aggregate
consideration of RMB1.

RMB'000
AR¥T
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which Xk XE4HIENEENEBEIH
control was lost
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KRR 53
Inventories "E 677
Trade and other receivables B 5 & A b FE U GRIA 3,563
Bank balances and cash RITHEHREIRS 278
Trade and other payables B 5 & E b FE T 5K IE (1,777)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries of the Group 1 A & B 7] KB B A &) 70E (3,052)
Net liabilities disposed of HESEFR (258)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries o 5 B B N B W 2
Cash consideration ReENRE -
Less: Net liabilities disposed of BT EBEFERE (258)
258
Net cash outflow arising from disposal of HEMBAREELEZESREFE
subsidiaries
Cash consideration received BUEeRE -
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of W TR ERITEKR KRR (278)
(278)

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39.

For the year ended 31 December 2021

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
disposed of its subsidiaries, Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Care
Service Company Limited and Guangzhou Xinaoda Cloud
Technology Co., Limited. Analysis of assets and liabilities over

which control was lost:

e MR RME

HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

HEMRELR (@)

BE_C_—F+_A=+—HILEE

—Ft-A=+—HBLHFE-
ARARHEEMNBAREMNRERERZ
REBAR AR RBEMNTEEEREAERRA
A RERHIENEEMBED

RMB'000
ARETIT
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB RERE 7,968
Inventories & 3,475
Trade and other receivables B 5 NE M EIFRIAE 9,517
Bank balances and cash RITHESR MR ® 3,110
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMENFKIEA (8,539)
Contract liabilities EHaE (518)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries of the Group & (< 7N & B [F] & M B A &) 5018 (24,934)
Net liabilities disposed of FrEEaEFaE (9,921)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBATER
Cash consideration HeRE 1,410
Debt waive-offs Bi5H % (17,694)
Less: Net liabilities disposed of B TS AaEFEE 9,921
(6,363)
Net cash outflow arising from disposal of HEMBARELEZESREFE
subsidiaries
Cash consideration received BUIRERE 1,410
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of B T SRITEBEIRS (3,110)
(1,700)
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40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 40. METBDFMELXAEHHIE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRAMAEEREETHNELEBENE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash B ARG RERSED gEEHAA
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those EEMNBBERBSRECHARKRASRE
for which cash flows were, or the future cash flow will be, BRASBMNGEMBERRANDBEREE
classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of cash flows EEAERERENEE -

from financing activities.

Non-cash changes

*REED
At Non-trade Non-cash At
1January  Financing Finance cost ~ amounts  Dividend  financing 31 December
2022 cashflows of theyear  offsetting declared  activities 2022
R
A ZBIZE
nt- et 2 mE rEE g 3k t=A

-A-R ReRE  MBHF FE5EE CERKE  HMEE®  =t-8
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARMTR AR®TR AR®TR ARBTR ARET:R

(Note)

(&)
Bank borrowings BT 386,564  (260,980) 13,404 - - - 138,988
Amounts due to non- ERMERRHEER
controlling shareholders REFE
of subsidiaries 10,445 (3,385) - - - - 7,060
Lease liabilities HERR 26,025 (7,733) 1,876 - - (868) 19,300

423,034 (272,098) 15,280 - - (868) 165,348
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 40.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

MESTBREEARHBIE )

Non-cash changes

1548
At Non-trade Non-cash At
TJanuary  Financing  Finance costs amounts Dividend financing 31 December
2021 cashflows  oftheyear  offsetting declared activities 2021
R It b2
k- S ma rER iz #he +-A
—A—B HeRE UBRA #B5e¥ CEERRE  RBEEY =1-H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETT ARETR
Bonds &% 16,812 (17,159) 347 - - - -
Bank borrowings RITER 471,500 (114,143) 29,207 - - - 386564
Amounts due to fellow ERRZNEAR
subsidiaries HE 100,108 - - (100,108) - - -
Amounts due to related FE R 7 50R
parties 3,707 - - (3,707) - - -
Amounts due to non- MM BARERR
controlling shareholders REFE
of subsidiaries 10,224 221 - - - - 10,445
Amounts due to joint ERAE0EHE
ventures 5,067 (5,067) - - - - -
Lease labilities HEak 30,208 (7,098) 2,283 - - 632 26,025
Dividend payable RS - (101,675 - - 101,675 = =
637,626 (244,921) 31,837 (103,815) 101,675 632 423,034
Note:  The amounts represent lease liabilities arising from new leases Met . ZEFRERFIILHEEECHEAR

entered to amounting to RMB2,085,000 (2021: RMB632,000) and
early termination of leases amounting to RMB2,953,000 (2021:
Nil).

AR%2,08500 T (ZTE=—F: AR
#632,0000) RRERIEHEARK
2,953,000 7T (Z T = —4 : &) -
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For

41.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the current year, the Group entered into the following
significant non-cash transactions:

(a) The Company had entered into an agreement with
China Aoyuan for which the non-trade amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries had been settled by offsetting
arrangements with the non-trade amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries at the amount of RMB8,532,000
(2021: RMB307,404,000).

(b) During the year, the Group entered into new lease
agreements for the use of office premises. On the
lease commencement and modification, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of RMB2,085,000 (2021: RMB632,000) and
RMB2,085,000 (2021: RMB632,000), respectively.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF

41.

EXFRERH

RAFE  AEEFTVUATERFRER
5

@ ARARBEPBERBEGL—HH
FOUNEBAEBETHNENRR
MEBARFZEZHBERBEBARKE
8,532,000 L (T -—F: AR
307,404,000 7t) HEE fE N [F R B
NAEIRIEE SHEBEHIE

by RAEAFE AEERERABRIE
XA ERZE REERBR
1B - AEEDRIERFEREE
EREEAEAARM2,085000
T (ZZE=—F: AR#632,0007T)
¥ AR # 2,085,000 (ZF = —
F: AR¥632,0007T) °
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 42. MEBLTFE
At the end of the reporting period, the Company’s principal RMEHR  ARARZ2EEHEEREEN
direct and indirect subsidiaries are as follows: BABMAT :
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid capital/ Equity interest
Name of company establishment registered capital attributable to the Group Principal Activities Legal form
AL/ BRARAR
kA RuY R /RER AEER{ERE IBEH Pl
At 31 December
R+=B=t-H
2022 2021
—E-CE “E--F
Directly helc:
ERHE
RERFEEERARAR British Virgin Isands US$1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Lirited liabiity company
Aoyuan Healthy Living Holding Limited ("BVI") 1,000%7 RARR EREFAF
([RREBZE
gl
Indlrectly helo:
FERE
RERREERERRAR Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liabilty company
Aoyuan Healthy Life Investment Limited & 18T RERR BREMfAF
REREEE(BR) ARAT Hong Kong HK$ 1 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liabiity company
Aoyuan Healthy Life (Hong Kong) Limited &7 18T REARR EREfAF
RERELE (BN £85RAH PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liabilty company
Aoyuan Healthy Life (Guangzhou) Group # not fully paid up RERR EREMfAF
Company Limited* AR50,000,0007C
(HRE5)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. B TEFERE @)
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid capital/ Equity interest
Name of company establishment registered capital attributable to the Group Principal Activities
AL/ BRIRAR
ARER R B4&/EhEs AREELRE IBRR
At 31 December
Rt=A=+-8
2022 2021
CE-CE “E--F
Indlrectly held: (Continuec)
FRHE - (8)
REERZEERE (BN EEERA  PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of property
Aoyuan Intelligent Life Services (Guangzhow) ~ F AR 10,000,000 management services
Group Company Limited* RENEEERE
ERBANEEERBERAA PRC RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Provision of property
Chongaing Sui'ao Property Management mE AR3,0000007 management services
Senvices Company Limited RENEEERHE
REBINEREARAR PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of property
Anhui Hanlin Property Services # ARH1,000,00070 management services
Company Limited* RENZEERE
AIETNEEERRAT PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of property
Shenzhen Huazhong Property Management AR%1,000,00070 management services
Company Limited* RENEEERE
ENREEXBEERARAT PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of commercial
Guangzhou Aoyuan Commercial Operation ~ #El not fully paid up operational services
Management Company Limited* ARE10,0000007 REBHZELRE
(HAS)

Legal form

AREA

Limited liability company
EREMfAT

Limited liability company
EREAAA

Limited liability company
EREAAR

Limited liability company
EREMfAT

Limited liability company
EREAAH



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. B2 TFEE @)
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid capital/ Equity interest
Name of company establishment registered capital attributable to the Group Principal Activities Legal form
AL/ BRARAR
kA R R /RER FEEELRE IBEH AR
At 31 December
RT=B=t-H
2022 2021
ZE-CE “E--%

Indliecty held: (Continued)

FERE: (8)

A ARRSREEEARAR PRC RMBS,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of commercial  Limited liabiity company

Liuyang Aoyuan Square Commercial G not yet paid up operational senices  BREFAE
Management Company Limited* ARH5,0000007C REBHEELRE

(AEE)

ERRRRAEXERARDA PRC RMBS5,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of commercial  Limited liabiity company

Chongging Aoyuan Square Commercia # not yet paid up operational senices  BREEAT
Management Company Limited* ARE5,000,0007 REBZELRE

(RAEE)

HERERHEERARAT PRC RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of commercial  Limited liabiity company

Zhuhai Aoyuan Square Commercial HE not yet paid up operational senvices  BREFLT
Management Company Limited* ARE5,0000007 REBZELRE

(RAEE)

M RERERBARAT PRC RMBS,000,000 100% 100%  Enhanced property semvices ~ Limited liabiity company
Shenzhen Aoja Netwark Technology HE not yet paid up andoperationof the AR EEAT
Company Limite* ARH5,000,0007 mobile application

(HRE8) EEVES Oy
BERR

EARAREMEEERRAA PRC RMBS,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of commercial  Limited liabiity company

Ningdu Aoyuan Commercial Operation HE not yet paid up operational senvices  HRETAT
Management Company Limited* AR5,0000007 REBFELRE

(HRE8)
ENREFETSNERBERAT PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of property Limited liabilty company
Guangzhou Aoyuan Yilian Peninsula Property AR1,000,0007 management senvices  BREEA]
Senvices Company Limited* RENEEERE
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of company

ARER

Indlrectly held: (Continuec)
FERE: (B)
ENERRABXEEERAT
Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan Commercial
Management Company Limited*

BNRRREEREMEIERAR
Guangzhou Aoyuan Healthy Life Gardening
Company Limited*

ENRESIBXA2EBERAR
Guangzhou Aoyuan Xianyu Commercial
Management Company Limited*

BRARRREXRASEARAA
Guangdong Aoyuan Health Industry
Investment Group Company Limited*

ERAEEHRARAT
Guangdong Aozhiyun Technology
Company Limited*

RARERXEARERARAT
Tianjin Aoyuan Yuemeiju Commercial
Management Company Limited*

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
AL/
RS

PRC
Gl

PRC
R

==

hE

PRC
Gl

PRC
R

PRC
R

T

=

Issued and
fully paid capital/
registered capital

BRIRAR
B4&/EhEs

RMB5,000,000

not yet paid up
ARH5,0000007C
(HA&E)

RMB1,000,000
AK#1,0000007C

RMB1,000,000

not yet paid up
ARE 1,000,000
(HRE8)

U5$100,000,000
not yet paid up
100,000,000% 7
(WA

RMB10,000,000
ARE10,0000007T

RMB1,000,000

not yet paid up
ARE1,000,0007C
(HA&E)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

42.

Ft-_A=+—HILFE

Equity interest

attributable to the Group

rREELRE

At 31 December

Rt=B=1-H
2022 2021
ZE-CE %
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF

Principal Activities

IRER

Provision of commercial
operational services

RHEAFELRE

Provision of cleaning
and gardening services

RUREREZRE

Provision of commercial
operational services

REHFEERS

Investment holding

RERR

Provision of design
management and
consulting services

RURHERRFARE

Provision of decoration
and furniture services

RUKEREMRYE

Legal form

AREA

Limited liability company
EREMfAT

Limited fiability company
EREfAT

Limited liability company
EREMAR

Limited liability company
EREMAR

Limited liability company
EREARA

Limited liability company
EREMfAF



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZZT-_—_F+_A=+—HIEFE

42.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

42. B2 TFEE @)

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid capital/ Equity interest
Name of company establishment registered capital attributable to the Group Principal Activities Legal form
AL/ BRARAR
ARER R R /RER FEEELRE IEXH AR
At 31 December
RT=B=t-H
2022 2021
ZE-CE “E--%
Indlrectly held: (Continuec)
FERE: (8)
RERENERERERAA PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of health Limited liabilty company
Tianjin Aoyuan Yuejankang Management not yet paid up management services  AREEA
Company Limited* AR1,0000007C RERFEERE
(AEE)
RERGFBXERERAA PRC RMBS5,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of decoration  Limited liabiity company
Tianjin Aoyuejia Commercial Management not yet paid up and fumiture senices ~ BREEA
Company Limited* ARE5,000,0007 REEEREM RS
(RAEE)
ENBEEER A PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of design Limited liabiity company
Guangzhou Chaowan Advertising Company not yet paid up management and ERRELH
Limited* AEH1,000,00070 consulting services
(RA&E) Rt B R R
RERANEFBFEEARAA PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of decoration  Limited liabiity company
Tianjin Aoyuan Yuemeijia Business il AR®1,000,0007 and fumiture senvices  BRETAE
Management Co., Ltd* RESEREARS
ERANIEZDARAT PRC RMBS,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of engineering  Limited liabiity company
Guangdong Aoke Engineering Consulting ARH5,000,0007C consulting EREAAF
Co,, Ltd* RETEZN
ERMEAEXRARRAA PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liabiity company
Guangdong Xinyuerong Industril lE AR 200,000,007 RERR EREfAT

Investment Co., Ltd*
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. MEBLTFE 2
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid capital/ Equity interest
Name of company establishment registered capital attributable to the Group Principal Activities
AL/ BRIRAR
ARER R B4&/EhEs AREELRE IBRR
At 31 December
Rt=A=+-8
2022 2021
CE-CE “E--F
Indlrectly held: (Continuec)
FRHE - (8)
BNREENERARRAR PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Guangzhou Ao Intelligent Property # AR100,0000007 RARR
Investment Co., Ltd*
SHE PRC RMB54,360,000 80% 80%  Provision of property
Easy Life* hE AR 54,360,000 0 management services
RUNZERRY
ERERNEREARAR PRC RVB20,000,000 65% 65%  Provision of property
Ningbo Hongjian Management Services # not fuly paid up management services
Co, Ltg* ARH20,0000007T RENKEERE
(HA&E)
FRER PRC RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of property
Beijing Boan* # not fully paid up management services
ARH5,000,0007 RENKEERE
(HA&E)
EEXRARLA BV HK$1 70% 70%  Investment holding
Masterwin Developments Limited* RERATHE 1A RARR
BNMEBELEREBRAA PRC RMBA00,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Guangzhou Xinmei Intelligent Life mE not fully paid up RERR
Senice Co,, Lid.* A& %400,000,0007T
(HAEE)
& The English name is for identification purpose only. & T A TBERER

Legal form

AREA

Limited liability company
EREMfAF

Limited liability company
EREAAA

Limited liability company
EREMAR

Limited liability company
EREMfAF

Limited liability company
EREMfAF

Limited liability company
EREAAA
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

All of the above companies established in the PRC are
principally operated in the PRC. The companies incorporated
in Hong Kong and BVI are principally operated in Hong Kong.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of directors of the Company, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Other than the bonds issued by Easy Life as set out in Note 32
which were fully repaid in 2021, in which the Group has no
interest, no other subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of
these subsidiaries operate in PRC. The principal activities of
these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

42.

Principal place of

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

LER RN EES L NE )

PE LN B2 AR EERPEE
Bo-NBAERRBEARESEMKIL
NRAEATBNELLE -

ERINTARBEER/EIEFEALH
REREBEZARBINBAR - ARAE
ERA REEMHBARZFERER
REZERBNITE -

BRI AE e EE (AEBY EES
2)BOTZEF(BER-_Z-—FF8E
B)INRB__FR-_F_—F+=
A=+—8 BB RRMEETEM

RBEHR  NARHAHAEEMN S I
FBEAZEMHBAR - ZEAEOM
BRARRTELEER ZEMBLRFZ
TRABMANT

Principal activities businesses Number of subsidiaries
FEED TEEXEME MEABHE
2022 2021
Investment holding BVI 2 2
REER REERARES
Hong Kong 4 4
i
PRC 2 2
i
Provision of property management services PRC 36 36
REMEETE RS B
Provision of commercial operational services PRC 10 9
REBEEL RS a3
Others PRC 8 9
H A, h
62 62
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMBHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

43.

44.

HE—

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bonds, bank
borrowings, non-trade amounts due to fellow subsidiaries,
related parties and non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries,
net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital, reserves
and retained profits.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
periodically and considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital and balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends and
new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or the
redemption of existing debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

43.

44.

T _Ft_A=+t—HILFE

BXERER

AEFBERHEAABRAEEETER
#HT%—*H‘EZ‘“M R BB ECER LR

R RIRR G R ZEAD R - AEBERK
u,\iﬁf’E%T\“ s

AEENEARBREES  RITER
ENRZRMEAR - B RMEB AR
ZRBRREB S HIR (HERERREE
BY) RARBHRE ARERAN - BERK
R [ RRE A

AEEEEEER RIS EARBLERE
$&ZK&/\D£EE‘J£$*EE§E’JJ—LM I 38
BRI S R AT RIA KRB ITH B X
BOREEHFEHEEBEANRRE -

&I R

a. Categories of financial instruments a. ST R

2022 2021
=== —EZ—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETTT

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEA AT EN R EE 1,582,020 1,711,198
Equity instrument at FVTPL BEAFEFABEOERTA 65,108 70,523

Equity instrument at FVOC| BAFEFAEMEEmEKED

=T HE 137,321 106,160

Financial liabilities cRBE
Amortised cost e F [N 524,307 832,495

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s financial instruments include equity
instrument at FVTPL, equity instrument of FVTOCI,
trade and other receivables, amounts due from
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries and related parties, restricted bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, bonds, bank borrowings, amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries, related parties and non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The management of the Group monitors and manages
the financial risks relating to the operations of the
Group through internal risk assessment which analyses
exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. The
risks included market risk (including interest rate risk,
foreign currency risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below and remained unchanged from
prior year. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances. The management considered
that interest rate risk of bank balances is insignificant
and accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to bank borrowings (see Note 33 for details)
and lease liabilities (see Note 31 for details). The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.
The management will review the borrowing in fixed
rate and ensure it is within reasonable range.

e MR RME

HE_Z_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

44. &I H &)

b.

emEARETEEHRRBE

AEENERTABERAFER
ABENERTE  BAFEAA
hEERaNERTA BHKE
fib FE UL TRIE - FE U B 1t B IR AR
IRER ~ [R) 22 B 8 /2 ) K Bt 75 RKIR
XRBIRITIER RITEHRERE
B hEMBENFIR &5 R1T
tER  BNRRNEB AR - BETT
Ko [ I8 2 R SEHR AR BBCR TR IR © %
ERTEANFBERESMERE -

AN EE IR BB AR R AT S D
RBEERAN  RERKER
HEAKEZEEHENSRER - %
SRk eRmEER (BFEFNEE
B~ SMEE LB K Ho A B A8 A )
EERRERBES AR - G
{a] RAK A% 35 R B Y R B T3
WEREFERFIE EEEBEEN
ERZTER - IAREREE B
HWREUE & WE it

-
T = m

R RTTAASRIIRTTI SN XN E -
AEEHBRRERENRER &
EERARITEBRONREREM -
R I R 2 5 GREE DT

AEEINE R A BRITER (I8
RME33) hEEAE FEEH
A3 AFEMNERER AEH
B BARIE R R R & B R4
NMEBHEL BEZEERERN
KEE - BEBRIREENERE
BRESIBREENAIEEHE -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

& B35 3R RO EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

44.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group’s transactions were mainly conducted in
RMB, the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries, and its major receivables and payables
are denominated in RMB. The Group is subject to
foreign exchange rate risk arising from the assets
which are denominated in currency other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entity. The
majority of the Group’s foreign currency transactions
and balances are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
The management closely monitors foreign currency
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary
assets are mainly bank balances at the end of each
reporting period and the carrying amounts are as
follows:

&E

BT

Assets
Hong Kong dollars

BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE

4. &@MI R (&)

b.

i

EHERETEARREE (F)

TS EkE (E)
SMNER R

AEBHRZHEEZUARRE RHEHK
BARMNINEEREARBHET B
EERUGALEANREAUAR
BolE AEEHEARHEEEE
BUBEEBUINNEBHENEE
EEMINERR - AEBENHATED
SMNER 5 R ARG AETTETE B
BEREEZYEEIMNERR - WHRE
FERZEHPERNINERR -

REMEHARATEBNINEGEE
BEEFZRIFTTHES  HEME
|y

2022 2021
—s=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
558,448 491,746

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Financial risk management objectives and b.

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% decrease in RMB against the foreign currency
denominated bank balances. The sensitivity rates used
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. A positive
number below indicates an increase/decrease in post-
tax profit/loss for the year where RMB weakens 5%
against the relevant currency. For a 5% strengthening
of RMB against the relevant currency, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit/
loss, the balances below would be negative.

Hong Kong dollars BT
Profit/(loss) for the year FRE A (EE)

REeMBHREMRE
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

44. &€MI R (#)

CRBRREEARRYE (F)

45 m B (&)
SME RS (&)
BRE DT

TREFFMAE B AR W IMNEFT
BIRITHER TE5%NWGRE - AT
RAZBREREEBHEXRNE
BEEZSMENTE - THERK
RMAFERBEETN,BEREA
B ¥ AR R SN I R TR 5% PR 1E
mROEE o AR LB
BHEXRE FF5%  AIBRBIRE
i/ BEEZISERERRNTE
TS REE -

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

23,315 20,530
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44,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investments in an equity instrument measured at
FVTPL and FVOCI. The Group currently does not have a
hedging policy in relation to the price risk. The Group
has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the
need arise.

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting
date. If the prices of the respective equity instrument
had been 5% higher/lower, (i) the post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2022 would increase/
decrease by RMB2,442,000 and the post-tax loss for
the year ended 31 December 2021 would decrease/
increase by RMB2,645,000 and as a result of the
changes in fair value of equity instrument at FVTPL;
and (ii) the other comprehensive income for the year
end of each reporting period would increase/decrease
by RMB6,866,000 (2021: increase/decrease by
RMB5,308,000) as a result of the changes in fair value
of equity instrument at FVTOCI.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables, amounts due from
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries and related parties, and bank balances.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF

BE_T_—_H+_A=1+—HILHFE

44. &I R &)

b.

eHERETEEARREE (Z)

TS EkE (E)
B 1t (B 15 R R

AEBABERZAFEFTABRE
MR FEFARBEEREE
HY R s T B 1M [ R AR (B AR LR o
RE B B A A B (B AR AL 1O B
HBE - AEEDEEERERE
=ERAR ERERTEEHEEY
MRz E R o

BRRE DN IR ER RS B IS
MRS ERRRMEE - WiAEER
R T EMEREM B 5% ()
BE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—HL
FEMREZNEREZAFETA
BEMESTEATESSH ML M
SR AR ¥2,442,000 T R B =
2%+ _-_A=+—HILEE
ZHBFBEEBEERLD EIMARE
2,645,0007C : B ()& MEHRE 2
FREMZEBEGFRIZAFER
AEE2AKERNES T AQNFE
BE)MIG 0, AREE 6,866,000
T(ZEZ—F i/ RPAR
# 5,308,000 7T) ©

EEAR

EERREAEEHFHERES
é%ﬁ%?‘%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%l?iﬁﬁ%%
BERRRK AEEERNEER
TEKRBE S REMBKIEA - JF
Lol =PNGIE 220§ R T Y 1)
N A N BREE T SRIR R IRIT RS B8R © AR
Eljfﬁ¢~ir4ﬁ_€:fﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁziﬁfﬂ1§
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers
by reference to past default experience and current
past due exposure of the debtor, and an analysis of
the debtor’s current financial position. The Group has
applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.

The ECL on trade receivables are assessed individually
for corporate customers with significant balances and/
or collectively for large number of small customers with
common risk characteristics using a provision matrix
based on aging of outstanding balances. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group provided
RMB12,802,000 (2021: RMB6,520,000) and reversed
RMB6,358,000 (2021: RMB2,587,000) loss allowance
on ECL based on individually assessed corporate
customers and provided RMB11,484,000 (2021:
RMB54,473,000) and reversed RMB2,992,000 (2021:
RMB5,499,000) loss allowance on ECL based on the
provision matrix.

Large number of small customers are assessed
collectively by using provision matrix based on
historical credit loss experience adjusted by forward-
looking estimates. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by the management of the Group to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
Individual customers with significant balances are
assessed individually for the credit risk based on their
probability of default and exposure of default. Forward-
looking information is used by the management of the
Group to assess both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.
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44,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk with the corporate
customers, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts.

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and related parties

The amounts due from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and related parties
are mostly trade in nature with details set out in Notes
24, 25 and 26, respectively. The ECL on these balances
are assessed individually based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information (for
example, the current and forecasted economic growth
rates in the PRC, which reflect the general economic
conditions of the real estate industry in which its fellow
subsidiaries and related parties operate) that is available
without undue cost or effort.

The management of the Group has closely monitored
these balances and made periodic individual assessment
on recoverability. In determining the recoverability of
these balances, the Group considers any change in the
credit quality of these balances from the date credit
was initially granted up to the end of the year and
impairment is considered for those balances which
are past due as these entities are the subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates of China Aoyuan.
Based on the loss rates of amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries and related parties estimated individually,
the management of the Group considers the reversal
of loss allowance or loss allowance for amounts due
from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries and related parties are reversal of
loss allowance of RMB67,000 (2021: loss allowance
of RMB70,000), loss allowance of RMB56,720,000
(2021: RMB153,915,000) and loss allowance of
RMB16,826,000 (2021: RMB79,798,000), respectively.
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and related parties
(Continued)

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk
on amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and related
parties as at 31 December 2022.

Other receivables

In determining the ECL for other receivables that are
assessed individually, the management of the Group
based on their internal credit rating of these other
debtors, and for those that are assessed collectively, the
management of the Group based on market default
rate of individuals as reference, and are adjusted for
forward-looking macroeconomic data that is available
without undue cost or effect.

The ECL on other receivables (excluding payments
on behalf of residents) are assessed individually for
corporate counterparty or individuals with significant
balances and other receivables (including payments
on behalf of residents which have common risk
characteristics) are assessed collectively. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group provided
loss allowance of RMB742,000 (2021: reversal of
loss allowance RMB686,000) on ECL for collectively
assessed.

Restricted bank deposit and bank balances

The management of the Group considers the Group’s
restricted bank deposits and bank balances that are
mostly deposited with state-owned banks or financial
institutions with high credit rating to be low credit risk
financial assets. The directors of the Company consider
that the probability of default is negligible on the basis
of high-credit-rating issuers during the year.
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44,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group's
management monitors and maintains a level of
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

All of the Group’s liabilities are carried at amounts not
materially different from their contractual undiscounted
cash flows as all the financial liabilities are repayable on
demand or within three months at the end of the year
other than bonds, bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

The following table details the Group’s contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities and lease liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay.

Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.
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44.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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4. &@MIR (&)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

b. CHEBEREZERREE (&)

Liquidity risk (Continued) HEELERE (&)
Liquidity tables THEE LXK

Weighted Total

average  On demand un-

Interest orlessthan 61180 181-365 Over discounted  Carrying
rate  60days days days  1-2years  2-5years  Syears cashflows  amount
mE REXIHR FERES

FaRE 0% 6IREWRK BIRENSK 1Z2F  2E5E  SENL  REEE  BEE

RMB000  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RWB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR
At 31 December 2022 RZRZZE+2A=1-A
Trade and other payables BAREMENE - B - - - - - BB 37859
Amounts due tononontollng ~ ERHEAT
shareolders of subsidaries FERRRA - 7,060 - - = = = 7,060 7,060
Bank borowings Bes 54 133988 - - - - - 1898 138988
524301 - - - - - SM3T 54307
Lease libiltes E8E 859 250 238 2130 417 34 12,095 2133 19,300
At 31 December 2021 REZ-F12A=1-A
Trade and other payables EAREMENTE - B - - - - - B B
Amounts due tonon-ontollng~ ERHEAT
shareholders of subsidiares FERREE -0 - - - - SN 1048
Bank borowings Birfest 518 386564 - - - - - GSEL 386564
832,49 - - - - - B4 824%
Lease libiltes iE8E 885 415 2674 3022 5258 14467 1949 3,785 26005
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44,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Except for equity instrument at FVTPL and equity
instrument at FVTOCI as further detailed below, the
directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair
values.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial asset and financial liability
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s)
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to
which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

- Level 1 fair value measurements are quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities;

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

- Level 3 fair value measurements are those
derived from valuation techniques that include
inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
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& M35 3R RO EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(Continued)
Financial assets Fair values as at Fair value hierarchy
TREE WATABHATE AYEER
20 201
ZE-CE “E--F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR  ARETR
Equity instrument at FVTPL 65,108 70523 Level 3
BAVETARRIERTA £=8
Equtty instrument at FVTOCI 13731 106,160 Level2
RATET AR 2 AN R
BRIA

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the
current and prior year, and there were no transfers into
or out of Level 3 during both years.

4. &@MIR (&)

b. CHERERERRBEE (&)

MmBEZERE ()

ST AZ N FERE (F)

Valuation techniques and key inputsSensitivity

FERHRTERALE §8E

Discounted cash flows
Future cash flows are estimated
based on:
AURRLNE
ARRERETRE
TR :
1.Growth rate An increase in the growth rate would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement of the equity
instrument, and vice versa.
1 E5% BREENEETERTIA ATEFEEM
R
2. Net profit margin An increase in the net profit margin would resut in an
increase in the fair value measurement of the equity
instrument, and vice versa.
2 FhE FHEENRSRRAT A AVEFEEN
R
3. Discount rate Anincrease in the discount rate would result in a
decrease in the fair value measurement of the equity
instrument, and vice versa.
ER: 2 BREENEERRRT A ATEHEH)
R
Market comparable approach Not applicable
[ AR

Fair value is measured with reference to
the share issuance price of recent
transaction.

ATENBETER 0
POEDIERES

RAFRBEFE  F—RRFE-MR2
HYEEEARMEFELEBEALZ =R
KEE=MEH -
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 4. &@MI R (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. CHEAKRETEEEERBE (&)
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) nEBELRERE (E)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements FE=RANFEFEZHE
The following table presents the reconciliation of Level TREJINRFEANCRE EF =R
3 measurements of financial assets throughout the ERHER -
year:
Equity
instrument
at FVTPL
BAFES
AB#EZ
E®ITH
RMB’'000
ARBT T
At 1 January 2021 R-_E-_—F—AF—H 68,553
Change in fair value NEEED) 1,970
At 31 December 2021 R-ZB_—F+-H=1+—H 70,523
Change in fair value N EE (5,415)
At 31 December 2022 RZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H 65,108
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__F+_HA=+—HIFE

45.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 45. FAFRMBEIKAE

THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—=-= T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREEFIT
Non-current asset FIRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—RENEB AR Z&RE 546,412 546,412
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TE T /I8 - 104
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E /e 499,706 273,813
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 326,241 245,842
825,947 519,759
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables A E S FRIE 1,156 1,746
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAST Y B 2 B 5RIE 882,733 638,854
883,889 640,600
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (57,942) (120,841)
Net assets BEEFE 488,470 425,571
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital N 6,207 6,207
Reserves i 482,263 419,364
Total equity HEmiaRa 488,470 425,571
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45.

304

BE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 45. HAGFMERAEF &)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves EAF IR ER
Retained
profits/
Share Share option (accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total
REBEAN/
& E BRERE (Rt EB) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—F—Hf—H 559,856 7,036 (39,560) 527,332
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZERX
expense for the year ek - - (13,465) (13,465)
Recognition of equity-settled share ~ HEFRLARR 145 & MARR (D
based payments (Note 35) RER AR
(F33£35) - 7,172 = 7,172
Dividend declared (Note 11) REEIK (1) (101,675) - - (101,675)
At 31 December 2021 i ——
+-RA=+—"H 458,181 14,208 (53,025) 419,364
Profit and total comprehensive F RN REERA
income for the year k) - = 60,959 60,959
Recognition of equity-settled share ~ HEFRIARR 1B 45 & DARR (5
based payments (Note 35) BERE 2R (HFE35) = 1,940 = 1,940
Transfer upon forfeiture of TR M B AR e
share options - (6,073) 6,073 -
At 31 December 2022 R-B__%
+-R=+—"H 458,181 10,075 14,007 482,263
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In addition to those as disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has the following
significant events after the reporting period.

Suspension of trading

On 25 March 2022, the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) received a letter from Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), the then auditor of the Company,
requesting for additional information on certain fund flows
with related parties of the Group (the “Fund Flow Matters”).

Partly due to the Fund Flow Matters and partly due to the
preventive and control measures implemented in the PRC in
connection with the COVID-19 pandemic which disrupted the
progress of sorting and collecting financial data, the audit of
the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
delayed and the Company was unable to publish the annual
results announcement of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 on or before 31 March 2022 in accordance
with Rule 13.49(1) of the Listing Rules and despatch the 2021
annual report to its shareholders on or before 30 April 2022 in
accordance with Rule 13.46(2)(a) of the Listing Rules.

Trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
was suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 1 April 2022 as
required under Rule 13.50 of the Listing Rules.

On 30 March 2022, the Board resolved to establish an
independent investigation committee (the “Independent
Investigation Committee”), comprising all three
independent non-executive Directors, to undertake the
investigations to assess the Fund Flows Matters. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 30 March 2022 for
details.
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46.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

Suspension of trading (Continued)

On 13 April 2022, the Audit Committee received from
Deloitte another letter, which set out certain allegations made
anonymously against the Group (the “Allegations”). Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 2 June
2022 for details of the Allegations.

On 27 April 2022, the Independent Investigation Committee
engaged an independent and competent forensic accounting
firm (the “Investigation Firm”) to conduct independent
investigations into the Fund Flows Matters and the Allegations.

On 27 June 2022, the Company received a letter from the
Stock Exchange setting out the resumption guidance (the
“Resumption Guidance”) for the resumption of trading in
the shares of the Company. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 30 June 2022 for details.

On 3 October 2022, the Investigation Firm finalised and issued
two investigation reports in relation to the Fund Flows Matters
and the Allegations. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 3 October 2022 for details.

As instructed by the Independent Investigation Committee, the
Investigation Firm conducted an independent supplemental
investigation into the Fund Flow Matters regarding the non-
trade fund inflow(s) and outflow(s) between the Group and
China Aoyuan Group during the financial year of 2021,
in order to address any concerns that the Stock Exchange
may have. The Investigation Firm issued the supplemental
investigation report on 31 March 2023. For key findings of the
Investigation Firm and other relevant information, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 31 March 2023.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

Suspension of trading (Continued)

In response to the deficiencies in the Group's corporate
governance and internal control system identified during
the independent investigations and in order to prevent the
reoccurrence of similar incidents in the future, the Group
engaged an internal control consultant (the “IC Consultant”)
to assess the internal controls of the Group in two phases.
In the first phase, the IC Consultant identified findings on
deficiencies in the internal control system of the Group and
provided improvement suggestions for the management’s
consideration and action. In the second phase, the IC
Consultant reviewed and reported on the status of the
remedial actions taken by the management in response to the
key findings. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 13 January 2023.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the trade in the Company’s shares remained
suspended, pending compliance with the other requirements
set out in the Resumption Guidance.
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Financial Summary

MIEEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—ZT-__—F+_A=+—HIFE
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS e¥Rs
Year ended 31 December
BZt+-A=+-HLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—2-N\& ZZ-NF —T-FTF —T-_—-F CZB-ZE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETx
Revenue N 618,835 900,800 1,415,585 1,941,747 1,629,751
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBLAIER/ (B58) 108,495 218,613 326,315 (174,286) 199,598
Income tax expense et Y (30,240) (55,503) (72,598) (23,000) (36,434)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEF/ (BB 78,255 163,110 253,717 (197,286) 163,164
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND REEE HERAR
LIABILITIES
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=+-H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
“2-N\& ZE-NEF —T-%TF —T-_—-F CZBZZfE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR%ETxR
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 29,962 352,155 602,012 547,084 553,976
Current assets MEEE 473,084 1,034,190 2,050,706 1,746,162 1,667,050
Total assets BEE 503,046 1,386,345 2,652,718 2293246 2,221,026
Equity and liabilities BERAE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 757 13,912 45,897 46,913 37,681
Current liabilities REaE 375,998 526,117 1,526,855 1,450,240 1,190,987
Equity attributable to owners of AARHEE ANELER
the Company 125,675 845,068 1,027,216 747,315 931,475
Non-controlling interests RS 616 1,248 52,750 48,778 60,883
Total equity and liabilities wESRAE 503,046 1,386,345 2,652,718 2,293,246 2,221,026

Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited RE®RRELZEBEHERADF
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